IMPROVING OUTCOMES FOR CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

MODULATION OF TUMOR IMMUNOGENICITY TO IMPROVE OUT-COMES FOR CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

By NADER EL-SAYES, B.Sc., M.Sc.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University © Copyright by Nader El-Sayes, November 2021

McMaster University DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (2021) Hamilton, Ontario (Biochemistry & Biomedical Science)

TITLE: Modulation of Tumor Immunogenicity to Improve Outcomes for Cancer Immunotherapy

AUTHOR: Nader El-Sayes, B.Sc. (University of Ottawa), M.Sc. (University of Ottawa)

SUPERVISOR: Professor K. Mossman

NUMBER OF PAGES: xx, 179

Lay Abstract

Cancer is the leading cause of death in Canada and one of the leading causes of death worldwide. Conventional cancer therapies such as chemotherapy often include severe side effects that can decrease the quality of life of patients undergoing treatment. Immunotherapy is designed to harness the host immune response and enhance its ability to seek out and kill cancer cells. Immunotherapy has gained traction in the past decade due to its improved safety and efficacy over conventional cancer therapies. However, there is room for improvement as most patients fail to respond to immunotherapy. The work described in this dissertation involves the development of therapeutic combination platforms that are designed to improve upon immunotherapy outcomes. Murine tumor models were used to develop a better understanding of biological processes associated with therapeutic efficacy. These findings can be used for the development of therapeutic strategies that can further improve the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy.

Abstract

Cancer immunotherapy has demonstrated immense promise in the past decade. Immune checkpoint therapy has shown unprecedented responses in many cancers; however most patients fail to respond to checkpoint therapy. This highlights the need to develop a better understanding of factors in the tumor microenvironment that can influence therapeutic outcomes.

In this body of work, we have utilized oncolytic viruses (OVs) to enhance immunogenicity in the tumor and study the cellular mechanisms that enable a therapeutic response. We utilize a combination of OVs and low dose chemotherapy to further sensitize murine models of mismatch repair-deficient colorectal cancer to checkpoint therapy. Using a Clariom S transcriptome assay we found that the combination induced gene signatures associated with the recruitment and activation of myeloid subsets. When we assessed tumor infiltrates, we found that the combination induced the chemoattraction of several myeloid subsets, including type I conventional DCs (cDC1s) which are known for their role in antigen presentation. Using Batf3^{-/-} mice, we demonstrated that the therapeutic efficacy of our combination platform was dependent on the presence of cDC1s.

In this dissertation, we also studied the role of OV-induced type I IFN (IFN-I) in enabling or suppressing antitumor immunity. We found that OVs induced the upregulation of PD-L1 in an IFN-I-dependent manner in cancer cells and circulating immune cells. Inhibition of IFN-I signaling using an anti-IFNAR monoclonal antibody partially prevented OV-induced upregulation of PD-L1. Furthermore, the combination of OV and IFNAR blockade enhanced the effector functions of tumor-specific T cells and led to better tumor control compared to OV monotherapy.

Altogether, these findings demonstrate that OVs can be an effective agent for enhancing immunogenicity in the tumor and promoting the infiltration of inflammatory myeloid subsets. By combining OVs with checkpoint or IFNAR inhibitors, we prevent the onset of immunosuppression and enable a favorable therapeutic response.

Acknowledgments

First, I would like to thank Dr. Karen Mossman for her mentorship and guidance throughout my PhD. You have given me the opportunity to learn and develop as a researcher in a highly positive research environment. Your trainee-focused style of mentorship fosters the curiosity and ambition of your trainees, which is reflected by their outstanding track records across various fields and industries.

I would like to thank my supervisory committee members, Dr. Yonghong Wan and Dr. Jonathan Bramson for your guidance. You frequently encouraged me to collaborate with others within the institute and to use innovative approaches to address current gaps in the field.

I would like to thank all the members of the Mossman lab, who always maintained a friendly and enthusiastic environment. Lab colleagues can make or break a graduate student experience, and I was very fortunate to have joined a lab in which my colleagues interact with the utmost integrity and respect. I would like to thank Dr. Sam Workenhe, Dr. Arinjay Banergee and Dr. Alyssa Vito for their own style of mentorship. Not only have you helped me with long scientific discussions and career advice, but you have also led by example through your high levels of ambition, motivation, and productivity. I would also like to thank the Wan lab for their very frequent collaboration and for teaching me many immunology assays that I was unfamiliar with. In particular, I would like to thank Dr. Scott Walsh, who has guided me through both of my research projects and emphasized collaboration to answer critical gaps in the field. You have also led by example and have always maintained high levels of curiosity and motivation for research. Finally, I would like to thank my family. Thank you to my parents, Ahmad and Iman, who have given me the opportunity (and encouraged me!) to pursue higher education. Your own ambitions and experiences have taught me to continue learning and applying myself. Thank you to my sister, Jenin, and my brother-in-law, Ala, for supporting me and listening to me complain about the many struggles of grad school. You have always managed to lift my spirits and I am very lucky to have you by my side.

Table of Contents

Lay Abstract	iii
Abstract	iv
Acknowledgments	vi
Table of Contents	viii
List of Figures	xii
List of Tables	xiv
List of Abbreviations	XV
Declaration of Academic Achievement	xix
Chapter 1 : Introduction	1
1.1 Cancer	1
1.2 Hallmarks of Cancer	2
1.3 Chemotherapy	
1.4 Immunosurveillance and Immunoediting	5
1.5 Immunotherapy	7
1.6 Tumor Antigen Presentation	9
1.7 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors	
1.8 Tumor Microenvironment	
1.9 Type I IFN Pathway	14
1.9.1 Pathogen Recognition Receptors	
1.9.2 IFNα/β Production	
1.9.3 IFNα/β Signaling	
1.9.4 Type I IFNs in Cancer Immunology	
1.10 Oncolytic Viruses	
1.10.1 Oncolytic HSV	
	viii P a g e

1.10.2 Oncolytic VSV	24
1.11 Resistance to Immunotherapy	25
1.12 Rationale and Hypothesis	27
References	30
Chapter 2 : Tumor Heterogeneity: A Great Barrier in the Age of Cancer Immunotherapy	55
Preface	55
Simple Summary	57
Abstract	57
2.1 Introduction	58
2.2 Factors Contributing to Tumor Heterogeneity	62
2.3. Acquired Resistance and Antigen Escape	65
2.4. Strategies for Identifying Tumor Heterogeneity	69
2.5. Emerging Strategies to Overcome Tumor Heterogeneity	72
2.6. Conclusions and future perspectives	77
References	80
Chapter 3 : Combination of low-dose chemotherapy and oncolytic virotherapy sensitize MC38 tumors to immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy in a cDC1-	94
ucpenuant manner.	

	Preface	. 94
	Abstract	. 95
	3.1 Introduction	. 96
	3.2 Results	. 98
	3.2.1 Combination of low-dose mitomycin C and oncolytic HSV-1 sensitize colon	l
	adenocarcinoma tumors to ICI therapy	. 98
	3.2.2 Mito + oHSV + ICI induces tumor infiltration of T cells and is dependent on	ιT
	cells for tumor control	101
	3.2.3 Mito + oHSV combination induces transcriptome signature associated with	
	myeloid cell recruitment and activation	103
	3.2.4 Mito + oHSV induces tumor infiltration of cDC1 subsets and is dependent of	n
	Batf3	108
	3.3 Discussion	111
	3.4 Material and Methods	114
	3.5 Supplementary	116
	References	122
C	hapter 4 : IFNAR blockade synergizes with oncolytic virotherapy to prevent vir	'us-
m	Preface	131 131
	Abstract	133
	4.1 Introduction	133
	4.2 Results	135
	4.2.1 Virus-mediated PD-L1 upregulation corresponds with IFN-I production	135

4.2.2 Virus-induced PD-L1 cell surface expression is dependent on IFN-I signaling
4.2.3 Oncolytic VSV-induced PD-L1 upregulation in murine tumors is partially
dependent on type I IFN signaling142
4.2.4 Oncolytic VSV induces PD-L1 upregulation in circulating leukocytes 145
4.2.5 IFNAR blockade potentiates activation of antitumor CD8 ⁺ T cells and prevents
upregulation of exhaustion markers148
4.2.6 IFNAR blockade synergizes with oncolytic VSV to improve therapeutic
outcomes in murine melanoma model151
4.3 Discussion
4.4 Materials and Methods 157
4.5 Supplementary Figures
References 167
Chapter 5 : Conclusion and Future Directions 175
5.1 Combination of low-dose chemotherapy and oncolytic virotherapy sensitizes MC38
tumors to immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy in a cDC1-dependant manner 175
5.2 IFNAR blockade synergizes with oncolytic virotherapy to prevent virus-mediated
PD-L1 expression and promote antitumor T cell activity
5.3 Study limitations
5.4 Future directions
5.5. Concluding remarks

List of Figures

FIGURE 1.1. HALLMARKS OF CANCER
FIGURE 1.2. THE THREE STAGES OF CANCER IMMUNOEDITING
FIGURE 1.3. PD-1/PD-L1 AXIS AS A TARGET FOR MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY THERAPY 13
FIGURE 1.4. TYPE I IFN PRODUCTION AND SIGNALING
FIGURE 1.5. OV MULTIMODAL MECHANISM OF ACTION
FIGURE 2.1. CLONAL EVOLUTION AND DEVELOPMENT OF TUMOR HETEROGENEITY
FIGURE 2.2. FORMS OF TUMOR HETEROGENEITY THAT CAN OCCUR BETWEEN PATIENTS AND
IN INDIVIDUAL PATIENTS
FIGURE 2.3. SELECTIVE PRESSURE FROM ANTITUMOR T-CELLS DRIVES RESURGENCE OF
ANTIGEN-NEGATIVE CLONES
FIGURE 3.1. IMMUNE CHECKPOINT INHIBITOR THERAPY EXHIBITS MODERATE RESPONSE IN
MC38 TUMORS
FIGURE 3.2. COMBINATION OF MITOMYCIN AND OHSV SENSITIZE MC38 TUMORS TO ICI
THERAPY
FIGURE 3.3. Efficacy of mito $+$ oHSV $+$ ICI combination is dependent on CD8 ⁺ and
CD4 ⁺ T cells
FIGURE 3.4. MITO $+ $ oHSV $+ $ ICI induces RNA transcriptomes associated with
RECRUITMENT AND ACTIVATION OF MYELOID SUBSETS
FIGURE 3.5. MITO $+$ OHSV $+$ ICI promotes tumor infiltration of cDC1s 111
FIGURE 4.1. VIRUS-INDUCED EXPRESSION OF PD-L1 CORRELATES WITH TYPE I IFN
PRODUCTION

FIGURE 4.3. VIRUS-INDUCED PD-L1 EXPRESSION IS DEPENDENT ON TYPE I IFN SIGNALING
FIGURE 4.4. IFNAR BLOCKADE REDUCES VIRUS-INDUCED PD-L1 EXPRESSION IN THE
TUMOR
FIGURE 4.5. BLOCKING IFNAR SIGNALING ALTERS VIRUS-MEDIATED PD-L1 EXPRESSION
ON CIRCULATING LEUKOCYTES
FIGURE 4.6. IFNAR BLOCKADE PROMOTES TUMOR-SPECIFIC CD8 T CELL ACTIVATION AND
THE GENERATION OF $T_{\rm EM}$ CELLS WHILE MAINTAINING LOWER EXPRESSION OF EXHAUSTION
MARKERS
FIGURE 4.7. IFNAR BLOCKADE SYNERGIZES WITH ONCOLYTIC VSV TO IMPROVE
THERAPEUTIC OUTCOMES IN TUMOR-BEARING MICE

List of Tables

TABLE 2.1 THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES TO COMBAT TUMOR HETEROGENEITY
TABLE 3.1. DIFFERENTIALLY EXPRESSED GENES ASSOCIATED WITH MYELOID SUBSET
RECRUITMENT AND ACTIVATION

List of Abbreviations

ACT	Adoptive cell transfer
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AP-1	Activator protein 1
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
BATF3	Basic Leucine Zipper ATF-Like Transcription Factor 3
CAD	Canadian dollar
CAF	Cancer associated fibroblast
CCL	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand
cDC1	Conventional DC type 1
cDC2	Conventional DC type 2
CD-X	Cluster of differentiation - X (X being a number)
СМ	Central memory
CRC	Colerectal cancer
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated molecule-4
DAI	DNA-dependent activator of IFN-regulatory factors
DAMP	Danger-associated molecular pattern
DC	Dendritic cell
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's media
dMMR	Mismatch repair-deficient
DN	Double negative
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EM	Effector memory
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GFP	Green flourescent protein

HSV	Herpes simplex virus
i.d.	Intradermal
i.p.	Intraperitoneal
i.t.	Intratumor
i.v.	Intravenous
ICB	Immune checkpoint blockade
ICD	Immunogenic cell death
ICI	Immune checkpoint inhibitors
ICP0	Infected cell protein 0
ICS	Intracellular cytokine staining
IE	Immediate early
IFIT1	Interferon-Induced Protein With Tetratricopeptide Repeats 1
IFN	Interferon
IFNAR	IFN- α/β receptor
IFN-I	Type I interferon
IFNα	Interferon alpha
IFNβ	Interferon beta
IFNγ	Interferon gamma
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IL-X	Interleukin X (X being a number)
IPS-1	IFN promoter stimulator 1
IRF1	Interferon regulatory factor 1
IRF3	IFN regulatory factor 3
IRF7	IFN regulatory factor 7
ISG	Interferon-stimulated gene
JAK1	Janus kinase 1
JNK	c-jun N-terminal kinase
KO	knockout

LCMV	Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinases
MDA-5	Melanoma differentiation-associate gene 5
MDSC	Myeloid-derived suppressor cell
MFI	Mean flourescence intensity
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MHC I	MHC class I
MHC II	MHC class II
mito	Mitomycin-C
moDC	Monocytic dendritic cell
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88
ΝΓκΒ	Nuclear factor kappa–light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NK	Natural killer
oHSV-1	Oncolytic HSV-1
OV	Oncolytic virus
oVSV	Oncolytic VSV
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononucelar cell
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD-1	Programmed death-1
PD-L1	Programmed death-ligand 1
PFU	Plaque forming unit
Poly I:C	Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid
PRR	Pathogen recognition receptor
RAG-2	Recombination activating gene 2

RIG-I	Retinoic acid-inducible protein I
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RT-PCR	Real-time PCR
s.c.	Subcutaneous
STAT1	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 1
TAA	Tumor associated antigen
TAM	Tumor-associated macrophage
TCIR	T cell inhibitory receptors
TCR	T cell receptor
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor beta
TIM-3	T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3
TK	Thymidine kinase
TLR3	Toll-like receptor 3
TME	Tumor microenvironment
Treg	Regulatory T cell
T-Vec	Talimogene laherparepvec
TYK2	Tyrosine kinase 2
VacV	Vaccinia virus
VSV	Vesicular stomatitis virus
WT	Wild-type
YFP	Yellow flourescent protein

Declaration of Academic Achievement

The literature review in **Chapter 2** titled "Tumor heterogeneity: a great barrier in the age of cancer immunotherapy" was published on February 15th, 2021. The manuscript was conceived by me and cowritten with Dr. Alyssa Vito. The review describes mechanisms of acquired resistance that may prevent response to immunotherapy. In particular, the review investigates the role of tumor heterogeneity in driving acquired resistance and antigen loss. Additionally, we discuss methods being developed to characterize tumor heterogeneity and to overcome tumor heterogeneity to maintain durable responses to therapy.

The manuscript in **Chapter 3** titled "Combination of low-dose chemotherapy and oncolytic virotherapy sensitize MC38 tumors to immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy in a cDC1-dependant manner" was submitted to the *International Journal of Molecular Medicine* and is currently under review. I conceived the project along with Dr. Karen Mossman. Dr. Alyssa Vito assisted with several animal and flow cytometry experiments and with extracting RNA for the Clariom assay, Omar Salem assisted with some flow cytometry, Dr. Sam Workenhe assisted with the experimental design and execution of some animal experiment. Dr. Yonghong Wan and Dr. Karen Mossman provided scientific guidance, access to facilities, and funding. The Clariom S assay was performed by the Genetic and Molecular Epidemiology Laboratory at the David Braley Research Institute. The remainder of the experiments were designed and executed by me.

The manuscript in **Chapter 4** titled "IFNAR blockade synergizes with oncolytic virotherapy to prevent virus-mediated PD-L1 expression and promote antitumor T cell activity" was submitted to *molecular therapy – oncolytics* and is currently under review. I

conceived the project along with Dr. Scott Walsh and Dr. Karen Mossman. Dr. Scott Walsh also aided with the design and execution of some animal and flow cytometry experiments. Dr. Alyssa Vito aided with some animal experiments and with harvesting tumors for immunohistochemistry (IHC). Amir Reihani scanned the IHC slides and prepared the IHC images for publication. Kjetil Ask provided the facilities for IHC imaging. Dr. Yonghong Wan and Dr. Karen Mossman provided scientific guidance, access to facilities, and funding. IHC was performed at the McMaster Immunology Research Centre Histology Core. The remainder of the experiments were designed and executed by me.

The thesis was written by me and edited by Dr. Karen Mossman.

Chapter 1 : Introduction

1.1 Cancer

Cancer is currently the leading cause of death in Canada, and one quarter of Canadians are predicted to die from Cancer [1]. In addition, cancer poses an increasing risk of straining the health care system as half of Canadians are expected to develop cancer within their lifetime [1]. This burden will increase each year as the population continues to age [2]. Cancer is also accompanied by significant financial burden; the cost of cancer care in Canada was 7.5 billion CAD in 2012, which rose from 2.9 billion CAD in 2005 [3]. Expanding our understanding of cancer biology is crucial for the development of novel therapeutic platforms that can reduce the physical and financial burdens associated with cancer.

Cancer is an entire category of diseases that is characterized by the uncontrolled proliferation of cells that form a tumor. Given time, cancerous tumors can spread throughout the body via blood vessels and the lymphatic system to create secondary tumor growths known as metastases. Metastatic tumors can interfere with vital body functions and are the primary cause of death for cancer patients. Cancer can develop as a result of genetic mutations to genes that control cell growth and division. These mutations can be acquired in a several ways including exposure to carcinogens, radiation, or viral infections [4,5]. Furthermore, mutations in genes involved with cell division and DNA repair can impair these functions and create new mutations that further promote mutagenesis. This cascade of acquired mutations results in rapid evolution of cancerous cells as they continue to acquire mutations that change many of their biological properties. Rapid evolution of cancer cells is often responsible of acquired resistance to many forms of cancer therapy, a topic that will be expanded on in **Chapter 2**. Despite this, there are a handful fundamental properties that are highly conserved amongst cancerous tumors.

1.2 Hallmarks of Cancer

There are several biological properties that collectively contribute to malignant growth. These properties were effectively summarized by Douglas Hanahan and Robert A Weinberg in the year 2000 and collectively termed the "hallmarks of cancer" [6], with additional properties added in 2011 [7]. The hallmark properties include limitless replicative potential, self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to growth inhibitory signals, evasion of apoptosis, sustained angiogenesis, immune evasion, and tissue invasion and metastasis (Figure 1.1). These properties can emerge as a result of tumorigenesis while simultaneously promoting tumor growth. On the other hand, these properties can also serve to differentiate cancer from healthy cells, and so are often exploited when developing cancer therapies. In this regard, understanding the hallmarks of cancer is crucial for the development of cancer therapies. Indeed, these hallmark properties serve as the foundation for the development of conventional cancer therapies such as chemotherapy, and novel therapies including immunotherapy and oncolytic virus therapy.



Figure 1.1. Hallmarks of cancer. Schematic was made on Biorender.com.

1.3 Chemotherapy

Chemotherapy coupled with surgical resection of the tumor mass is currently the most common treatment for cancer patients. Chemotherapeutic drugs are small molecules that exploit properties that are prevalent in cancer cells to selectively damage their cellular functions. Chemotherapy was developed as a consequence of chemical weapons research during World War II. While chemical warfare was not used on the battlefield, an accidental spill of mustard gas on troops in Italy led to observations of bone marrow and lymph node depletions in exposed troops [8]. Upon observing the effects of mustard gas on rapidly dividing immune cells, researchers hypothesized that similar compounds might be effective against rapidly diving cancer cells. This led to the development of nitrogen mustards as the first chemotherapy and paved the way for the development of an entire class of chemotherapy known as alkylating agents. Alkylating agents capitalize on rapid DNA replication of cancer cells by cross-linking to the DNA during cell division causing cell death and apoptosis [9]. The success of alkylating agents led to the development of other classes of chemotherapy that were designed to capitalize on other properties prevalent in cancer. For example, antimetabolites exploit their enhanced metabolism [10], and microtubule inhibitors exploit their hyperactive cell cycle and division [11]. Moreover, different classes of chemotherapy were eventually combined to treat resistant tumors and prevent the onset of acquired resistance to a single class of chemotherapy [12]. Chemotherapy has been highly successful in treating many types of cancers, which is why it is the conventional choice for cancer therapy today. However, there is much room for improvement regarding efficacy and safety for patients. While chemotherapy exploits properties that are more prevalent in cancer cells, these properties are still crucial biological functions in normal cells. Furthermore, normal cells vary in their biological functions which can reduce specificity of chemotherapy even further. For example, neutropenia is a common side effect of chemotherapy due to the toxicity of chemotherapy on rapidly dividing neutrophils [13]. The low specificity of chemotherapy for cancer cells can cause numerous and severe side effects, including nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, leu-kopenia and even sterility [14]. Therefore, it is imperative that novel therapeutic strategies are developed to improve upon antitumor efficacy while reducing the severity of side effects. The development of new classes of cancer therapy does not need to entirely replace chemotherapy. Instead, combinations of therapies can be developed to prevent the onset of acquired resistance while reducing the severity of side effects from a single class of cancer therapy.

1.4 Immunosurveillance and Immunoediting

Since the early 1900s, scientists have theorized that the host immune system could identify and control tumor growth [15]. This concept became known as immunosurveillance but was difficult to prove for several decades. In 1989, however, Boon *et. al.* demonstrated that CD8⁺ T cell tolerance to self-peptides can be broken because of acquired mutations in cancer cells that render the peptides immunogenic [16]. These mutated peptides, termed neoantigens, occasionally have high affinity to major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules. Neoantigens with high affinity to MHC class I can break self-tolerance of CD8⁺ T cells and are unique to the tumor, making them ideal targets for an antitumor immune response. The 1990s escorted a resurgence of enthusiasm for the concept of cancer immunosurveillance. In 1994 a study published in *Immunity* demonstrated that interferon gamma (IFN γ) can elicit protective immunity against transplantable tumors in

syngeneic murine models [17]. The development of new murine models facilitated the momentum of research in this area. For example, in 1992 a paper was published in *Cell* introducing recombination activating gene 2 (RAG-2)-deficient mice which fail to produce mature T or B lymphocytes [18]. Researchers found that RAG-2-deficient mice are more susceptible to both transplantable and spontaneous tumor formation compared to their wild-type (WT) counterparts [19]. Indeed, it quickly became established that the immune system can identify and eliminate cancer cells by recognizing tumor antigens and generating effector and memory cells that can survey the appearance of malignant tumors [15,20,21].

Despite the concept of immunosurveillance becoming more accepted, there was one major caveat to the theory. Given the ability of the immune system to monitor and control tumor growth, how do immunocompetent individuals develop cancer? A few studies began to answer this question by observing tumor formation under immunocompetent and immunocompromised conditions. For example, one study demonstrated that tumors formed in RAG2-deficient mice are often rejected when transplanted into WT mice, whereas tumors from WT mice readily grew in RAG2-deficient mice [19]. These data, combined with several other studies, suggest that tumor immunogenicity can be molded by their environment [22–24]. In a landmark review, Dunn and colleagues summarized findings that support this model of tumor plasticity and established the concept of immunoediting [25]. They describe a model in which the tumor will go through three stages of immunoediting termed the "Three Es" of cancer immunoediting (Figure 1.2). The first stage is

Elimination, which encompasses the model of immunosurveillance and the elimination of immunogenic cancer cells. This is followed by the Equilibrium stage, in which the immune response can create selective pressure towards less immunogenic cancer cell variants that are capable of immune evasion. The final stage, Escape, involves the rapid proliferation of the immunologically sculped tumor in an immunocompetent host. These concepts serve as a foundation for studying tumorhost interactions and had profound effects on the development of cancer therapies.



Figure 1.2. The three stages of cancer immunoediting. Schematic was made on Biorender.com.

1.5 Immunotherapy

Immunotherapy is a broad category of cancer therapies that is focused on enabling a robust immune response against the tumor. The immunogenicity of a

tumor can be sculpted by its environment enabling a variety of mechanisms for the evasion or suppression of the immune system [25]. Cancer immunotherapies include innovative strategies to increase the immunogenicity in the tumor. There is great enthusiasm for immunotherapy strategies because of their highly improved safety profile over conventional cancer therapies coupled with their promising therapeutic efficacy. However, there are many steps involved in generating and maintaining an effective antitumor response. In this regard, many different therapeutic strategies have been developed with their own range of applicability. Moreover, several strategies can often be combined to maximize therapeutic efficacy. Some strategies, such as cancer vaccines, are designed to initiate an endogenous immune response against the tumor [26]. In theory, this strategy can be personalized to promote a response against tumor-specific neoantigens. Adoptive T cell transfer therapy is another strategy that has shown great promise in the clinic, particularly for the treatment of hematological malignancies [26]. This strategy involves the stimulation or engineering of autologous or allogenic T cells that are then infused into patients. Interestingly, even conventional cancer therapies can be used as immunotherapies under the right circumstances. For example, both radiation therapy and low-dose chemotherapy have been shown to initiate an antitumor immune response by inducing immunogenic cell death (ICD) [27,28]. However, initiation of an antitumor response is not always sufficient for efficacy. Cancer cells can also suppress the activity of immune cells by expressing highly immunosuppressive ligands known as immune checkpoints. To this end, another strategy for immunotherapy

involves the development of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs), which are monoclonal antibodies that block these ligands (this strategy is discussed in further detail in section 1.7). While these therapies have shown great potential in the past decade, there are many patients that do not exhibit durable survival outcomes [29]. Therefore, it is imperative that pre-clinical and clinical research is focused on identifying biological factors that enable durable responses in patients.

1.6 Tumor Antigen Presentation

CD8⁺ T cells have long been the primary focus for cancer immunotherapy. While many other cell types can be involved in initiating an antitumor response, $CD8^+$ T cells seem to be the primary mediators of anticancer immunity. To elicit an antitumor CD8⁺ T cell response, however, antigen presentation must occur at two distinct stages: 1) tumor antigens must be taken up by antigen presenting cells (APCs) and cross presented to prime naïve CD8⁺ T cells. 2) tumor antigens must be presented on the surface of tumor cells to enable recognition by primed $CD8^+$ T cells. In both cases, antigens must be presented on MHC molecules for recognition by T cells. Antigens are recognized by CD8⁺ or CD4⁺ T cells when they are presented on MHC class I (MHC I) or MHC class II (MHC II), respectively. Normally, endogenous proteins are processed by proteosomes and presented on MHC I, while exogenous proteins are internalized before being processed and presented primarily on MHC II [30]. Tumor cells generally do not prime antigen specific CD8⁺ T cells, which are often restricted to MHC I priming. Therefore, an alternate antigen presentation pathway is required for priming the MHC I-restricted CD8⁺ T cells. Cross

presentation is process by which APCs can present exogenous antigens via MHC I [31]. In the context of cancer immunity, dendritic cells (DCs) are the most common APCs involved in priming CD8⁺ T cells [32].

DCs can take up dying tumor cells and released tumor proteins to be processed and cross presented. Dying tumor cells also release danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) that can promote maturation of DCs and initiate their migration to the draining lymph node, where cross presentation occurs [33]. DCs can be categorized into several subsets, however, the prominent DCs for initiating antitumor immunity are type 1 conventional DCs (cDC1s) [32,34]. cDC1s can be characterized by their expression of CD8a and/or CD103 and are highly dependent on the transcription factor Basic Leucine Zipper ATF-Like Transcription Factor 3 (BATF3) for their development [35]. BATF3 knockout mice, which are deficient for cDC1s, demonstrate dysfunctional cross presentation and are incapable of mounting an antitumor immune response [36,37]. Indeed, infiltration of cDC1s into the TME is associated with improved outcomes in patients and better response to immunotherapy [38–40]. cDC1s were also shown to be involved in reengaging central memory T cells and recruitment of adoptively transferred T cells to the TME [41,42]. Several chemokines can induce the recruitment of cDC1s into the tumor, including CCL4 and CCL5 [34,43]. On the other hand, tumors can modulate their antigenicity by releasing molecules that prevent the recruitment and maturation of DCs, including PGE₂, IL-6, TGF β and IL-10 [44,45]. Therefore, some immunotherapy strategies employ adjuvants that can overcome the immunosuppressive

signals by inducing the secretion of molecules that promote DC recruitment and maturation [37,46,47].

1.7 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

ICIs are a class of immunotherapy that has been highly successful for treating immunosuppressive tumors. Immune checkpoints are co-inhibitory receptors that are expressed on activated T cells, B cells and myeloid cells. In the context of T cells, binding of immune checkpoints to their respective ligands inhibits T cell activation, proliferation, and effector functions [48]. The most widely known immune checkpoints are programmed cell death receptor-1 (PD-1) and cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated molecule-4 (CTLA-4) which were studied by Tasuku Honjo and James Allison, respectively [49,50]. Both professors were awarded the 2018 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine for their contribution. Under normal conditions, immune checkpoints serve to maintain self-tolerance, and ligands are expressed by APCs and vital organs such as the heart and lungs [51]. However, cancer cells can often exploit this mechanism by upregulating immunosuppressive ligands such as programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1, also known as CD274 and B7-H1). In doing so, antitumor T cells that identify their target are rendered dysfunctional and fail to carry out their effector functions (Figure 1.3) [48].

PD-1 is a transmembrane receptor with two primary ligands, PD-L1 and PD-L2. While PD-L2 has greater affinity for PD-1, PD-L1 is expressed on a greater variety of cells and more commonly expressed by cancer cells [52]. When PD-1 is engaged by its ligands, a signaling pathway is initiated that results in the

dephosphorylation of proteins downstream of the T cell receptor (TCR) and the costimulatory receptor, CD28 [53]. Inhibition of PD-1/PD-L1 signaling was shown to reinvigorate antitumor T cells and induce tumor regression in immunocompetent murine models [54,55]. As a result, monoclonal antibodies targeting PD-1 or PD-L1 were commercialized and approved for the treatment of multiple cancers, with remarkable clinical outcomes [56,57].

CTLA-4 is a transmembrane receptor that is highly homologous to CD28. CTLA-4 and CD28 share two primary ligands: CD80 and CD86 [58]. However, CTLA-4 interacts with both ligands with a higher affinity than CD28 [59,60]. Binding of CD28 to either of its ligands in conjunction with TCR activation is required for T cell activation, proliferation, and survival upon engaging antigens. CTLA-4 inhibits T cell activation by competing with CD28 for binding of CD80 and CD86, thereby preventing CD28-mediated co-stimulation [58]. Similar to PD-1, blocking CTLA-4 interactions promotes T cell activation and antitumor immunity, and induces tumor regression in murine cancer models [54,61]. Monoclonal antibodies against CTLA-4 have been trialed in a range of cancers with promising clinical outcomes [62-64]. Combinations of CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade are under investigation for several types of cancer. While this combination has demonstrated synergistic effects in the clinic, the improved efficacy comes at the cost of greater toxicity [65–68]. Nevertheless, clinical results with ICIs shows great promise for the treatment of immunosuppressive tumors.



Figure 1.3. PD-1/PD-L1 axis as a target for monoclonal antibody therapy. Schematic was made on Biorender.com.

1.8 Tumor Microenvironment

One of the most important considerations for cancer pathology is the understanding that a tumor consists of an environment with large diversity of cell types, known as the tumor microenvironment (TME). The TME is an ecosystem that encompasses malignant cells, immune cells, blood vessels, and surrounding epithelial cells and fibroblasts. The interactions between transformed cells and other components of the TME can greatly influence tumor progression and patient prognosis. For example, abnormal vasculature in the tumor combined with increased oxygen consumption by cancer cells can create hypoxic conditions in the TME which is associated with poor prognosis, greater genomic instability, and the emergence of resistance clones [69]. Tumor-infiltrating immune cells also exert protumor and antitumor functions, which can influence tumor progression and response to therapy. For example, immune "hot" tumors are characterized inflammation and the tumor infiltration T cells and NK cells that may exert antitumor cytotoxicity [70]. Hot tumors often include high expression of immunosuppressive ligands such as PD-L1 and are generally more responsive to ICI therapy [70]. On the other end of the spectrum, immune cold tumors are characterized by little infiltration of immune cells and are often unresponsive to ICI therapy [70]. Cold tumors require additional intervention to increase their immunogenicity and promote inflammation and tumor infiltration of antitumor immune cells [71]. Finally, immune excluded tumors are characterized by the infiltration of immunosuppressive cells such as regulatory T cells, Myeloid-derived suppressor cells, and M2 macrophages [70]. Indeed, it has become clear that consideration of the immune landscape in the TME is necessary for selecting the optimal therapeutic intervention.

1.9 Type I IFN Pathway

The innate antiviral response is the first line of defense against an invading pathogen. Innate antiviral signaling occurs through several signaling cascades simultaneously to initiate defenses at the molecular and cellular levels. Perhaps the most renowned members of antiviral signaling are interferons (IFNs). There are three distinct families of IFNs: type I, type II, and type III. Type I IFNs consist of the robustly studied IFN α and IFN β , and the poorly defined IFN ϵ , IFN τ , IFN κ , IFN ω , IFN δ and IFN ζ . The only member of the type II IFN family is IFN γ , which is mostly expressed by T cells and NK cells and is crucial for the initiation of adaptive immunity [72]. The type III IFN family contains IFN λ 1, IFN λ 2, IFN λ 3 and IFN λ 4, which have similar functions to type I IFNs but are more restricted since their receptor is primarily expressed on epithelial cells [73]. In the context of antiviral signaling, IFN α/β are the most widely studies since these cytokines and their receptors are ubiquitously expressed on most cell types. Production of IFN α/β is tightly regulated by three sets of transcription factors: IFN regulatory factors 3 and 7 (IRF3/7), activator protein 1 (AP1), and nuclear factor kappa–light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF κ B) (Figure 1.4) [74]. While each transcription factor complex can induce IFN α/β expression independently, all three are required for maximal induction of transcription [74]. The three sets of transcription factors assemble into a complex known as the enhanceosome, which binds to the promoter region and induces IFN α/β expression. Details concerning the regulation and downstream signaling of type I IFNs will be discussed in the following sections.

1.9.1 Pathogen Recognition Receptors

The host antiviral response is initiated when pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) are engaged by pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). There are several PRRs on the cell surface, in the cytoplasm, and in endosomal compartments that can recognize PAMPs associated with DNA and RNA viruses [75]. Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are a conserved family of transmembrane glycoproteins that reside on the cell membrane and/or endosomal compartments and can recognize a variety of PAMPs. For example, TLR4, which is expressed on the cell surface, can recognize viral glycoproteins [76,77]. On the other hand, TLR7 and TLR9 are located in endosomes where they can recognize viral RNA and DNA, respectively [75]. Upon pathogen recognition, all TLRs except for TLR3 initiate a signaling
cascade through myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88) [78]. The primary family of cytoplasmic PRRs responsible for recognition of RNA virus infections is the retinoic acid-inducible gene-I (RIG-I)-like receptor family. This family consists of RIG-I and melanoma differentiation-associated antigen 5 (MDA5), which recognize and bind to double stranded viral RNA [78]. Upon activation, both proteins undergo conformational changes that enable interaction with the mitochondrial transmembrane protein IFN promoter stimulator 1 (IPS-1) [75]. Similarly, cytosolic DNA sensors such as DNA-dependent activator of IFN-regulatory factors (DAI) can recognize and bind viral DNA leading to the initiation of downstream signaling cascades [75].

<u>1.9.2 IFN α/β Production</u>

Signaling cascades initiated by recognition of DAMPs generally converge on a few key transcription factors that are required for the transcription of IFN α/β genes. The IRF family of transcription factors include 9 members that share extensive homology in their N-terminal DNA-binding domain. IRF3 and IRF7 are amongst the most characterized of the family and are heavily involved in the production of IFN α/β . PRR signaling cascades result in the phosphorylation of IRF3, which induces its dimerization with other IRF3 or IRF7 molecules. The dimers interact with the cofactors cyclic-AMP-responsive-element-binding protein (CREB)binding protein (CBP) or p300 in the nucleus [79–81]. This complex can then bind to a consensus DNA sequence resulting in the transcription of IFN α/β [82]. NFκB is another highly characterized transcription factor that is involved in the regulation of many cellular processes, including innate and adaptive immunity [83]. There are five known subunits of NFκB: p65 (RelA), p105/p50, RelB, c-Rel, and p100/p52. These subunits contain a Rel homology domain (RHD) which enables the homo- and heterodimerization of the subunits depending on the stimuli. Canonical NFκB signaling is mediated by the heterodimer of p65 and p50 and is the most commonly initiated upon PRR stimulation [84]. In quiescent cells, this dimer is sequestered in the cytoplasm by inhibitory proteins called inhibitors of NFκB (IκB) [83]. Upon initiation of PRR signaling cascades, IκB is phosphorylated by a family of kinases then ubiquitinated by a ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme and a ubiquitin-protein ligase[85,86]. This process flags IκB for degradation which, in turn, releases the NFκB dimers for nuclear translocation. In the nucleus, NFκB binds κB elements and initiates the transcription of many pro-inflammatory genes including IFNα/β [87].

Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) are a large family of protein kinases that regulate many different cellular processes. In the context of viral infection, the MAPK known as c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) is also involved in the regulation of IFN α/β production [75]. Initiation of PRR signaling results in the phosphorylation of JNK, which in turn, translocates to the nucleus and phosphorylates a family of transcription factors known as AP1 [88]. Like NF κ B, AP1 consists of homo- or heterodimers of several different subunits, including Jun, Fos, musculoaponeurotic fibrosarcoma (MAF), and activating transcription factor (ATF). Activated AP1 dimers can then induce the transcription of several pro-inflammatory molecules including IFN α/β [89].

<u>1.9.3 IFN α/β Signaling</u>

Type I IFNs are secreted cytokines that can act in an autocrine and paracrine fashion to initiate antiviral defense mechanisms. IFN α and IFN β can both bind to IFN α/β receptor (IFNAR) molecules expressed on the cell surface, which initiates a well characterized signaling cascade known as the JAK/STAT pathway. Binding of IFN α/β to IFNAR induces the autophosphorylation of the receptor-associated Janus kinase 1 (JAK1) and tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2) [90]. JAK1 and TYK2 then carry out phosphorylation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 and 2 (STAT1 and STAT2) [91]. Upon phosphorylation, STAT1/2 dimerize and associate with IRF9 to form the ISG factor 3 (ISGF3) complex [91]. ISGF3 then translocates to the nucleus where it binds the IFN-stimulated response elements (ISRE) promotor. This process initiates the transcription of hundreds of antiviral genes known as IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs) [91]. ISGs function through many different mechanisms to combat viral infection by inhibiting virus entry [92–94], virus replication [95,96], and virus egress [97].

1.9.4 Type I IFNs in Cancer Immunology

Aside from their role in combating virus infections, type I IFNs also influence the immune response against cancer. Type I IFN signaling is a crucial component in cancer immunosurveillance and the initiation of antitumor immunity [98]. Notably, type I IFN signaling is required for DC-mediated cross presentation of tumor antigens and priming of tumor-specific T cells [99]. Furthermore, infiltration of T cells and NK cells into the tumor is often correlated with production of type I IFNs [98]. Type I IFNs have also been utilized as an anticancer therapy in preclinical and clinical studies [98,100–102]. While type I IFN is required for the initiation of antitumor, emerging studies suggest that they may also mediate forms of immunosuppression in the TME. Several reports have demonstrated type I IFN-dependent upregulation of immunosuppressive molecules such as PD-L1 and galectin 9 in the TME [103–106]. Furthermore, recent studies have associated sustained type I IFN signaling with resistance to several immunotherapies, including ICI therapy and CAR-T therapy [107–109]. Future work should focus on studying the kinetics of type I IFN signaling in the TME to initiate antitumor immunity while preventing IFN-mediated immunosuppression.



Figure 1.4. Type I IFN production and signaling. Schematic was made on Biorender.com.

1.10 Oncolytic Viruses

Oncolytic viruses (OVs) are a growing class of biotherapeutics that are engineered to preferentially infect and kill cancer cells. The basic concept of OVs emerged from the early observation that viruses have a preferential, though nonselective, tropism for cancer cells. These observations were first recorded in the early 20th century when some cancer patients entered a brief period of remission after contracting an infectious disease [110]. This phenomenon was occasionally observed throughout the 20th century and was even observed during the ongoing COVID19 pandemic; a 61-year-old patient with Epstein–Barr virus (EBV)-positive Hodgkin lymphoma went into remission several months after recovering from SARS-CoV-2 infection [111]. The preferential tropism of viruses for cancer cells is attributed to many of the hallmark properties associated with cancer, including high metabolic rates, defective programmed cell death pathways, and immune evasion. Indeed, pathways involved with inflammation and immune activation often include pathways responsible for mounting cellular antiviral responses. Therefore, defects in inflammatory pathways that enable immune evasion can also result in defective antiviral signaling. Altogether, the properties that enable tumorigenesis provide a unique niche that supports virus replication. This phenomenon can be exploited by attenuating viruses so that they can effectively infect cancer cells without causing harm to normal cells with intact antiviral signaling.

OVs are multimodal agents that can eliminate cancer cells through several mechanisms. The most direct method of OV-mediated cytotoxicity is oncolysis of the infected cancer cells due to the natural life cycle of the virus. Additionally, OVs can reduce blood flow to the tumor mass by infecting tumor vasculature and causing thrombosis, leading to apoptosis and necrosis of cancer cells. Most importantly, however, the combination of infection and cell death results in the release of DAMPs that activate immune cells and attract them to the tumor bed, enabling a robust antitumor immune response [112–114]. Indeed, the ability of OVs to trigger an antitumor response is considered critical for therapeutic efficacy of OV therapy, with several studies demonstrating that depletion of CD8⁺ T cells or tumor

engraftment in nude mice enables relapse of tumors following initial OV-mediated debulking [114,115]. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that DCs are required for presentation of tumor antigens and the generation of an antitumor T-cell response during OV therapy [116,117]. Oncolysis of infected cancer cells can also result in the release of neoantigens that can be picked up by APCs leading to the recruitment of antigen-specific T cells [118]. Finally, OVs can be engineered to include transgenes that further diversify their utility. Transgenes incorporated into OVs often include immunostimulatory cytokines and chemokines, or tumor antigens that enable priming and/or boosting antitumor T cell response [119].



Figure 1.5. OV multimodal mechanism of action.

1.10.1 Oncolytic HSV

The herpesvirus family is a very large family of viruses that infect a wide variety of organisms. This family of viruses is characterized by enveloped particles containing a double-stranded DNA genome. Herpesviruses can be divided into the alpha, beta, and gamma subfamilies according to their biological characteristics and DNA sequences [120]. Herpes simplex viruses 1 (HSV-1) is part of the alpha herpesvirus subfamily that includes roughly 80 genes. HSV-1 can enter a cell through the herpes virus entry mediator (HVEM) and nectin-1 receptors, however other intracellular proteins are required for the virus genome to reach the nucleus where the viral genes are transcribed. The large genome of HSV-1 includes immediate early (IE), early, and late genes which can have a variety of roles in the life cycle of the virus.

In the early 90s, standardization of recombinant DNA technology enabled robust virus engineering. In 1991, Martuza *et. al.* found that a thymidine kinase (TK)-negative mutant of HSV-1 was able to prolong survival of mice with intracranial gliomas [121]. TK is an enzyme that catalyzes one of the steps in the synthesis of thymidine triphosphate. While TK is essential for HSV-1 to replicate efficiently in non-dividing cells that express low levels of cellular TK, the rapid division of cancer cells provides a steady supply of nucleotides that can complement the TK-negative virus. The many genes included in the HSV-1 genome enable a wide selection of genes that can be effectively attenuated to allow for preferential replication in cancer cells. For example, the IE gene ICP0 normally blocks IRF3 and IRF7-mediated IFN signaling [122,123]. Hummel and colleagues demonstrated that an ICP0-null variant of HSV-1 can selectively replicate in cancer cells *in vitro*. Furthermore, the oncolytic HSV-1 caused sustained regression of tumors in a murine model of breast adenocarcinoma [124]. The success of HSV-1 as an OV backbone is highlighted by the commercialization of Talimogene laherparepvec (T-Vec), which is the first OV to be clinically approved in the US and Europe. T-Vec is currently approved for use as a first-line therapy for the treatment of stage IIIb-IVM1c melanoma.

1.10.2 Oncolytic VSV

Vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) is a single-stranded, negative-sense RNA virus of the family *Rhabdoviridae*. Although VSV normally infects insects, the virus has several mammalian hosts including cattle, swine, horses, and rodents [125]. VSV is a relatively small virus (11kb) that contains only five genes: nucleocapsid (N), phosphoprotein (P), matrix (M), glycoprotein (G) and large (L). The virus enters the host cell by binding to Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptors (LDLR) via endocytosis [126]. This process is dependent on VSV G, which is also essential for fusion and budding of the virus [127]. VSV replication occurs in the cytoplasm, where the VSV L protein consisting of an RNA polymerase initiates transcription of viral mRNA in conjunction with the P protein [128]. The N protein encapsulates viral RNA and protects it from degradation after VSV-L-mediated post-transcriptional modifications are applied [129,130]. Finally, the M protein is involved in the proper packaging of virions and dampening host antiviral signaling. For the latter,

the M protein has been shown to inhibit the nuclear export of cellular mRNA and their translation into functional proteins [131–133]. WT VSV is a highly IFN-sensitive virus that can act as an oncolytic virus due it's poor virulence in human cells. However, VSV's selectivity towards cancer cells can be further improved by attenuating the function of the M protein. For example, one variant of VSV was engineered with a deletion of methionine 51 in the M protein (VSV Δ 51), which impairs the protein's ability to block antiviral signaling. This variant is even more sensitive to the intact antiviral signaling in normal cells but can still productively infect many cancer cells with defective antiviral pathways [134]. Variants of oncolytic VSV are currently being tested in phase I clinical trials as a monotherapy or as a combination therapy [119].

1.11 Resistance to Immunotherapy

Immunotherapy has demonstrated unprecedented response rates in cancer patients. However, many patients do not benefit from treatment, while other patients may relapse after a period of tumor regression. Resistance to immunotherapy can take the form of primary or acquired resistance, as discussed by Sharma et. al. [29]. Patients with primary resistance fail to respond to initial immunotherapy strategies. Primary resistance can come in the form of cell-intrinsic and cell-extrinsic mechanisms. Tumor cell-intrinsic mechanisms of resistance are mediated by expression of genes that can drive resistance. The most common example of this is upregulation of PD-L1, which is often expressed by high-risk cancers such as triplenegative breast cancer and colon carcinomas [135]. Other cell-intrinsic mechanisms of resistance include prevention of immune infiltrates into the TME. One preclinical study demonstrated that tumors could reduce the levels of cDC1s in the TME through high activation of the WNT/ β -catenin signaling pathway. WNT/ β -catenin signaling indirectly inhibited the expression of CCL4, which resulted in exclusion of CD8⁺ T cells infiltrates and resistance to ICI therapy [136]. Another example is the loss of PTEN expression in tumors, which increases the expression of immunosuppressive cytokines and impairs infiltration of T cells into the tumor [137]. Other examples of cell-intrinsic mechanisms of primary resistance include downregulation of MHC-I and alterations in antigen presentation machinery [29].

Cell-extrinsic mechanisms of primary resistance are mediated by components external to tumor cells. For example, PD-L1 can be expressed on a variety of cell types in the TME including cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) and myeloid cells [138–140]. Another example is the frequent infiltration of regulatory T cells (Tregs) in human tumors [127,128], which can suppress effector T cell function through the secretion of immunosuppressive cytokines [129]. Similarly, myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSCs) and tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) can also suppress antitumor immunity. Infiltration of MDSCs into the TME is correlated with reduced efficacy of ICI therapy and adoptive T cell therapy in the clinical and preclinical studies [130,131].

Finally, acquired resistance can be potentiated by aberrant changes in the TME such as high mutational burden, hypoxic conditions, and abnormal vasculature. As a result, heterogenous subpopulations often exist within a single tumor mass, and therapeutic intervention can exert selective pressure towards resistant variants. This concept is thoroughly expanded upon in **Chapter 2**.

1.12 Rationale and Hypothesis

ICI therapy has demonstrated very promising clinical outcomes in patients with several forms of cancer [48]. However, many patients with solid tumors fail to respond to initial ICI therapy, or relapse after a period of tumor regression [29]. Research has shown that highly inflamed tumors are more likely to respond to ICI therapy [132]. Furthermore, patients with phenotypically identical cancers may exhibit highly dichotomous responses to treatment [133]. **These observations highlight the need for developing strategies to increase inflammation in the TME to enable durable responses.** It is critical that molecular and cellular characteristics that enable durable responses are identified. To this end, we propose the use of OV platforms for improving tumor immunogenicity. **We hypothesize that OVs can enable response to ICI therapy by improving tumor immunogenicity though the induction of stimulatory cytokines and chemokines**. To address this hypothesis, we have developed the following aims:

- 1) Establish therapeutic OV platforms that can enable response to ICI therapy in solid tumor models.
- 2) Identify immune infiltrates that drive therapeutic efficacy in solid tumor models.
- 3) Investigate the role of OV-mediated type I IFN induction on antitumor immunity.

Our lab has previously developed oncolytic HSV-1 (oHSV-1) platforms in

combination with low-dose chemotherapy for treatment of murine breast cancers

[134,135]. Specifically, the combination of low-dose mitomycin C (mito) with oHSV-1 enabled response to ICI therapy by inducing necroptosis in the tumor [135]. Here, we build upon these data in **Chapter 3** by testing the combination of mito + oHSV-1 in the immunosuppressive MC38 murine colorectal carcinoma model. Unlike the breast cancer models, mito + oHSV-1 was not successful in delaying tumor progression in MC38 tumor models. While MC38 tumors were partially responsive to ICI therapy, none of the mice demonstrated durable response to therapy. However, mito + oHSV-1 therapy was successful in sensitizing tumors further to ICI therapy, resulting in a complete response in more than 50% of mice. Using a Clariom S assay we identified chemokine signatures associated with chemoattraction of myeloid cells. We found that mito + oHSV-1 induced infiltration of cDC1s into the tumor, which was required for driving therapeutic efficacy. These data suggest that enhancing recruitment and activity of cDC1s in the TME is essential for enabling durable responses to ICI therapy.

In a collaboration with Dr. Yonghong Wan's lab, we investigated the role of type I IFN (IFN-I) signaling on antitumor immunity (**Chapter 4**). We used a non-immunogenic murine melanoma model, B16F10, to study the effects of oncolytic VSV (oVSV)-induced IFN-I signaling. We found that oVSV induced tumor expression of PD-L1 in an IFN-I-dependent manner. Furthermore, oVSV induced expression of PD-L1 on circulating T cells, B cells and monocytes, which was abrogated using anti-IFNAR-1 monoclonal antibody. While IFN-I is necessary for priming tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells [136], we found that combining oVSV with anti-IFNAR-1 enhanced antitumor CD8⁺ T cell effector functions. Additionally, IFNAR blockade improved therapeutic response to oVSV therapy in a B16F10-gp33 tumor model.

In the work presented in this thesis I have identified how OV-mediated inflammation can either enable or suppress antitumor immunity. Furthermore, I identified a crucial role of cDC1s for driving a durable response to ICI mediated by mito + oHSV-1. These results are in line with studies that suggest cDC1s are the primary APCs for priming antitumor CD8⁺ T cells [37,38,43]. I have also identified immunosuppressive functions of IFN-I in the tumor, which is also supported by recent findings [137–139]. Future work should continue to characterize OV-mediated modulation of tumor immunogenicity to develop rational combination strategies that can maintain a durable response.

References

- Smith, L.; Cancer Society, C.; John, S.; Ryan Woods, L.; Brenner, D.; Bryan, S.; Louzado, C.; Shaw, A.; Turner, D.; Manitoba, C.; et al. Members of the Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee Analytic leads. 2019.
- Brenner, D.R.; Weir, H.K.; Demers, A.A.; Ellison, L.F.; Louzado, C.; Shaw, A.; Turner, D.; Woods, R.R.; Smith, L.M. Projected estimates of cancer in Canada in 2020. *CMAJ* 2020, 192, E199–E205, doi:10.1503/CMAJ.191292.
- Oliveira, C. de; Weir, S.; Rangrej, J.; Krahn, M.D.; Mittmann, N.; Hoch, J.S.; Chan, K.K.W.; Peacock, S. The economic burden of cancer care in Canada: a populationbased cost study. *Canadian Medical Association Open Access Journal* 2018, *6*, E1– E10, doi:10.9778/CMAJO.20170144.
- Jackson, S.P.; Bartek, J. The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease. *Nature* 2009, *461*, 1071–8, doi:10.1038/nature08467.
- zur Hausen, H. Papillomaviruses and cancer: from basic studies to clinical application. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2002, *2*, 342–350, doi:10.1038/nrc798.
- 6. Hanahan, D.; Weinberg, R.A. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* **2000**, *100*, 57–70.
- Hanahan, D.; Weinberg, R.A. Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. *Cell* 2011, 144, 646–674, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013.
- Krumbhaar, E.B.; Krumbhaar, H.D. The Blood and Bone Marrow in Yelloe Cross Gas (Mustard Gas) Poisoning: Changes produced in the Bone Marrow of Fatal Cases *. *The Journal of Medical Research* 1919, 40, 497.

- 9. RK, S.; S, K.; DN, P.; TR, B. Therapeutic journery of nitrogen mustard as alkylating anticancer agents: Historic to future perspectives. *European journal of medicinal chemistry* **2018**, *151*, 401–433, doi:10.1016/J.EJMECH.2018.04.001.
- 10. Tiwari, M. Antimetabolites: Established cancer therapy. *Journal of Cancer Research and Therapeutics* **2012**, *8*, 510, doi:10.4103/0973-1482.106526.
- Jordan, M.A.; Wilson, L. Microtubules as a target for anticancer drugs. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2004, *4*, 253–265, doi:10.1038/nrc1317.
- Alfarouk, K.O.; Stock, C.-M.; Taylor, S.; Walsh, M.; Muddathir, A.K.; Verduzco, D.; Bashir, A.H.H.; Mohammed, O.Y.; Elhassan, G.O.; Harguindey, S.; et al. Resistance to cancer chemotherapy: failure in drug response from ADME to P-gp. *Cancer Cell International* 2015, *15*, 71, doi:10.1186/S12935-015-0221-1.
- 13. CDC WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW NEUTROPENIA AND RISK FOR INFEC-TION WHAT IS NEUTROPENIA? Why does chemotherapy cause neutropenia? How do I know if I have neutropenia?
- Malhotra, V.; Perry, M.C. Classical chemotherapy: mechanisms, toxicities and the therapeutic window. *Cancer Biol Ther* 2003, *2*, S2-4, doi:10.4161/cbt.199.
- Ribatti, D. The concept of immune surveillance against tumors: The first theories. Oncotarget 2017, 8, 7175, doi:10.18632/ONCOTARGET.12739.
- 16. T, B.; A, V.P.; E, D.P.; P, C.; C, L.; JP, S.; C, S.; B, M.; B, V. den E.; B, L. Genes coding for T-cell-defined tum transplantation antigens: point mutations, antigenic peptides, and subgenic expression. *Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology* 1989, *54 Pt 1*, 587–596, doi:10.1101/SQB.1989.054.01.070.

- AS, D.; E, R.; LJ, O.; RD, S. Enhanced in vivo growth and resistance to rejection of tumor cells expressing dominant negative IFN gamma receptors. *Immunity* 1994, *1*, 447–456, doi:10.1016/1074-7613(94)90087-6.
- 18. Y, S.; G, R.; KP, L.; EM, O.; V, S.; M, M.; J, C.; M, D.; F, Y.; AM, S. RAG-2deficient mice lack mature lymphocytes owing to inability to initiate V(D)J rearrangement. *Cell* **1992**, *68*, 855–867, doi:10.1016/0092-8674(92)90029-C.
- Shankaran, V.; Ikeda, H.; Bruce, A.T.; White, J.M.; Swanson, P.E.; Old, L.J.; Schreiber, R.D. IFNγ and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. *Nature 2001 410:6832* 2001, *410*, 1107–1111, doi:10.1038/35074122.
- D, D.; J, H.; JW, Y. A few good peptides: MHC class I-based cancer immunosurveillance and immunoevasion. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 2021, *21*, 116–128, doi:10.1038/S41577-020-0390-6.
- Zitvogel, L.; Tesniere, A.; Kroemer, G. Cancer despite immunosurveillance: immunoselection and immunosubversion. *Nature Reviews Immunology 2006 6:10* 2006, 6, 715–727, doi:10.1038/nri1936.
- IM, S.; AM, E.; MB, N.; HG, L.; J, R.; O, W. Chemically induced sarcomas from nude mice are more immunogenic than similar sarcomas from congenic normal mice. *European journal of immunology* 1996, 26, 1844–1850, doi:10.1002/EJI.1830260827.

- 23. MJ, S.; KY, T.; SE, S.; E, C.; JA, T.; M, T.; T, K.; SB, P.; NY, C.; DI, G. Differential tumor surveillance by natural killer (NK) and NKT cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **2000**, *191*, 661–668, doi:10.1084/JEM.191.4.661.
- AM, E.; IM, S.; J, R.; O, W. MCA sarcomas induced in scid mice are more immunogenic than MCA sarcomas induced in congenic, immunocompetent mice. *Scandinavian journal of immunology* 1997, 45, 463–470, doi:10.1046/J.1365-3083.1997.D01-419.X.
- GP, D.; AT, B.; H, I.; LJ, O.; RD, S. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. *Nature immunology* 2002, *3*, 991–998, doi:10.1038/NI1102-991.
- 26. Cancer Immunotherapy Principles and Practice. *Cancer Immunotherapy Principles and Practice* **2021**, doi:10.1891/9780826137432.
- M, O.; T, P.; N, J.; R, T.; A, T.; P, van E.; L, Z.; G, K. Calreticulin exposure is required for the immunogenicity of gamma-irradiation and UVC light-induced apoptosis. *Cell death and differentiation* 2007, 14, 1848–1850, doi:10.1038/SJ.CDD.4402201.
- 28. M, M.; I, M.; AQ, S.; S, A.; Y, M.; P, P.; S, S.; O, K.; M, S.; G, M.; et al. Autophagy-dependent anticancer immune responses induced by chemotherapeutic agents in mice. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 2011, 334, 1573–1577, doi:10.1126/SCI-ENCE.1208347.

- Sharma, P.; Hu-Lieskovan, S.; Wargo, J.A.; Ribas, A. Primary, Adaptive, and Acquired Resistance to Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cell* 2017, *168*, 707–723, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.01.017.
- JS, B.; PA, W.; P, C. Pathways of antigen processing. *Annual review of immunology* 2013, *31*, 443–473, doi:10.1146/ANNUREV-IMMUNOL-032712-095910.
- FM, C.; JD, C.; E, M.; BA, K.; KL, R. The Biology and Underlying Mechanisms of Cross-Presentation of Exogenous Antigens on MHC-I Molecules. *Annual review of immunology* 2017, *35*, 149–176, doi:10.1146/ANNUREV-IMMUNOL-041015-055254.
- SK, W.; FJ, C.; AM, M.; I, M.; MF, K.; D, S. Dendritic cells in cancer immunology and immunotherapy. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 2020, 20, 7–24, doi:10.1038/S41577-019-0210-Z.
- 33. EW, R.; ML, B.; M, B.; MB, H.; AE, N.; DM, W.; T, K.; D, B.; N, B.; MF, K. Critical Role for CD103(+)/CD141(+) Dendritic Cells Bearing CCR7 for Tumor Antigen Trafficking and Priming of T Cell Immunity in Melanoma. *Cancer cell* 2016, *30*, 324–336, doi:10.1016/J.CCELL.2016.06.003.
- Jhunjhunwala, S.; Hammer, C.; Delamarre, L. Antigen presentation in cancer: insights into tumour immunogenicity and immune evasion. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2021 21:5 2021, 21, 298–312, doi:10.1038/S41568-021-00339-Z.
- Durai, V.; Murphy, K.M. Functions of Murine Dendritic Cells. *Immunity* 2016, 45, 719–736, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.10.010.

- AR, S.-P.; FJ, C.; M, M.-L.; S, L.; A, M.-K.; ME, R.-R.; M, J.-K.; A, A.; MA, A.; JI, Q.; et al. Cancer Immunotherapy with Immunomodulatory Anti-CD137 and Anti-PD-1 Monoclonal Antibodies Requires BATF3-Dependent Dendritic Cells. *Cancer discovery* 2016, *6*, 71–79, doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0510.
- 37. Salmon, H.; Idoyaga, J.; Rahman, A.; Leboeuf, M.; Remark, R.; Jordan, S.; Casanova-Acebes, M.; Khudoynazarova, M.; Agudo, J.; Tung, N.; et al. Expansion and Activation of CD103+ Dendritic Cell Progenitors at the Tumor Site Enhances Tumor Responses to Therapeutic PD-L1 and BRAF Inhibition. *Immunity* 2016, 44, 924–938, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.03.012.
- EW, R.; ML, B.; M, B.; MB, H.; AE, N.; DM, W.; T, K.; D, B.; N, B.; MF, K. Critical Role for CD103(+)/CD141(+) Dendritic Cells Bearing CCR7 for Tumor Antigen Trafficking and Priming of T Cell Immunity in Melanoma. *Cancer cell* 2016, *30*, 324–336, doi:10.1016/J.CCELL.2016.06.003.
- 39. ML, B.; M, B.; B, B.; AE, N.; JL, P.; DJ, E.; A, B.; MD, R.; A, D.; DL, B.; et al. Dissecting the tumor myeloid compartment reveals rare activating antigen-presenting cells critical for T cell immunity. *Cancer cell* 2014, *26*, 638–652, doi:10.1016/J.CCELL.2014.09.007.
- 40. M, M.; A, R.; V, P.; S, S.; S, C.; E, S.; C, J.; MF, F.; RB, B.; M, K.; et al. Dendritic cells dictate responses to PD-L1 blockade cancer immunotherapy. *Science translational medicine* 2020, *12*, doi:10.1126/SCITRANSLMED.AAV7431.

- S, S.; D, D.; B, H.; TF, G. Tumor-Residing Batf3 Dendritic Cells Are Required for Effector T Cell Trafficking and Adoptive T Cell Therapy. *Cancer cell* 2017, *31*, 711-723.e4, doi:10.1016/J.CCELL.2017.04.003.
- M, E.; S, I.; E, P.; FJ, C.; JA, Q.; S, M.-C.; E, M.-P.; M, E.; I, M.; A, H.; et al. Enhanced anti-tumour immunity requires the interplay between resident and circulating memory CD8 + T cells. *Nature communications* 2017, *8*, doi:10.1038/NCOMMS16073.
- JP, B.; E, B.; P, C.; H, B.; M, C.-C.; S, S.; NC, R.; E, S.; S, Z.; C, R. e S. NK Cells Stimulate Recruitment of cDC1 into the Tumor Microenvironment Promoting Cancer Immune Control. *Cell* 2018, *172*, 1022-1037.e14, doi:10.1016/J.CELL.2018.01.004.
- M, P.; I, M.; Y, H.; M, do R.A.; H, B.-M.; JC, W.; AS, C.; J, K.; I, R.; Q, W.; et al. Id1 suppresses anti-tumour immune responses and promotes tumour progression by impairing myeloid cell maturation. *Nature communications* 2015, *6*, doi:10.1038/NCOMMS7840.
- SJ, P.; T, N.; H, K.; T, A.; H, K.; S, S.; D, K.; N, U.; Y, I.; K, I.; et al. IL-6 regulates in vivo dendritic cell differentiation through STAT3 activation. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)* 2004, *173*, 3844–3854, doi:10.4049/JIM-MUNOL.173.6.3844.
- 46. JM, R.; GS, P.; J, Y.; N, C.; R, S.; SY, Z.; JL, T.; P, M.; S, L.; HC, E.; et al. Design of amidobenzimidazole STING receptor agonists with systemic activity. *Nature* 2018, *564*, 439–443, doi:10.1038/S41586-018-0705-Y.

- L, C.; LH, G.; SM, M.; DB, K.; KE, S.; GE, K.; SR, W.; E, L.; T, B.; JJ, L.; et al. Direct Activation of STING in the Tumor Microenvironment Leads to Potent and Systemic Tumor Regression and Immunity. *Cell reports* 2015, *11*, 1018–1030, doi:10.1016/J.CELREP.2015.04.031.
- 48. Robert, C. A decade of immune-checkpoint inhibitors in cancer therapy. *Nature Communications 2020 11:1* **2020**, *11*, 1–3, doi:10.1038/s41467-020-17670-y.
- 49. Ishida, Y.; Agata, Y.; Shibahara, K.; Honjo, T. Induced expression of PD-1, a novel member of the immunoglobulin gene superfamily, upon programmed cell death. *The EMBO Journal* 1992, *11*, 3887–3895, doi:10.1002/J.1460-2075.1992.TB05481.X.
- MF, K.; JP, A. CD28 and CTLA-4 have opposing effects on the response of T cells to stimulation. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 1995, *182*, 459–465, doi:10.1084/JEM.182.2.459.
- 51. GJ, F.; AJ, L.; Y, I.; K, B.; T, C.; H, N.; LJ, F.; N, M.; T, O.; MC, B.; et al. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 2000, *192*, 1027–1034, doi:10.1084/JEM.192.7.1027.
- A, S.; SF, V.; AG, S.; S, A.; M, A.; A, P.; A, S. PD-1/PD-L1 pathway: Basic biology and role in cancer immunotherapy. *Journal of cellular physiology* 2019, 234, 16824–16837, doi:10.1002/JCP.28358.

- Sharpe, A.H.; Pauken, K.E. The diverse functions of the PD1 inhibitory pathway. *Nature Reviews Immunology 2017 18:3* 2017, 18, 153–167, doi:10.1038/NRI.2017.108.
- Hirano, F.; Kaneko, K.; Tamura, H.; Dong, H.; research, S.W.-C.; 2005, undefined Blockade of B7-H1 and PD-1 by monoclonal antibodies potentiates cancer therapeutic immunity. *AACR* 2005.
- 55. Y, I.; S, T.; T, H. PD-1 blockade inhibits hematogenous spread of poorly immunogenic tumor cells by enhanced recruitment of effector T cells. *International immunology* 2005, 17, 133–144, doi:10.1093/INTIMM/DXH194.
- 56. JR, B.; SS, T.; LQ, C.; WJ, H.; SL, T.; P, H.; CG, D.; LH, C.; J, K.; K, O.; et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. *The New England journal of medicine* 2012, 366, 2455–2465, doi:10.1056/NEJMOA1200694.
- 57. FS, H.; SJ, O.; DF, M.; RW, W.; JA, S.; JB, H.; R, G.; C, R.; D, S.; JC, H.; et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *The New England journal of medicine* 2010, *363*, 711–723, doi:10.1056/NEJMOA1003466.
- Rowshanravan, B.; Halliday, N.; Sansom, D.M. CTLA-4: a moving target in immunotherapy. *Blood* 2018, *131*, 58–67, doi:10.1182/BLOOD-2017-06-741033.
- 59. JC, S.; X, Z.; AA, F.; SG, N.; SC, A. Structural basis for co-stimulation by the human CTLA-4/B7-2 complex. *Nature* 2001, 410, 604–608, doi:10.1038/35069112.

- CC, S.; Y, Z.; JF, T.; DV, E.; S, I.; SJ, D.; ML, S.; J, S.; WS, S.; L, M. Crystal structure of the B7-1/CTLA-4 complex that inhibits human immune responses. *Nature* 2001, *410*, 608–611, doi:10.1038/35069118.
- DR, L.; MF, K.; JP, A. Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. Science (New York, N.Y.) 1996, 271, 1734–1736, doi:10.1126/SCI-ENCE.271.5256.1734.
- P, A.; GQ, P.; AV, M.; MR, R.; MM, Q.; JC, Y.; RM, S.; SL, T.; US, K.; RE, R.; et al. Autoimmunity correlates with tumor regression in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with anti-cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 2005, 23, 6043–6053, doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.06.205.
- 63. FS, H.; MC, M.; RJ, S.; FG, H.; M, B.; MV, S.; T, D.; R, H.-S.; S, M.; A, W.; et al. Biologic activity of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 antibody block-ade in previously vaccinated metastatic melanoma and ovarian carcinoma patients. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2003, *100*, 4712–4717, doi:10.1073/PNAS.0830997100.
- GQ, P.; JC, Y.; RM, S.; P, H.; SL, T.; DJ, S.; NP, R.; LR, H.; CA, S.; LJ, F.; et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity induced by cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2003, 100, 8372– 8377, doi:10.1073/PNAS.1533209100.

- 65. JS, W.; SP, D.; D, M.; FS, H.; R, G.; B, N.; C, H.; NI, K.; WH, M.; CD, L.; et al. Nivolumab versus chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma who progressed after anti-CTLA-4 treatment (CheckMate 037): a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. *The Lancet. Oncology* **2015**, *16*, 375–384, doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(15)70076-8.
- Antonia, S.J.; Bendell, J.C.; Taylor, M.H.; Calvo, E.; Jaeger, D.; de Braud, F.G.;
 Ott, P.A.; Pietanza, M.C.; Horn, L.; Le, D.T.; et al. Phase I/II study of nivolumab with or without ipilimumab for treatment of recurrent small cell lung cancer (SCLC): CA209-032. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2015, *33*, 7503–7503, doi:10.1200/JCO.2015.33.15_SUPPL.7503.
- 67. JD, W.; H, K.; MK, C.; MA, P.; NA, R.; AM, L.; NH, S.; CE, A.; RA, G.; K, R.; et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *The New England journal of medicine* 2013, *369*, 122–133, doi:10.1056/NEJMOA1302369.
- MA, P.; J, C.; AC, P.; C, R.; K, G.; D, M.; GP, L.; N, M.; JK, G.; SS, A.; et al. Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. *The New England journal of medicine* 2015, 372, 2006–2017, doi:10.1056/NEJMOA1414428.
- Vito, A.; El-Sayes, N.; Mossman, K. Hypoxia-Driven Immune Escape in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Cells* 2020, *9*, 992, doi:10.3390/cells9040992.
- Galon, J.; Bruni, D. Approaches to treat immune hot, altered and cold tumours with combination immunotherapies. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 2018 18:3* 2019, 18, 197–218, doi:10.1038/s41573-018-0007-y.

- Duan, Q.; Zhang, H.; Zheng, J.; Zhang, L. Turning Cold into Hot: Firing up the Tumor Microenvironment. *Trends in Cancer* 2020, 6, 605–618, doi:10.1016/J.TRECAN.2020.02.022.
- JR, S.; CB, W. Regulation of interferon-gamma during innate and adaptive immune responses. *Advances in immunology* 2007, *96*, 41–101, doi:10.1016/S0065-2776(07)96002-2.
- K, W.; E, W.; R, S.; K, W. IL-28A, IL-28B, and IL-29: promising cytokines with type I interferon-like properties. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews* 2010, *21*, 237–251, doi:10.1016/J.CYTOGFR.2010.04.002.
- Honda, K.; Takaoka, A.; Taniguchi, T. Type I Inteferon Gene Induction by the Interferon Regulatory Factor Family of Transcription Factors. *Immunity* 2006, 25, 349–360, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.08.009.
- 75. Thompson, M.R.; Kaminski, J.J.; Kurt-Jones, E.A.; Fitzgerald, K.A. Pattern recognition receptors and the innate immune response to viral infection. *Viruses* 2011, *3*, 920–40, doi:10.3390/v3060920.
- 76. Rassa, J.C.; Meyers, J.L.; Zhang, Y.; Kudaravalli, R.; Ross, S.R. Murine retroviruses activate B cells via interaction with toll-like receptor 4. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2002, 99, 2281–6, doi:10.1073/pnas.042355399.
- 77. Kurt-Jones, E.A.; Popova, L.; Kwinn, L.; Haynes, L.M.; Jones, L.P.; Tripp, R.A.; Walsh, E.E.; Freeman, M.W.; Golenbock, D.T.; Anderson, L.J.; et al. Pattern

recognition receptors TLR4 and CD14 mediate response to respiratory syncytial virus. *Nature Immunology* **2000**, *1*, 398–401, doi:10.1038/80833.

- Medzhitov, R.; Preston-Hurlburt, P.; Kopp, E.; Stadlen, A.; Chen, C.; Ghosh, S.; Janeway, C.A. MyD88 is an adaptor protein in the hToll/IL-1 receptor family signaling pathways. *Molecular cell* 1998, *2*, 253–8.
- Lin, R.; Heylbroeck, C.; Pitha, P.M.; Hiscott, J. Virus-dependent phosphorylation of the IRF-3 transcription factor regulates nuclear translocation, transactivation potential, and proteasome-mediated degradation. *Molecular and cellular biology* 1998, *18*, 2986–96.
- Yoneyama, M.; Suhara, W.; Fukuhara, Y.; Fukuda, M.; Nishida, E.; Fujita, T. Direct triggering of the type I interferon system by virus infection: activation of a transcription factor complex containing IRF-3 and CBP/p300. *The EMBO journal* 1998, *17*, 1087–95, doi:10.1093/emboj/17.4.1087.
- Suhara, W.; Yoneyama, M.; Iwamura, T.; Yoshimura, S.; Tamura, K.; Namiki, H.; Aimoto, S.; Fujita, T. Analyses of virus-induced homomeric and heteromeric protein associations between IRF-3 and coactivator CBP/p300. *Journal of biochemistry* 2000, *128*, 301–7.
- Honda, K.; Taniguchi, T. IRFs: master regulators of signalling by Toll-like receptors and cytosolic pattern-recognition receptors. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2006, 6, 644–658, doi:10.1038/nri1900.

- 83. Hoesel, B.; Schmid, J.A. The complexity of NF-κB signaling in inflammation and cancer. *Molecular Cancer 2013 12:1* 2013, *12*, 1–15, doi:10.1186/1476-4598-12-86.
- S, J.; AR, T. Sensing of RNA viruses: a review of innate immune receptors involved in recognizing RNA virus invasion. *Journal of virology* 2012, *86*, 2900–2910, doi:10.1128/JVI.05738-11.
- Yaron, A.; Hatzubai, A.; Davis, M.; Lavon, I.; Amit, S.; Manning, A.M.; Andersen, J.S.; Mann, M.; Mercurio, F.; Ben-Neriah, Y. Identification of the receptor component of the IkappaBalpha-ubiquitin ligase. *Nature* 1998, *396*, 590–4, doi:10.1038/25159.
- 86. Hatakeyama, S.; Kitagawa, M.; Nakayama, K.; Shirane, M.; Matsumoto, M.; Hattori, K.; Higashi, H.; Nakano, H.; Okumura, K.; Onoé, K.; et al. Ubiquitin-dependent degradation of IkappaBalpha is mediated by a ubiquitin ligase Skp1/Cul 1/Fbox protein FWD1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1999, 96, 3859–63.
- Zhou, A.; Scoggin, S.; Gaynor, R.B.; Williams, N.S. Identification of NF-jB-regulated genes induced by TNFa utilizing expression profiling and RNA interference. Oncogene 2003, 22, 2034–2044, doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1206262.
- Huang, Y.; Liu, H.; Li, S.; Tang, Y.; Wei, B.; Yu, H.; Wang, C. MAVS-MKK7-JNK2 Defines a Novel Apoptotic Signaling Pathway during Viral Infection. *PLoS Pathogens* 2014, 10, e1004020, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004020.

- Rincón, M.; Davis, R.J. Regulation of the immune response by stress-activated protein kinases. *Immunological Reviews* 2009, 228, 212–224, doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00744.x.
- Silvennoinen, O.; Ihle, J.N.; Schlessinger, J.; Levy, D.E. Interferon-induced nuclear signalling by Jak protein tyrosine kinases. *Nature* 1993, *366*, 583–5, doi:10.1038/366583a0.
- Platanias, L.C. Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2005, *5*, 375–386, doi:10.1038/nri1604.
- 92. SY, L.; R, A.; K, C.; G, L.; MD, M.; JK, S.; O, P.; H, G.; R, N.; JA, Z.; et al. Interferon-inducible cholesterol-25-hydroxylase broadly inhibits viral entry by production of 25-hydroxycholesterol. *Immunity* 2013, *38*, 92–105, doi:10.1016/J.IM-MUNI.2012.11.005.
- AA, A.; CH, B.; CR, C.; AL, B.; GH, H. Interferon-inducible transmembrane protein 3 (IFITM3) restricts reovirus cell entry. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 2013, 288, 17261–17271, doi:10.1074/JBC.M112.438515.
- 94. Z, L.; Q, P.; S, D.; J, Q.; F, X.; J, Z.; S, C.; F, G.; C, L. The interferon-inducible MxB protein inhibits HIV-1 infection. *Cell host & microbe* 2013, 14, 398–410, doi:10.1016/J.CHOM.2013.08.015.
- 95. KJ, H.; NS, E.; E, Y.; S, N.; K, L.; G, F.; EM, M.; RK, J.; SM, L.; MR, B. The antiviral protein viperin inhibits hepatitis C virus replication via interaction with nonstructural protein 5A. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)* 2011, 54, 1506–1517, doi:10.1002/HEP.24542.

- P, M.; E, D.; A, R.; J, M.; L, K.; A, K.; U, Z.; MP, W.; M, T.; V, L.; et al. Identification of type I and type II interferon-induced effectors controlling hepatitis C virus replication. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)* 2012, 56, 2082–2093, doi:10.1002/HEP.25908.
- 97. WM, S.; MD, C.; CM, R. Interferon-stimulated genes: a complex web of host defenses. *Annual review of immunology* 2014, 32, 513–545, doi:10.1146/AN-NUREV-IMMUNOL-032713-120231.
- Zitvogel, L.; Galluzzi, L.; Kepp, O.; Smyth, M.J.; Kroemer, G. Type I interferons in anticancer immunity. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 2015, 15, 405–414, doi:10.1038/NRI3845.
- 99. Fuertes, M.B.; Kacha, A.K.; Kline, J.; Woo, S.-R.; Kranz, D.M.; Murphy, K.M.; Gajewski, T.F. Host type I IFN signals are required for antitumor CD8+ T cell responses through CD8α+ dendritic cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 2011, 208, 2005, doi:10.1084/JEM.20101159.
- 100. MR, P.; BA, J.; Y, J.; J, D.; S, T.; K, X.; H, W.; JE, P.; AS, D.; AK, K.; et al. Vesicular stomatitis virus expressing interferon-β is oncolytic and promotes antitumor immune responses in a syngeneic murine model of non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncotarget* 2015, *6*, 33165–33177, doi:10.18632/ONCOTARGET.5320.
- 101. CL, W.; V, S.; ZG, F.; P, W.; RM, D.; J, T.; T, K.; M, F.; G, B.; SM, A.; et al. Expression of IFN-beta enhances both efficacy and safety of oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus for therapy of mesothelioma. *Cancer research* 2009, *69*, 7713– 7720, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1013.

- 102. AO, S.; J, H.; CJ, L.; R, S.; M, Y.; J, D. Combination of interferon-expressing oncolytic adenovirus with chemotherapy and radiation is highly synergistic in hamster model of pancreatic cancer. *Oncotarget* 2018, *9*, 18041–18052, doi:10.18632/ON-COTARGET.24710.
- 103. van den Hoogen, L.L.; van Roon, J.A.G.; Mertens, J.S.; Wienke, J.; Lopes, A.P.; de Jager, W.; Rossato, M.; Pandit, A.; Wichers, C.G.K.; van Wijk, F.; et al. Galec-tin-9 is an easy to measure biomarker for the interferon signature in systemic lupus erythematosus and antiphospholipid syndrome. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* 2018, 77, 1810–1814, doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-213497.
- 104. Xiao, W.; Klement, J.D.; Lu, C.; Ibrahim, M.L.; Liu, K. IFNAR1 Controls Autocrine Type I IFN Regulation of PD-L1 Expression in Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. *The Journal of Immunology* **2018**, *201*, 264–277, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1800129.
- 105. Morimoto, Y.; Kishida, T.; Kotani, S. ichiro; Takayama, K.; Mazda, O. Interferonβ signal may up-regulate PD-L1 expression through IRF9-dependent and independent pathways in lung cancer cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2018, 507, 330–336, doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.11.035.
- 106. Bazhin, A. v.; von Ahn, K.; Fritz, J.; Werner, J.; Karakhanova, S. Interferon-α Up-Regulates the Expression of PD-L1 Molecules on Immune Cells Through STAT3 and p38 Signaling. *Frontiers in immunology* **2018**, *9*, 2129, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.02129.

- 107. Benci, J.L.; Xu, B.; Qiu, Y.; Wu, T.J.; Dada, H.; Twyman-Saint Victor, C.; Cucolo, L.; Lee, D.S.M.; Pauken, K.E.; Huang, A.C.; et al. Tumor Interferon Signaling Regulates a Multigenic Resistance Program to Immune Checkpoint Blockade. *Cell* 2016, *167*, 1540-1554.e12, doi:10.1016/J.CELL.2016.11.022.
- 108. Jacquelot, N.; Yamazaki, T.; Roberti, M.P.; Duong, C.P.M.; Andrews, M.C.; Verlingue, L.; Ferrere, G.; Becharef, S.; Vétizou, M.; Daillère, R.; et al. Sustained Type I interferon signaling as a mechanism of resistance to PD-1 blockade. *Cell Research* 2019, *29*, 846–861, doi:10.1038/s41422-019-0224-x.
- 109. Gozgit, J.M.; Vasbinder, M.M.; Abo, R.P.; Kunii, K.; Kuplast-Barr, K.G.; Gui, B.;
 Lu, A.Z.; Molina, J.R.; Minissale, E.; Swinger, K.K.; et al. PARP7 negatively regulates the type I interferon response in cancer cells and its inhibition triggers antitumor immunity. *Cancer Cell* 2021, 39, 1214-1226.e10, doi:10.1016/J.CCELL.2021.06.018.
- 110. Dock, G. The influence of complicating diseases upon leukemia. Am J Med Sci 1904, 563–592.
- S, C.; D, T. SARS-CoV-2-induced remission of Hodgkin lymphoma. *British jour*nal of haematology 2021, 192, 415, doi:10.1111/BJH.17116.
- Bridle, B.W.; Clouthier, D.; Zhang, L.; Pol, J.; Chen, L.; Lichty, B.D.; Bramson, J.L.; Wan, Y. Oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus quantitatively and qualitatively improves primary CD8 ⁺ T-cell responses to anticancer vaccines. *OncoImmunology* 2013, *2*, e26013, doi:10.4161/onci.26013.

- 113. Zhang, J.; Tai, L.-H.; Ilkow, C.S.; Alkayyal, A.A.; Ananth, A.A.; de Souza, C.T.; Wang, J.; Sahi, S.; Ly, L.; Lefebvre, C.; et al. Maraba MG1 Virus Enhances Natural Killer Cell Function via Conventional Dendritic Cells to Reduce Postoperative Metastatic Disease. *Molecular Therapy* 2014, 22, 1320–1332, doi:10.1038/mt.2014.60.
- 114. Bourgeois-Daigneault, M.-C.; Roy, D.G.; Aitken, A.S.; el Sayes, N.; Martin, N.T.; Varette, O.; Falls, T.; St-Germain, L.E.; Pelin, A.; Lichty, B.D.; et al. Neoadjuvant oncolytic virotherapy before surgery sensitizes triple-negative breast cancer to immune checkpoint therapy. *Science Translational Medicine* 2018, *10*, eaao1641, doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aao1641.
- Sobol, P.T.; Boudreau, J.E.; Stephenson, K.; Wan, Y.; Lichty, B.D.; Mossman, K.L. Adaptive antiviral immunity is a determinant of the therapeutic success of oncolytic virotherapy. *Mol Ther* 2010, *19*, 335–344, doi:mt2010264 [pii] 10.1038/mt.2010.264.
- 116. Ramakrishna, E.; Woller, N.; Mundt, B.; Knocke, S.; Gurlevik, E.; Saborowski, M.; Malek, N.; Manns, M.P.; Wirth, T.; Kuhnel, F.; et al. Antitumoral Immune Response by Recruitment and Expansion of Dendritic Cells in Tumors Infected with Telomerase-Dependent Oncolytic Viruses. *Cancer Research* 2009, *69*, 1448–1458, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1160.
- 117. Wongthida, P.; Diaz, R.M.; Galivo, F.; Kottke, T.; Thompson, J.; Melcher, A.; Vile,R. VSV oncolytic virotherapy in the B16 model depends upon intact MyD88

signaling. *Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy* **2011**, *19*, 150–8, doi:10.1038/mt.2010.225.

- 118. Zamarin, D.; Wolchok, J.D. Potentiation of immunomodulatory antibody therapy with oncolytic viruses for treatment of cancer. *Molecular therapy oncolytics* 2014, *1*, 14004, doi:10.1038/mto.2014.4.
- Zheng, M.; Huang, J.; Tong, A.; Yang, H. Oncolytic Viruses for Cancer Therapy: Barriers and Recent Advances. *Molecular Therapy - Oncolytics* 2019, *15*, 234–247, doi:10.1016/J.OMTO.2019.10.007.
- 120. Whitley, R.J.; Roizman, B. Herpes simplex virus infections. *The Lancet* 2001, 357, 1513–1518, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04638-9.
- 121. RL, M.; A, M.; JM, M.; KL, R.; DM, C. Experimental therapy of human glioma by means of a genetically engineered virus mutant. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 1991, 252, 854–856, doi:10.1126/SCIENCE.1851332.
- KL, M.; JR, S. Herpes simplex virus ICP0 and ICP34.5 counteract distinct interferon-induced barriers to virus replication. *Journal of virology* 2002, *76*, 1995– 1998, doi:10.1128/JVI.76.4.1995-1998.2002.
- 123. R, L.; RS, N.; SE, C.; RD, E.; KL, M. The herpes simplex virus ICP0 RING finger domain inhibits IRF3- and IRF7-mediated activation of interferon-stimulated genes. *Journal of virology* 2004, *78*, 1675–1684, doi:10.1128/JVI.78.4.1675-1684.2004.
- 124. JL, H.; E, S.; KL, M. The role of ICP0-Null HSV-1 and interferon signaling defects in the effective treatment of breast adenocarcinoma. *Molecular therapy: the*

journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy **2005**, *12*, 1101–1110, doi:10.1016/J.YMTHE.2005.07.533.

- 125. Payne, S. Family Rhabdoviridae. *Viruses* 2017, 165–172, doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-803109-4.00019-2.
- 126. Finkelshtein, D.; Werman, A.; Novick, D.; Barak, S.; Rubinstein, M. LDL receptor and its family members serve as the cellular receptors for vesicular stomatitis virus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2013, *110*, 7306–7311, doi:10.1073/pnas.1214441110.
- 127. Regan, A.D.; Whittaker, G.R. Entry of rhabdoviruses into animal cells. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology* 2013, 790, 167–77, doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-7651-1_9.
- 128. Gao, Y.; Lenard, J. Cooperative binding of multimeric phosphoprotein (P) of vesicular stomatitis virus to polymerase (L) and template: pathways of assembly. *Journal of virology* 1995, 69, 7718–23.
- Grdzelishvili, V.Z.; Smallwood, S.; Tower, D.; Hall, R.L.; Hunt, D.M.; Moyer, S.A. Identification of a new region in the vesicular stomatitis virus L polymerase protein which is essential for mRNA cap methylation. *Virology* 2006, *350*, 394–405, doi:10.1016/j.virol.2006.02.021.
- Ogino, T.; Banerjee, A.K. Unconventional Mechanism of mRNA Capping by the RNA-Dependent RNA Polymerase of Vesicular Stomatitis Virus. *Molecular Cell* 2007, 25, 85–97, doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2006.11.013.

- 131. Her, L.S.; Lund, E.; Dahlberg, J.E. Inhibition of Ran guanosine triphosphatase-dependent nuclear transport by the matrix protein of vesicular stomatitis virus. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **1997**, *276*, 1845–8.
- 132. Black, B.L.; Brewer, G.; Lyles, D.S. Effect of vesicular stomatitis virus matrix protein on host-directed translation in vivo. *Journal of virology* **1994**, *68*, 555–60.
- 133. Rajani, K.R.; Pettit Kneller, E.L.; McKenzie, M.O.; Horita, D.A.; Chou, J.W.; Lyles, D.S. Complexes of vesicular stomatitis virus matrix protein with host Rael and Nup98 involved in inhibition of host transcription. *PLoS pathogens* 2012, *8*, e1002929, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002929.
- Stojdl, D.F.; Lichty, B.D.; tenOever, B.R.; Paterson, J.M.; Power, A.T.; Knowles, S.; Marius, R.; Reynard, J.; Poliquin, L.; Atkins, H.; et al. VSV strains with defects in their ability to shutdown innate immunity are potent systemic anti-cancer agents. *Cancer Cell* 2003, *4*, 263–275, doi:10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00241-1.
- 135. MT, B.; KS, A.; E, L.; M, A.; HE, C.; CL, K.; AC, D.; AE, M.; SK, R.; RK, R.; et al. Genomic amplification of 9p24.1 targeting JAK2, PD-L1, and PD-L2 is enriched in high-risk triple negative breast cancer. *Oncotarget* 2015, *6*, 26483–26493, doi:10.18632/ONCOTARGET.4494.
- 136. Spranger, S.; Bao, R.; Gajewski, T.F. Melanoma-intrinsic β-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. *Nature 2015 523:7559* 2015, *523*, 231–235, doi:10.1038/NATURE14404.
- 137. W, P.; JQ, C.; C, L.; S, M.; C, C.; MT, T.; C, X.; JA, M.; C, Z.; X, L.; et al. Loss of PTEN Promotes Resistance to T Cell-Mediated Immunotherapy. *Cancer discovery* 2016, *6*, 202–216, doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0283.
- Bar, N.; Costa, F.; Das, R.; Duffy, A.; Samur, M.; McCachren, S.; Gettinger, S.N.; Neparidze, N.; Parker, T.L.; Bailur, J.K.; et al. Differential effects of PD-L1 versus PD-1 blockade on myeloid inflammation in human cancer. *JCI Insight* 2020, *5*, doi:10.1172/JCI.INSIGHT.129353.
- 139. Oh, S.A.; Wu, D.-C.; Cheung, J.; Navarro, A.; Xiong, H.; Cubas, R.; Totpal, K.; Chiu, H.; Wu, Y.; Comps-Agrar, L.; et al. PD-L1 expression by dendritic cells is a key regulator of T-cell immunity in cancer. *Nature Cancer 2020 1:7* 2020, *1*, 681– 691, doi:10.1038/s43018-020-0075-x.
- Yang, Z.; Wang, J.; Chen, C.; Sun, P.; Yu, Y. Effect of Programmed Death-Ligand
 1 in Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts on Advanced Laryngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma: *https://doi.org/10.1177/15330338211046432* 2021, 20, 153303382110464, doi:10.1177/15330338211046432.
- 141. EY, W.; H, Y.; CS, C.; K, S.; RG, C.; JL, R.; LR, K.; CH, J. Cutting edge: Regulatory T cells from lung cancer patients directly inhibit autologous T cell proliferation. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 2002, *168*, 4272–4276, doi:10.4049/JIMMUNOL.168.9.4272.
- 142. LA, O.; T, H.; H, W.; MP, M.; TF, G.; F, K. Increased populations of regulatory T cells in peripheral blood of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer research* 2005, 65, 2457–2464, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3232.

- 143. T, O.; X, Z.; M, G.; S, H.; M, T.; S, K.; HL, W. CD4+CD25- T cells that express latency-associated peptide on the surface suppress CD4+CD45RBhigh-induced colitis by a TGF-beta-dependent mechanism. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.* : 1950) 2003, 170, 2516–2522, doi:10.4049/JIMMUNOL.170.5.2516.
- 144. C, M.; L, C.; CM, C.-N.; P, B.; N, M.; L, L.; O, M.; E, R.; DE, S. Frequencies of circulating MDSC correlate with clinical outcome of melanoma patients treated with ipilimumab. *Cancer immunology, immunotherapy : CII* 2014, 63, 247–257, doi:10.1007/S00262-013-1508-5.
- 145. KN, K.; A, W.; AA, S.; S, P.-T. Blockade of myeloid-derived suppressor cells after induction of lymphopenia improves adoptive T cell therapy in a murine model of melanoma. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 2012, *189*, 5147–5154, doi:10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1200274.
- 146. Vareki, S.M. High and low mutational burden tumors versus immunologically hot and cold tumors and response to immune checkpoint inhibitors., doi:10.1186/s40425-018-0479-7.
- 147. N, E.-S.; A, V.; K, M. Tumor Heterogeneity: A Great Barrier in the Age of Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cancers* 2021, 13, 1–14, doi:10.3390/CANCERS13040806.
- 148. A, V.; O, S.; N, E.-S.; IP, M.; AL, P.; K, M.; D, H.; AA, A.; Y, W.; ST, W.; et al. Immune checkpoint blockade in triple negative breast cancer influenced by B cells through myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Communications biology* 2021, *4*, doi:10.1038/S42003-021-02375-9.

- 149. ST, W.; A, N.; D, B.; J, W.; DN, H.; KL, M.; Y, W.; A, O.; JL, B.; JA, N.; et al. De novo necroptosis creates an inflammatory environment mediating tumor susceptibility to immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Communications biology* 2020, *3*, doi:10.1038/S42003-020-01362-W.
- 150. Y, L.; H, T.; J, G.; X, Q.; Z, Y.; Z, R.; Z, S.; Y, B.; L, X.; H, X.; et al. Targeting IFNα to tumor by anti-PD-L1 creates feedforward antitumor responses to overcome checkpoint blockade resistance. *Nature communications* 2018, 9, doi:10.1038/S41467-018-06890-Y.

Chapter 2 : Tumor Heterogeneity: A Great Barrier in the Age of Cancer Immunotherapy

Preface

This is an author-produced version of an article published in *Cancers*. This article can be accessed online at: <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2072-6694/13/4/806</u>. DOI: 10.3390/can-cers13040806, PMID: 33671881. Authors: Nader El-Sayes, Alyssa Vito, Karen Mossman.

NES conceived and outlined the concepts discussed in the review and prepared the manuscript and figures. AV prepared the manuscript and figures. KM supervised the preparation and edited the manuscript.

This review discussed forms of acquired resistance to cancer immunotherapy. In particular, the focus of the review is to discuss how tumor heterogeneity can drive resistance to immunotherapy and prevent durable responses in the clinic. The review discusses how phenotypically identical cancers can greatly vary in immunogenicity from one patient to another. Furthermore, we discuss how tumors in a single patient can contain resistant subpopulations that can be selected for by therapeutic intervention. This work sets the foundation for the other chapters of this thesis: We must identify shifting factors in the TME that drive or prevent the onset of acquired resistance to immunotherapy. By understanding these shifting factors, therapeutic combinations can be developed and rationally selected to induce durable responses in the clinic. **Permissions:** No special permission is required to reuse all or part of article published by MDPI, including figures and tables. For articles published under an open access Creative Common CC BY license, any part of the article may be reused without permission provided that the original article is clearly cited. Reuse of an article does not imply endorsement by the authors or MDPI. (https://www.mdpi.com/openaccess#Permissions).

Tumor heterogeneity: a great barrier in the age of cancer immunotherapy

Nader El-Sayes^{1†}, Alyssa Vito^{1†} and Karen Mossman^{2*}

¹Department of Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences, McMaster Immunology Research Centre, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

²Department of Medicine, McMaster Immunology Research Centre, McMaster University,

Hamilton, ON, Canada

[†]These authors contributed equally to this publication.

*Correspondence: <u>mossk@mcmaster.ca</u>

Simple Summary

Despite great advances in cancer therapy, tumor heterogeneity continues to be a great barrier for the successful treatment of cancer. It has long been established that tumor heterogeneity is prevalent in most cancer patients and is a major driver of acquired resistance to all forms of cancer therapy. In the case of immunotherapy, the response of the immune system against specific tumor antigens can drive selective pressure towards antigen-negative cells, which is a common cause of relapse in the clinic. In this review we summarize the mechanisms in which tumor heterogeneity can arise. Furthermore, we discuss recent advances in the field of oncology that can be used to better identify, study, and overcome tumor heterogeneity.

Abstract

Throughout the history of oncology research, tumor heterogeneity has been a major hurdle for the successful treatment of cancer. As a result of aberrant changes in the tumor microenvironment such as high mutational burden, hypoxic conditions and abnormal

vasculature, several malignant subpopulations often exist within a single tumor mass. Therapeutic intervention can also increase selective pressure towards subpopulations with acquired resistance. This phenomenon is often the cause of relapse in previously responsive patients, drastically changing the expected outcome of therapy. In the case of cancer immunotherapy, tumor heterogeneity is a substantial barrier as acquired resistance often takes the form of antigen escape and immuno-suppression. In an effort to combat intrinsic resistance mechanisms, therapies are often combined as a multi-pronged approach to target multiple pathways simultaneously. These multi-therapy regimens have long been a mainstay of clinical oncology with chemotherapy cocktails but are more recently being investigated in the emerging landscape of immunotherapy. Furthermore, as high throughput technology becomes more affordable and accessible, researchers continue to deepen their understanding of the factors that influence tumor heterogeneity and shape the TME over the course of treatment regimens. In this review, we will investigate the factors that give rise to tumor heterogeneity and the impact it has on the field of immunotherapy. We will discuss how tumor heterogeneity causes resistance to various treatments and review the strategies currently being employed to overcome this challenging clinical hurdle. Finally, we will outline areas of research that should be prioritized to gain a better understanding of tumor heterogeneity and develop appropriate solutions.

2.1 Introduction

Major challenges with universal cancer therapy have historically been attributed to the large number of subtypes of the disease and the biological differences associated with cancers arising in different parts of the body. While this locational diversity remains a challenge for unifying cancer treatment across various types, it has now become clear that even patients with phenotypically identical cancers often have dichotomous responses to treatment [1,2]. As we have continued to investigate the inner workings of a tumor, we have discovered that cancers are formed by many distinct cellular populations, rather than a homogenous cluster of identical cells. This tumor heterogeneity can take the form of cellular and genetic heterogeneity. Cellular heterogeneity is used to describe the diversity of cells that can be found in the tumor microenvironment (TME). The presence of cancerassociated fibroblasts, endothelial cells and immune cells plays an important role in tumor progression and response to therapy. In this review, however, we will focus on the genetic heterogeneity of cancer cells within one or several tumors, which is often a driver of acquired resistance in tumors and represents a major hurdle for proper diagnosis, prognostic prediction and therapeutic efficacy [3].

It is well established that tumor heterogeneity is largely driven by aberrant changes in the TME, such as high mutational burden, hypoxic conditions and abnormal vasculature [4]. Additionally, native TME factors aside, the administration of therapy can result in selective pressure towards subpopulations with acquired resistance mechanisms [3,5]. This phenomenon is often the cause of relapse in previously responsive patients, drastically shifting expected therapeutic outcomes. As oncology research has progressed and evolved, so too has our understanding of cancer biology and the immunological synapse involved in swaying clinical prognoses. But the question still remains, how do these environmental and therapeutic situations influencing the tumor create heterogeneity and distinctive cellular populations? In 1976 Peter Nowell published a landmark perspective piece suggesting that cancer arises through an evolutionary process, similar in nature to Darwinian evolution and natural selection [6]. Nowell suggested that cancers arise through stepwise, somatic cellular mutations inevitably leading to multiple sub-clonal populations. This revelation changed the way that cancer was studied and further highlighted the need for multi-pronged therapeutic approaches and a deeper understanding of cancer at a genomic level. Indeed, as therapeutic approaches have evolved in recent decades, we have seen an insurgence of combined therapeutic modalities that can target cancer cells through differing mechanisms, with the goal of overcoming innate acquired resistance.



Figure 2.1. Clonal evolution and development of tumor heterogeneity.

In the last decade it has become evident that identifying the biological drivers of cancer will ultimately lead to personalized cancer treatment and improved clinical outcomes [7]. As such, oncologists now increasingly use molecular characterization of a sample from a primary or metastatic tumor lesion to guide their selection of treatments for an individual patient. However, this approach can prove problematic as they rely on a limited sample of cancer tissue, often obtained from a needle biopsy or surgical excision, that is unlikely to accurately capture the complete genomic landscape of a patient's cancer. For example, clinical instances have occurred in which estrogen receptor (ER) expression in a primary breast cancer sample does not mirror what is later found in a distant metastatic lesion. In fact, in 7–25% of patients ER expression was different between the two sites [8–10]. Changes in ER status may have important clinical implications because patients with tumors that lack ER expression do not benefit from treatment with endocrine therapy such as tamoxifen or aromatase inhibitors [11]. This is just one example of how temporal heterogeneity can affect clinical outcomes. Furthermore, comprehensive characterization of multiple tumor specimens obtained from the same patient illustrates that remarkable intratumor heterogeneity can exist not only in the temporal sense as in the breast cancer example, but also between geographical regions in the same tumor.

Cancer genomics studies, including large-scale collaborative sequencing projects such as The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and the International Cancer Genome Consortium (ICGC), have catalogued genetic interpatient tumor heterogeneity for cancers of the same histological subtype. Non-genetic phenotypic and functional heterogeneity is also well recognized, as is heterogeneity within the TME. As high throughput technologies become more affordable and readily accessible, researchers continue to expand their understanding of the factors that influence tumor heterogeneity and shape the TME not only at the time of diagnosis, but also over the course of treatment regimens. Here, we review the clinical implications of tumor heterogeneity for cancer diagnosis, prognostic predictions, treatment selection and resistance. We will investigate the factors that give rise to tumor heterogeneity and the impact it has on both established and emerging therapeutic regimens. We will discuss how tumor heterogeneity causes resistance to various treatments and review the strategies currently being employed to overcome this challenging clinical hurdle. Additionally, we will discuss how clinical trials that are restricted to molecular subtypes of cancer could incorporate studies of tumor heterogeneity so that we can better understand the clinical impact of heterogeneity on therapeutic efficacy and the emergence of acquired resistance.

2.2 Factors Contributing to Tumor Heterogeneity

Tumor heterogeneity can take different forms, each posing a unique challenge for successful treatment of disease and for overcoming the risk of acquired resistance. Patients with the same type of malignancy may experience vastly different clinical outcomes, both before and after treatment. This interpatient heterogeneity is often seen in the clinic and is largely attributed to differences in somatic mutations acquired in the tumor. Patients acquire mutations not only in different genes, but also in different domains within the same gene [12]. Heterogeneity is also prevalent within an individual patient and can take the form of intratumor, intermetastatic or intrametastatic heterogeneity. Intratumor heterogeneity consists of a single tumor mass which contains several distinct subpopulations of cells, each behaving differently with varied responses to therapeutic intervention [13]. Furthermore, intermetastatic heterogeneity can be observed between different tumor masses, as subpopulations of cells can migrate from the primary tumor and travel to distant sites within the body to form metastatic lesions. In fact, heterogeneity between different malignant lesions is the most common clinical observation in patients with advanced metastatic disease [13–15]. Like intratumor heterogeneity, intrametastatic heterogeneity is defined by multiple cellular subpopulations within a single metastatic lesion. In the past decade there has been an increase in research focused on studying tumor heterogeneity and its role in developing acquired resistance to many different types of cancer therapies. While assessing the emergence of heterogenous cell populations throughout the course of tumorigenesis, there has been some debate as to whether heterogenous populations are pre-existing in the tumor or developed in response to therapeutic intervention. In reality, many factors may lead to heterogeneity during tumor progression, however some types of therapy also contribute to genomic diversity by increasing the tumor mutational burden.



Figure 2.2. Forms of tumor heterogeneity that can occur between patients and in individual patients.

There have been many studies showing that heterogenous populations arise during the early stages of tumor progression, and that treatment leads to selective pressure towards resistant populations [16-20]. Among the many factors that drive tumor heterogeneity, genomic instability is most prominent in all malignancies. Many of the biological hallmarks associated with cancer development, such as limitless replicative potential, increase the mutational rate and genomic instability of malignant cells, which in turn give rise to other malignant traits [21]. This cascading effect often results in heterogeneity in the tumor as different cells acquire unique mutations that give rise to genetically distinct subpopulations [5,6,22]. For example, in normal cells the tumor suppressor p53 responds to DNA damage by triggering pathways involved in cell-cycle arrest, apoptosis, or DNA repair [23]. Mutations in p53 are some of the most frequent mutations found in human cancers and are largely associated with tumorigenesis and genomic instability [24,25]. Other hallmark traits associated with tumorigenesis may further contribute to genomic instability. For example, hypoxic conditions are often found in the TME due to the enhanced cellular kinetics and increased replicative potential that require greater oxygen uptake [4]. In one study, Lichun Ma and colleagues sampled the single-cell transcriptomic landscape of 19 patients with liver cancer [26]. They found that hypoxia-dependant VEGF expression was associated with higher transcriptomic diversity in the tumor. Furthermore, tumors with more heterogeneity contained T cells with lower cytotoxic activity and were associated with worse overall survival [5]. Indeed, hypoxia is well known to impede mismatch repair, cause genomic instability and promote the formation of subclones in the TME [4,27,28].

While tumor heterogeneity is unavoidable during tumor progression, some therapeutic interventions can further drive the formation of genetic and epigenetic diversity in the tumor. Many chemotherapies are DNA-damaging agents or agents that interfere with DNA replication/repair pathways [29,30]. This type of cellular damage results in the risk that persisting cancer cells may develop greater levels of genomic instability that can give rise to resistant populations [5]. Indeed, a study lead by McGranahan *et. al.* found an association between chemotherapy and neoantigen heterogeneity. Furthermore, neoantigen heterogeneity was associated with poor clinical outcomes in response to PD-1 and CTLA-4 blockade [31]. This concern also extends to radiation therapy, as ionizing radiation can also contribute to genomic instability and carcinogenesis [32].

2.3. Acquired Resistance and Antigen Escape

There is a plethora of innovative therapeutic approaches currently being developed for the treatment of cancer. Tumor heterogeneity acts as a major hurdle for treatment and a potentiator of acquired resistance regardless of the therapeutic approach or the type of cancer. Unlike primary resistance, acquired resistance can occur in patients that initially respond to therapy, resulting in a relapse after a period of tumor regression [33]. The mechanism of resistance caused by tumor heterogeneity is the same regardless of the treatment received. In a manner similar to that of natural selection, the composition of subpopulations in the tumor changes dynamically as a result of selective pressure exerted by therapeutic intervention and changes in the TME. Indeed, relapse of chemoresistant tumors is frequently observed in the clinic [5,34,35]. One such example was highlighted in a study led by Kim *et. al.* in which 20 patients with triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) were observed during neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NAC). They identified 10 patients with persistent chemoresistant clones after treatment. Upon further analysis using single-cell DNA and RNA sequencing, the data indicated that the resistant clones were pre-existing and adaptively selected by NAC [20]. A similar study involved genetic and histological analyses of tumor biopsies from 37 patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLCs) that developed resistance to treatment with EGFR inhibitors. Many of these tumors acquired various mechanisms of resistance, including mutations in the PIK3CA gene and epithelial to mesenchymal transition. Furthermore, some of the tumors lost their mechanisms of resistance in the absence of further EGFR inhibitor treatment and were later responsive to a secondary challenge with EGFR inhibitors [36].

Cancer immunotherapy has made extraordinary strides in the past decade, with the emergence of a variety of antibody, cell-based and virus-based therapies becoming first line treatments for some cancers. Unfortunately, populations with acquired resistance to immunotherapy can also arise because of tumor heterogeneity. The immune system can both hinder and promote tumor progression, a process known as cancer immunoediting. Cancer immunoediting can proceed through 3 distinct stages termed elimination, equilibrium and escape [37,38]. During the elimination phase, innate and adaptive immune cells work together to identify and eliminate malignant cells early during tumor progression. Some cancer cell variants may evade elimination and enter a phase of equilibrium, in which the immune system prevents further tumor progression but can inadvertently modify the immunogenicity of the cancer cells. Finally, the genetic instability of the cancer cells combined with the constant selective pressure of the immune system can give rise to new cancer

cell variants that escape immune control. In the case of immunotherapy, response against specific antigens exerts selective pressure towards antigen-negative subclones over time, a concept termed antigen escape [39]. An example of antigen escape was noted in two patients with stage IV melanoma treated by adoptive T-cell transfer. Expression of the T-cell-recognized neoantigen was lost in these patients, although it is unclear whether this form of antigen loss was caused by downregulation of the target antigen or the selection of antigen-negative variants [40]. In another study conducted by Sotillo and colleagues, samples were obtained from patients with B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemias (B-ALL) that relapsed from CD19-specific CAR T-cell therapy. They found that relapsed cells contained alternatively spliced *CD19* mRNA with an omission of exon 2. The alternatively spliced form results in an N-terminally truncated form of CD19 that retains some functionality but avoids CAR T-cell-mediated killing [41].



Figure 2.3. Selective pressure from antitumor T-cells drives resurgence of antigen-negative clones.

As previously discussed, antigen escape has become a well-documented hurdle for immunotherapy platforms that are designed to target specific antigens. At first glance this may indicate that spontaneous antitumor immunity is favorable over targeted responses and is less susceptible to acquired resistance mediated by antigen escape. Immunotherapy platforms such as immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) and *in situ* vaccines are examples of therapies that can potentiate spontaneous antitumor responses, however spontaneous CD8⁺ T-cell immunity will likely be restricted to a few dominant neoantigens [42–45]. Therefore, spontaneous antitumor responses can also exert selective pressure towards antigen-negative clones. In one study, mice bearing B16 murine melanoma were vaccinated with plasmids encoding hsp70 and the HSVtk suicide gene. The authors found that suboptimal plasmid vaccination selected for aggressive tumor variants that lost the immunodominant neoantigen while retaining the expression of other known melanoma antigens [46]. Similar conclusions can be made from another study that examined the evolving landscape of tumor neoantigens during the emergence of acquired resistance in patients with NSCLC after treatment with ICB therapy. They report that resistant tumors lost the expression of neoantigens that were recognized by the host antitumor T-cells [47]. Shifts from dominant to secondary neoantigens have been observed in some cases and will be discussed further in section 5, however shifts in antigen specificity are rare occurrences in the absence of deliberate intervention. The prevalence of antigen escape as a mechanism of acquired resistance to immunotherapy underscores the importance of further research to understand and manipulate the dynamic landscape of the TME.

2.4. Strategies for Identifying Tumor Heterogeneity

Since the first report of cancer genome sequencing appeared in 2006 [48], research involving genomic data has gained traction, with clinical implications rapidly revealing themselves. Initially, progress in obtaining such large datasets was hindered by the high cost and limited availability of whole tumor sequencing, preventing researchers and clinicians from readily taking advantage of the technology. However, over the years sequencing facilities have become more widespread and costs have gradually reduced, allowing for an explosion of cancer genomic data and publicly available datasets.

In 2006 the TCGA program began, a landmark cancer genomics program that characterized over 20,000 primary cancer and matched normal samples spanning 33 cancer types. This joint effort between the National Cancer Institute and the National Human Genome Research Institute brought together researchers from a wide range of disciplines and multiple institutions. Over a span of 12 years, TCGA generated over 2.5 petabytes of genomic, epigenomic, transcriptomic and proteomic data. These datasets were released publicly and have since been used to improve diagnosis, treatment, and cancer prevention with over 11,000 publications utilizing the data from this massive collaborative effort.

The goal of sequencing cancer genomes is to develop a better understanding of factors that potentiate or hinder tumor progression at cellular and molecular levels. Sequencing data can be used for biomarker discovery to improve diagnoses, drug target discovery for therapeutic intervention and personalized medicine by matching patients with the treatment most likely to be efficacious against their disease. In the case of heterogeneity, the latter is of particular importance as sequencing efforts can help to identify heterogeneity within a tumor and also within multiple lesions from the same patient. However, most datasets obtained have one major limitation: clinical details of the sample donors are often incomplete or missing altogether. In fact, the first cohort of samples collected for TCGA were complimented with only the donor's gender, diagnosis and age at diagnosis. Key clinical data such as the administered therapy and clinical outcomes were often not included. The future of cancer genome sequencing aims to eliminate these restraints but will have to overcome strict patient privacy laws and the lack of a centralized hub for all data.

In the context of heterogeneity, the more recent development of single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) is particularly exciting, as it enables the determination of not only the frequency of individual mutations, but also determination of co-occurring and mutually exclusive alterations. Indeed, scRNA-seq has been used to demonstrate the presence of

multiple cell populations within a tumor, each belonging to a distinct molecular group [49– 51]. Furthermore, Kinker and colleagues have used scRNA-seq to investigate the ability of cultured cell lines to recapitulate the heterogeneity observed among malignant cells in human tumors [52]. They profiled 198 cancer cell lines from 22 cancer types and identified 12 expression programs as being heterogenous across multiple cancer cell lines. These programs, including cell cycle, senescence, stress and interferon responses, were further shown to recapitulate those recently identified as being heterogenous in expression within human tumors. This information allowed the researchers to identify specific cell lines as being the most relevant models of cellular heterogeneity, which they then used to study subpopulations of senescence-related cells, demonstrating their unique drug sensitivities, which were predictive of clinical response. This extensive and thorough body of work is a prime example of how scRNA-seq can be used to identify recurrent patterns of heterogeneity that are shared between tumors and the models we use for preclinical development.

Circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA), released from both normal and cancerous cells, has recently arisen as an exciting new biomarker in the field of oncology. ctDNA is characterized as DNA that contain genetic changes that can be used for identifying cancer. Many studies have reported impressive clinical data with cancer detection accuracy ranging from 50 – 70% [53–55]. Genomic characterization of ctDNA or circulating tumour cells may offer an opportunity to assess clonal dynamics throughout the course of a patient's illness and identify drivers of therapeutic resistance. In one study, Ma and colleagues showed that ctDNA can be used to assess tumor heterogeneity and predict treatment outcomes in metastatic breast cancer [56].

High throughput technologies such as scRNA-seq and innovative biomarker discovery strategies such as ctDNA are just some of the ways that the field of cancer research is rising to the challenge of identifying and tackling tumor heterogeneity. These technologies are becoming cheaper and more accessible, enabling a deeper understanding of the frequent changes in the TME and for the monitoring in both pre-clinical and clinical settings. These developments allow for more personalized solutions to the ever-changing landscape of tumors and can be used to predict the efficacy of therapeutic combination strategies, improving clinical outcomes and sparing patients from aggressive therapies that may provide no benefit to their tumor phenotype.

2.5. Emerging Strategies to Overcome Tumor Heterogeneity

The strong association between tumor heterogeneity and poor clinical prognosis has rekindled research for developing strategies to overcome tumor heterogeneity. The oldest and most common approach is to combine therapies with different mechanisms of action in a multi-pronged attempt to prevent the selection of resistant populations. Combination therapies have become commonplace for classical chemotherapy, with most therapeutic regimens involving the combination of different chemotherapeutic agents with or without surgical resection [57]. This strategy has extended to combining chemotherapy and immunotherapy with promising pre-clinical and clinical results. One meta-analysis of 12 phase-III clinical trials highlights the benefits of combining chemotherapy with atezolizumab and/or pembrolizumab in patients with NSCLC [58]. A similar example can be seen in a phase-III clinical trial in which the combination of Atezolizumab and nab-paclitaxel showed improved progression-free survival in patients with metastatic TNBC [59]. In a pre-clinical study by Nguyen et. al., the authors utilized a combination strategy to eliminate antigen-negative tumors that arose after treatment with adoptive T cell therapy (ACT) followed by oncolytic virus vaccination. They found that the addition of a class I histone deacetylase inhibitor (HDACi) to the therapeutic regimen reprogrammed immunosuppressive tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells to eliminate antigen-negative tumor cells [60]. Indeed, many studies have demonstrated the efficacy of chemotherapy when combined with ICB [61,62], oncolytic viruses [63–65], and cell-based immunotherapies [66–68]. As discussed previously, some therapies may contribute to the genomic instability in cancer cells that can give rise to resistant subclones. Instead of attempting to prevent more genomic instability in the tumor, some combination therapies are designed to exploit this property for therapeutic benefit. Zhang and colleagues report that Cyclin-dependent kinase 7 (CDK7) can be used to potentiate genomic instability, which triggers an antitumor immune response. Addition of anti-PD-1 therapy enhanced the antitumor response and offered a significant survival benefit in a murine small cell lung cancer model [69].

Combination therapies for the treatment of cancer often outperform their respective monotherapies in progression-free survival and overall survival, however this does not guarantee the prevention of resistant subclones relapsing after initial treatment. In the context of immunotherapy, antigen escape is often a source of acquired resistance. One method to prevent antigen escape is to expand the antitumor response to generate a more diverse immune repertoire that would be better suited to target heterogenous tumors. Data from several studies suggest that multi-peptide vaccines can be designed to create a response against several tumor antigens simultaneously [70–72]. In one of these studies, the authors

designed a multi-antigen vaccine for renal cell cancer patients that increases the breadth of the immune response and resulted in better disease control compared to patients that responded to a single peptide [72]. Perhaps one of the greatest drawbacks to a multi-antigen vaccine strategy is the lack of known tumor antigens in many cancers. However, new generation high throughput technologies have enabled great strides for identifying tumor neoantigens [44]. In two preclinical studies, an in silico approach was used to identify immunogenic neoantigens which were then used to design multi-antigen vaccines [73,74]. Ideally, incorporating in silico and high throughput approaches could be used to design multiantigen vaccines throughout the dynamic course of treatment and tumor progression.

Finally, enhancing the T-cell repertoire through antigen spread could allow for a broadened immune response regardless of the primary response. Antigen spread (also known as determinant spread and epitope spread) is the expansion of an immune response from a dominant antigen to secondary antigens. Expansion to secondary antigens could include different epitopes from the same antigen or from other antigens [75]. Antigen spread can occur during cell lysis, which releases potential secondary antigens that can be taken up and cross-presented by antigen presenting cells [75]. Interestingly, antigen spread has been observed in the clinic and is associated with improved prognosis [76]. In one clinical study, patients with stage III-IV melanoma were treated with autologous dendritic cells pulsed with an immunodominant epitope (MART-1 27-35). While MART-1-specific immunity did not correlate with clinical outcome, the only patient with a complete response developed immunity against other melanoma epitopes that were not included in the vaccine [77]. Antigen spread has been observed in several other pre-clinical and clinical studies

[78–81], however it is unclear if antigen spread can be deliberately induced through therapeutic intervention. One group demonstrated that radiation therapy can cause an expansion of the T-cell repertoire in a murine melanoma model, which allowed for improved survival when combined with ICB [82]. As previously mentioned, antigen spread likely occurs because of cell lysis in the TME, which suggests that immunogenic forms of cell death could be used to potentiate antigen spread, however more research is needed to support this theory.

Table 2.1 Therapeutic strategies to combat tumor heterogeneity. ICB = Immune checkpoint blockade, OV = oncolytic virus, ACT = adoptive T cell transfer, OVV = oncolytic virus vaccine, HDACi = class I histone deacetylase inhibitor, CDK7 = cyclin-dependent kinase 7, RCC = renal cell carcinoma.

Approach	Rationale	Examples
		1. Chemotherapy + ICB improves progres-
		sion-free survival in patients [58,61,62,83]
Combination Therapies	Using a multi-pronged ap-	
	proach to target multiple path-	2. Chemotherapy + OV improved thera-
	ways simultaneously, prevent-	peutic efficacy [63-65]
	ing selection of resistant popu-	
	lations	3. Chemotherapy + cell-based therapies
		[66–68]

4. ACT + OVV + HDACi reprogrammed

immunosuppressive myeloid cells, elimi-

nating antigen-negative tumor cells in

mice [60]

5. CDK7 + ICB enhanced antitumor im-

munity and prolonged survival outcomes

in mice [69]

1. Multi-antigen vaccine in RCC patients increased the breadth of the immune response and resulted in better disease con-

trol [72]

 Multi-Peptide
 Designed to create a response

 Multi-Peptide
 against several tumor antigens

 Vaccines
 2. Im

 simultaneously
 identition

2. Immunogenic neoantigens were first identified and then used to design multiantigen vaccines, improving therapeutic outcomes [73,74]

		1. Autologous DCs pulsed with an immu-
		nodominant epitope resulted in antigen
Antigen Spread	Intended to enhance the T-cell	spread in one patient, resulting in a com-
	repertoire, allowing for expan-	plete response to treatment [77]
	sion of the immune response	
	from a dominant antigen to	2. Radiation therapy can expand T-cell
	secondary antigens	repertoire, allowing for improved survival
		when combined with ICB [82]

2.6. Conclusions and future perspectives

The phenomenon of tumor heterogeneity and clonal evolution in cancers has long been identified as a major driver of tumor development, metastasis and acquired resistance mechanisms. The availability of next-generation sequencing and advances in the field of bioinformatics have enabled clinicians to assess this previously elusive phenomenon in real-time clinical settings. However, as we uncover new ways of detecting and monitoring heterogeneity, we must also in parallel assess the ways that various forms of heterogeneity contribute to clinical outcomes across the full spectrum of cancer types and therapeutic modalities.

In order to fully understand the natural progression of tumor heterogeneity and the clinical implications associated with various forms of therapy, it is important that clinical trial design incorporates ways of assessing heterogeneity into newly developed studies. For high level reproducibility in clinical research and diagnostics, it will be necessary to establish streamlined, standardized analytical methods. For example, liquid biopsies for plasma DNA analysis are currently recognized as the best method to study recurrent tumors that are refractory to therapy, and widespread clinical use of this technique could be highly beneficial to the field. Indeed, it has already been suggested that at least two types of methodological approaches should be considered to assess clinical heterogeneity [84]. Stanta and colleagues have reasonably suggested that surgically treated tumors should undergo a thorough analysis of tissues to drive the appropriately selected adjuvant therapy, and in recurrent cancer, follow-up should consider the inclusion of blood analysis of ctDNA. Another example is the use of radiomics, which is an emerging field of medical image analysis that utilizes radiological images to predict patient outcomes. It has been proposed that radiomics could be used to quantify tumor heterogeneity [85,86]. Since radiological images are frequently taken for diagnostic purposes, the ability to track tumor heterogeneity throughout tumor progression would be extremely valuable for furthering our understanding of tumor heterogeneity. Careful consideration of inclusion of such techniques into evolving clinical practice will further increase the wealth of data available to researchers and clinicians in an effort to identify correlative changes.

As the field of immunotherapy continues to progress and immunotherapies solidify their place as a true pillar of cancer therapy, the clinical hurdle of tumor heterogeneity so too moves to the forefront of oncologic research. As we study the immunological synapse associated with immunotherapy outcomes and in particular, patients who are refractory to treatment with immunotherapy, we need to simultaneously assess the dynamic shifts of the TME and heterogeneity levels. Incorporating innovative, high-level techniques, we can move cancer treatment into the realm of personalized medicine and monitor patients and their response to therapy in real-time clinical settings. Understanding the evolutionary drivers for heterogeneity will be key in mapping out primary tumorigenesis, metastatic formation, and relapsed disease as we continue to work towards improving outcomes and quality of life for patients affected by cancer.

Author Contributions: N.E.-S. and A.V. conceived of and wrote the review. K.M. reviewed and edited the review. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

This research received no external funding.

Acknowledgments

Research in the Mossman Lab is funded by the Canadian Cancer Society Research Institute, the Canadian Institutes for Health Research and the Terry Fox Research Institute. A.V. holds a Vanier Canada Graduate Scholarship. All figures were created with BioRender.com.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Lesterhuis, W.J.; Rinaldi, C.; Jones, A.; Rozali, E.N.; Dick, I.M.; Khong, A.; Boon, L.; Robinson, B.W.; Nowak, A.K.; Bosco, A.; et al. Network analysis of immunotherapy-induced regressing tumours identifies novel synergistic drug combinations. *Sci. Rep.* 2015, doi:10.1038/srep12298.
- Xu, Z.; Park, Y.; Liu, K.; Zhu, B. Treating non-responders: Pitfalls and implications for cancer immunotherapy trial design. *J. Hematol. Oncol.* 2020, doi:10.1186/s13045-020-0847-x.
- 3. Lim, Z.F.; Ma, P.C. Emerging insights of tumor heterogeneity and drug resistance mechanisms in lung cancer targeted therapy. *J. Hematol. Oncol.* 2019.
- Vito, A.; El-Sayes, N.; Mossman, K. Hypoxia-Driven Immune Escape in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Cells* 2020, *9*, 992, doi:10.3390/cells9040992.
- Dagogo-Jack, I.; Shaw, A.T. Tumour heterogeneity and resistance to cancer therapies. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 2018, *15*, 81–94.
- Nowell, P.C. The clonal evolution of tumor cell populations. *Science (80-.).* 1976, doi:10.1126/science.959840.
- Bailey, M.H.; Tokheim, C.; Porta-Pardo, E.; Sengupta, S.; Bertrand, D.; Weerasinghe, A.; Colaprico, A.; Wendl, M.C.; Kim, J.; Reardon, B.; et al. Comprehensive Characterization of Cancer Driver Genes and Mutations. *Cell* 2018, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2018.02.060.
- Amir, E.; Miller, N.; Geddie, W.; Freedman, O.; Kassam, F.; Simmons, C.; Oldfield,
 M.; Dranitsaris, G.; Tomlinson, G.; Laupacis, A.; et al. Prospective study evaluating

the impact of tissue confirmation of metastatic disease in patients with breast cancer. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2012**, doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.33.5232.

- Gong, Y.; Han, E.Y.; Guo, M.; Pusztai, L.; Sneige, N. Stability of estrogen receptor status in breast carcinoma. *Cancer* 2011, doi:10.1002/cncr.25506.
- Thompson, A.M.; Jordan, L.B.; Quinlan, P.; Anderson, E.; Skene, A.; Dewar, J.A.; Purdie, C.A. Prospective comparison of switches in biomarker status between primary and recurrent breast cancer: The Breast Recurrence In Tissues Study (BRITS). *Breast Cancer Res.* 2010, doi:10.1186/bcr2771.
- Abe, O.; Abe, R.; Enomoto, K.; Kikuchi, K.; Koyama, H.; Masuda, H.; Nomura, Y.; Ohashi, Y.; Sakai, K.; Sugimachi, K.; et al. Relevance of breast cancer hormone receptors and other factors to the efficacy of adjuvant tamoxifen: Patient-level metaanalysis of randomised trials. *Lancet* 2011, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60993-8.
- Jamal-Hanjani, M.; Quezada, S.A.; Larkin, J.; Swanton, C. Translational implications of tumor heterogeneity. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2015, *21*, 1258–1266.
- Vogelstein, B.; Papadopoulos, N.; Velculescu, V.E.; Zhou, S.; Diaz, L.A.; Kinzler,
 K.W. Cancer genome landscapes. *Science (80-.).* 2013, *340*, 1546–1558.
- Yachida, S.; Jones, S.; Bozic, I.; Antal, T.; Leary, R.; Fu, B.; Kamiyama, M.; Hruban, R.H.; Eshleman, J.R.; Nowak, M.A.; et al. Distant metastasis occurs late during the genetic evolution of pancreatic cancer. *Nature* 2010, 467, 1114–1117, doi:10.1038/nature09515.
- Campbell, P.J.; Yachida, S.; Mudie, L.J.; Stephens, P.J.; Pleasance, E.D.; Stebbings,
 L.A.; Morsberger, L.A.; Latimer, C.; McLaren, S.; Lin, M.L.; et al. The patterns and

dynamics of genomic instability in metastatic pancreatic cancer. *Nature* **2010**, *467*, 1109–1113, doi:10.1038/nature09460.

- Bhang, H.E.C.; Ruddy, D.A.; Radhakrishna, V.K.; Caushi, J.X.; Zhao, R.; Hims, M.M.; Singh, A.P.; Kao, I.; Rakiec, D.; Shaw, P.; et al. Studying clonal dynamics in response to cancer therapy using high-complexity barcoding. *Nat. Med.* 2015, *21*, 440–448, doi:10.1038/nm.3841.
- Oxnard, G.R.; Hu, Y.; Mileham, K.F.; Husain, H.; Costa, D.B.; Tracy, P.; Feeney, N.; Sholl, L.M.; Dahlberg, S.E.; Redig, A.J.; et al. Assessment of Resistance Mechanisms and Clinical Implications in Patients with EGFR T790M-Positive Lung Cancer and Acquired Resistance to Osimertinib. *JAMA Oncol.* 2018, *4*, 1527–1534, doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.2969.
- Seth, S.; Li, C.Y.; Ho, I.L.; Corti, D.; Loponte, S.; Sapio, L.; Del Poggetto, E.; Yen,
 E.Y.; Robinson, F.S.; Peoples, M.; et al. Pre-existing Functional Heterogeneity of Tumorigenic Compartment as the Origin of Chemoresistance in Pancreatic Tumors. *Cell Rep.* 2019, *26*, 1518-1532.e9, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2019.01.048.
- Gainor, J.F.; Dardaei, L.; Yoda, S.; Friboulet, L.; Leshchiner, I.; Katayama, R.; Dagogo-Jack, I.; Gadgeel, S.; Schultz, K.; Singh, M.; et al. Molecular mechanisms of resistance to first- and second-generation ALK inhibitors in ALK -rearranged lung cancer. *Cancer Discov.* 2016, *6*, 1118–1133, doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-0596.
- Kim, C.; Gao, R.; Sei, E.; Brandt, R.; Hartman, J.; Hatschek, T.; Crosetto, N.; Foukakis, T.; Navin, N.E. Chemoresistance Evolution in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Delineated by Single-Cell Sequencing. *Cell* 2018, 173, 879-893.e13,

doi:10.1016/j.cell.2018.03.041.

- Hanahan, D.; Weinberg, R.A. Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. *Cell* **2011**, *144*, 646–674, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013.
- Marusyk, A.; Polyak, K. Tumor heterogeneity: Causes and consequences. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Rev. Cancer* 2010, *1805*, 105–117.
- Lakin, N.D.; Jackson, S.P. Regulation of p53 in response to DNA damage. Oncogene 1999, 18, 7644–7655.
- 24. Olivier, M.; Hollstein, M.; Hainaut, P. TP53 mutations in human cancers: origins, consequences, and clinical use. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 2010, *2*.
- Lodish, H.; Berk, A.; Zipursky, S.L.; Matsudaira, P.; Baltimore, D.; Darnell, J. Mutations Affecting Genome Stability. 2000.
- Ma, L.; Hernandez, M.O.; Zhao, Y.; Mehta, M.; Tran, B.; Kelly, M.; Rae, Z.; Hernandez, J.M.; Davis, J.L.; Martin, S.P.; et al. Tumor Cell Biodiversity Drives Microenvironmental Reprogramming in Liver Cancer. *Cancer Cell* 2019, *36*, 418-430.e6, doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2019.08.007.
- 27. Luoto, K.R.; Kumareswaran, R.; Bristow, R.G. Tumor hypoxia as a driving force in genetic instability. *Genome Integr.* 2013, *4*.
- Kumareswaran, R.; Ludkovski, O.; Meng, A.; Sykes, J.; Pintilie, M.; Bristow, R.G. Chronic hypoxia compromises repair of DNA double-strand breaks to drive genetic instability. *J. Cell Sci.* 2012, *125*, 189–199, doi:10.1242/jcs.092262.
- 29. Cheung-Ong, K.; Giaever, G.; Nislow, C. DNA-damaging agents in cancer chemotherapy: Serendipity and chemical biology. *Chem. Biol.* 2013, *20*, 648–659.

- Gourzones, C.; Bret, C.; Moreaux, J. Treatment May Be Harmful: Mechanisms/Prediction/Prevention of Drug-Induced DNA Damage and Repair in Multiple Myeloma. *Front. Genet.* 2019, *10*, 861.
- McGranahan, N.; Furness, A.J.S.; Rosenthal, R.; Ramskov, S.; Lyngaa, R.; Saini, S.K.; Jamal-Hanjani, M.; Wilson, G.A.; Birkbak, N.J.; Hiley, C.T.; et al. Clonal neoantigens elicit T cell immunoreactivity and sensitivity to immune checkpoint blockade. *Science* 2016, *351*, 1463–9, doi:10.1126/science.aaf1490.
- 32. Huang, L.; Snyder, A.R.; Morgan, W.F. Radiation-induced genomic instability and its implications for radiation carcinogenesis. *Oncogene* 2003, *22*, 5848–5854.
- Sharma, P.; Hu-Lieskovan, S.; Wargo, J.A.; Ribas, A. Primary, Adaptive, and Acquired Resistance to Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cell* 2017, *168*, 707–723, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.01.017.
- 34. Hata, A.; Katakami, N.; Yoshioka, H.; Kaji, R.; Masago, K.; Fujita, S.; Imai, Y.; Nishiyama, A.; Ishida, T.; Nishimura, Y.; et al. Spatiotemporal T790M heterogeneity in individual patients with EGFR-mutant non-small-cell lung cancer after acquired resistance to EGFR-TKI. *J. Thorac. Oncol.* 2015, 10, 1553–1559, doi:10.1097/JTO.00000000000647.
- Carreira, S.; Romanel, A.; Goodall, J.; Grist, E.; Ferraldeschi, R.; Miranda, S.;
 Prandi, D.; Lorente, D.; Frenel, J.S.; Pezaro, C.; et al. Tumor clone dynamics in lethal prostate cancer. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 2014, *6*, doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3009448.
- Sequist, L. V.; Waltman, B.A.; Dias-Santagata, D.; Digumarthy, S.; Turke, A.B.;
 Fidias, P.; Bergethon, K.; Shaw, A.T.; Gettinger, S.; Cosper, A.K.; et al. Genotypic

and histological evolution of lung cancers acquiring resistance to EGFR inhibitors. *Sci. Transl. Med.* **2011**, *3*, 75ra26, doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3002003.

- Schreiber, R.D.; Old, L.J.; Smyth, M.J. Cancer immunoediting: Integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. *Science (80-.).* 2011, *331*, 1565– 1570.
- O'Donnell, J.S.; Teng, M.W.L.; Smyth, M.J. Cancer immunoediting and resistance to T cell-based immunotherapy. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 2019, *16*, 151–167.
- Vyas, M.; Müller, R.; von Strandmann, E.P. Antigen loss variants: Catching hold of escaping foes. *Front. Immunol.* 2017, *8*, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00175.
- Verdegaal, E.M.E.; de Miranda, N.F.C.C.; Visser, M.; Harryvan, T.; van Buuren, M.M.; Andersen, R.S.; Hadrup, S.R.; van der Minne, C.E.; Schotte, R.; Spits, H.; et al. Neoantigen landscape dynamics during human melanoma–T cell interactions. *Nature* 2016, *536*, 91–95, doi:10.1038/nature18945.
- Sotillo, E.; Barrett, D.M.; Black, K.L.; Bagashev, A.; Oldridge, D.; Wu, G.; Sussman, R.; Lanauze, C.; Ruella, M.; Gazzara, M.R.; et al. Convergence of acquired mutations and alternative splicing of CD19 enables resistance to CART-19 immunotherapy. *Cancer Discov.* 2015, *5*, 1282–1295, doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-1020.
- Ren, L.; Leisegang, M.; Deng, B.; Matsuda, T.; Kiyotani, K.; Kato, T.; Harada, M.; Park, J.H.; Saloura, V.; Seiwert, T.; et al. Identification of neoantigen-specific T cells and their targets: implications for immunotherapy of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncoimmunology* 2019, *8*, doi:10.1080/2162402X.2019.1568813.

- Linette, G.P.; Becker-Hapak, M.; Skidmore, Z.L.; Baroja, M.L.; Xu, C.; Hundal, J.; Spencer, D.H.; Fu, W.; Cummins, C.; Robnett, M.; et al. Immunological ignorance is an enabling feature of the oligo-clonal T cell response to melanoma neoantigens. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2019, *116*, 23662–23670, doi:10.1073/pnas.1906026116.
- Yadav, M.; Jhunjhunwala, S.; Phung, Q.T.; Lupardus, P.; Tanguay, J.; Bumbaca, S.;
 Franci, C.; Cheung, T.K.; Fritsche, J.; Weinschenk, T.; et al. Predicting immunogenic tumour mutations by combining mass spectrometry and exome sequencing. *Nature* 2014, *515*, 572–576, doi:10.1038/nature14001.
- Gubin, M.M.; Zhang, X.; Schuster, H.; Caron, E.; Ward, J.P.; Noguchi, T.; Ivanova, Y.; Hundal, J.; Arthur, C.D.; Krebber, W.J.; et al. Checkpoint blockade cancer immunotherapy targets tumour-specific mutant antigens. *Nature* 2014, *515*, 577–581, doi:10.1038/nature13988.
- Sanchez-Perez, L.; Kottke, T.; Diaz, R.M.; Ahmed, A.; Thompson, J.; Chong, H.; Melcher, A.; Holmen, S.; Daniels, G.; Vile, R.G. Potent Selection of Antigen Loss Variants of B16 Melanoma following Inflammatory Killing of Melanocytes *In vivo*. *Cancer Res.* 2005, *65*, 2009–2017, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3216.
- Anagnostou, V.; Smith, K.N.; Forde, P.M.; Niknafs, N.; Bhattacharya, R.; White, J.;
 Zhang, T.; Adleff, V.; Phallen, J.; Wali, N.; et al. Evolution of neoantigen landscape during immune checkpoint blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Discov.* 2017, 7, 264–276, doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-0828.
- 48. Sjöblom, T.; Jones, S.; Wood, L.D.; Parsons, D.W.; Lin, J.; Barber, T.D.;

Mandelker, D.; Leary, R.J.; Ptak, J.; Silliman, N.; et al. The consensus coding sequences of human breast and colorectal cancers. *Science (80-.).* **2006**, doi:10.1126/science.1133427.

- 49. Roerink, S.F.; Sasaki, N.; Lee-Six, H.; Young, M.D.; Alexandrov, L.B.; Behjati, S.; Mitchell, T.J.; Grossmann, S.; Lightfoot, H.; Egan, D.A.; et al. Intra-tumour diversification in colorectal cancer at the single-cell level. *Nature* 2018, doi:10.1038/s41586-018-0024-3.
- Puram, S. V.; Tirosh, I.; Parikh, A.S.; Patel, A.P.; Yizhak, K.; Gillespie, S.; Rodman, C.; Luo, C.L.; Mroz, E.A.; Emerick, K.S.; et al. Single-Cell Transcriptomic Analysis of Primary and Metastatic Tumor Ecosystems in Head and Neck Cancer. *Cell* 2017, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.10.044.
- 51. Patel, A.P.; Tirosh, I.; Trombetta, J.J.; Shalek, A.K.; Gillespie, S.M.; Wakimoto, H.; Cahill, D.P.; Nahed, B. V.; Curry, W.T.; Martuza, R.L.; et al. Single-cell RNA-seq highlights intratumoral heterogeneity in primary glioblastoma. *Science (80-.).* 2014, doi:10.1126/science.1254257.
- Kinker, G.S.; Greenwald, A.C.; Tal, R.; Orlova, Z.; Cuoco, M.S.; McFarland, J.M.; Warren, A.; Rodman, C.; Roth, J.A.; Bender, S.A.; et al. Pan-cancer single-cell RNA-seq identifies recurring programs of cellular heterogeneity. *Nat. Genet.* 2020, doi:10.1038/s41588-020-00726-6.
- Phallen, J.; Sausen, M.; Adleff, V.; Leal, A.; Hruban, C.; White, J.; Anagnostou, V.;
 Fiksel, J.; Cristiano, S.; Papp, E.; et al. Direct detection of early-stage cancers using circulating tumor DNA. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 2017, doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aan2415.
- Cohen, J.D.; Li, L.; Wang, Y.; Thoburn, C.; Afsari, B.; Danilova, L.; Douville, C.; Javed, A.A.; Wong, F.; Mattox, A.; et al. Detection and localization of surgically resectable cancers with a multi-analyte blood test. *Science (80-.).* 2018, doi:10.1126/science.aar3247.
- 55. Cristiano, S.; Leal, A.; Phallen, J.; Fiksel, J.; Adleff, V.; Bruhm, D.C.; Jensen, S.Ø.; Medina, J.E.; Hruban, C.; White, J.R.; et al. Genome-wide cell-free DNA fragmentation in patients with cancer. *Nature* 2019, doi:10.1038/s41586-019-1272-6.
- 56. Ma, F.; Guan, Y.; Yi, Z.; Chang, L.; Li, Q.; Chen, S.; Zhu, W.; Guan, X.; Li, C.; Qian, H.; et al. Assessing tumor heterogeneity using ctDNA to predict and monitor therapeutic response in metastatic breast cancer. *Int. J. Cancer* 2020, doi:10.1002/ijc.32536.
- 57. Malhotra, V.; Perry, M.C. Classical chemotherapy: mechanisms, toxicities and the therapeutic window. *Cancer Biol Ther* **2003**, *2*, S2-4, doi:10.4161/cbt.199.
- 58. Dafni, U.; Tsourti, Z.; Vervita, K.; Peters, S. Immune checkpoint inhibitors, alone or in combination with chemotherapy, as first-line treatment for advanced non-small cell lung cancer. A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Lung Cancer* 2019, *134*, 127–140.
- Schmid, P.; Adams, S.; Rugo, H.S.; Schneeweiss, A.; Barrios, C.H.; Iwata, H.; Diéras, V.; Hegg, R.; Im, S.-A.; Shaw Wright, G.; et al. Atezolizumab and Nab-Paclitaxel in Advanced Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2018, *379*, 2108–2121, doi:10.1056/nejmoa1809615.
- 60. Nguyen, A.; Ho, L.; Workenhe, S.T.; Chen, L.; Samson, J.; Walsh, S.R.; Pol, J.;

Bramson, J.L.; Wan, Y. HDACi Delivery Reprograms Tumor-Infiltrating Myeloid Cells to Eliminate Antigen-Loss Variants. *Cell Rep.* **2018**, *24*, 642–654, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2018.06.040.

- Heinhuis, K.M.; Ros, W.; Kok, M.; Steeghs, N.; Beijnen, J.H.; Schellens, J.H.M. Enhancing antitumor response by combining immune checkpoint inhibitors with chemotherapy in solid tumors. *Ann. Oncol.* 2019, *30*, 219–235.
- Ariyan, C.E.; Brady, M.S.; Siegelbaum, R.H.; Hu, J.; Bello, D.M.; Rand, J.; Fisher, C.; Lefkowitz, R.A.; Panageas, K.S.; Pulitzer, M.; et al. Robust antitumor responses result from local chemotherapy and CTLA-4 Blockade. *Cancer Immunol. Res.* 2018, 6, 189–200, doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0356.
- Workenhe, S.T.; Nguyen, A.; Bakhshinyan, D.; Wei, J.; Hare, D.N.; MacNeill, K.L.;
 Wan, Y.; Oberst, A.; Bramson, J.L.; Nasir, J.A.; et al. De novo necroptosis creates an inflammatory environment mediating tumor susceptibility to immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Commun. Biol.* 2020, *3*, doi:10.1038/s42003-020-01362-w.
- 64. Workenhe, S.T.; Pol, J.G.; Lichty, B.D.; Cummings, D.T.; Mossman, K.L. Combining oncolytic HSV-1 with immunogenic cell death-inducing drug mitoxantrone breaks cancer immune tolerance and improves therapeutic efficacy. *Cancer Immunol Res* 2013, *1*, 309–319, doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0059-T.
- 65. Bourgeois-Daigneault, M.-C.; St-Germain, L.E.; Roy, D.G.; Pelin, A.; Aitken, A.S.; Arulanandam, R.; Falls, T.; Garcia, V.; Diallo, J.-S.; Bell, J.C. Combination of Paclitaxel and MG1 oncolytic virus as a successful strategy for breast cancer treatment. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2016, *18*, 83, doi:10.1186/s13058-016-0744-y.

- 66. Cui, J.; Li, L.; Wang, C.; Jin, H.; Yao, C.; Wang, Y.; Li, D.; Tian, H.; Niu, C.; Wang,
 G.; et al. Combined cellular immunotherapy and chemotherapy improves clinical outcome in patients with gastric carcinoma. *Cytotherapy* 2015, *17*, 979–988, doi:10.1016/j.jcyt.2015.03.605.
- Brentjens, R.J.; Rivière, I.; Park, J.H.; Davila, M.L.; Wang, X.; Stefanski, J.; Taylor, C.; Yeh, R.; Bartido, S.; Borquez-Ojeda, O.; et al. Safety and persistence of adoptively transferred autologous CD19-targeted T cells in patients with relapsed or chemotherapy refractory B-cell leukemias. *Blood* 2011, *118*, 4817–4828, doi:10.1182/blood-2011-04-348540.
- Hu, G.; Zhong, K.; Wang, S.; Wang, S.; Ding, Q.; Xu, F.; Chen, W.; Cheng, P.; Huang, L. Cellular immunotherapy plus chemotherapy ameliorates survival in gastric cancer patients: a meta-analysis. *Int. J. Clin. Oncol.* 2020, *25*, 1747–1756.
- Zhang, H.; Christensen, C.L.; Dries, R.; Oser, M.G.; Deng, J.; Diskin, B.; Li, F.; Pan, Y.; Zhang, X.; Yin, Y.; et al. CDK7 Inhibition Potentiates Genome Instability Triggering Anti-tumor Immunity in Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cancer Cell* 2020, *37*, 37-54.e9, doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2019.11.003.
- 70. Fang, J.; Hu, B.; Li, S.; Zhang, C.; Liu, Y.; Wang, P. A multi-antigen vaccine in combination with an immunotoxin targeting tumor-associated fibroblast for treating murine melanoma. *Mol. Ther. Oncolytics* 2016, *3*, 16007, doi:10.1038/mto.2016.7.
- 71. Duperret, E.K.; Perales-Puchalt, A.; Stoltz, R.; Hiranjith, G.H.; Mandloi, N.; Barlow, J.; Chaudhuri, A.; Sardesai, N.Y.; Weiner, D.B. A synthetic DNA, multi-neoantigen vaccine drives predominately MHC class I CD8 b T-cell responses,

impacting tumor challenge. *Cancer Immunol. Res.* **2019**, *7*, 174–182, doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0283.

- Walter, S.; Weinschenk, T.; Stenzl, A.; Zdrojowy, R.; Pluzanska, A.; Szczylik, C.; Staehler, M.; Brugger, W.; Dietrich, P.-Y.; Mendrzyk, R.; et al. Multipeptide immune response to cancer vaccine IMA901 after single-dose cyclophosphamide associates with longer patient survival. *Nat. Med.* 2012, *18*, 1254–61, doi:10.1038/nm.2883.
- Nezafat, N.; Ghasemi, Y.; Javadi, G.; Khoshnoud, M.J.; Omidinia, E. A novel multiepitope peptide vaccine against cancer: An in silico approach. *J. Theor. Biol.* 2014, 349, 121–134, doi:10.1016/j.jtbi.2014.01.018.
- Hoffmann, P.R.; Hoffmann, F.W.; Premeaux, T.A.; Fujita, T.; Soprana, E.; Pani-gada, M.; Chew, G.M.; Richard, G.; Hindocha, P.; Menor, M.; et al. Multi-antigen Vaccination With Simultaneous Engagement of the OX40 Receptor Delays Malignant Mesothelioma Growth and Increases Survival in Animal Models. *Front. Oncol.* 2019, *9*, 720, doi:10.3389/fonc.2019.00720.
- Vanderlugt, C.L.; Miller, S.D. Epitope spreading in immune-mediated diseases: implications for immunotherapy. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2002, *2*, 85–95, doi:10.1038/nri724.
- 76. Butterfield, L.H.; Ribas, A.; Dissette, V.B.; Amarnani, S.N.; Vu, H.T.; Oseguera, D.; Wang, H.-J.; Elashoff, R.M.; McBride, W.H.; Mukherji, B.; et al. Determinant spreading associated with clinical response in dendritic cell-based immunotherapy for malignant melanoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2003, *9*, 998–1008.

- Ribas, A.; Timmerman, J.M.; Butterfield, L.H.; Economou, J.S. Determinant spreading and tumor responses after peptide-based cancer immunotherapy. *Trends Immunol.* 2003, 24, 58–61.
- 78. Hu, Y.; Petroni, G.R.; Olson, W.C.; Czarkowski, A.; Smolkin, M.E.; Grosh, W.W.; Chianese-Bullock, K.A.; Slingluff, C.L.; Jr. Immunologic hierarchy, class II MHC promiscuity, and epitope spreading of a melanoma helper peptide vaccine. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 2014, *63*, 779–86, doi:10.1007/s00262-014-1551-x.
- 79. GuhaThakurta, D.; Sheikh, N.A.; Fan, L.-Q.; Kandadi, H.; Meagher, T.C.; Hall, S.J.; Kantoff, P.W.; Higano, C.S.; Small, E.J.; Gardner, T.A.; et al. Humoral Immune Response against Nontargeted Tumor Antigens after Treatment with Sipuleucel-T and Its Association with Improved Clinical Outcome. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2015, *21*, 3619–3630, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2334.
- el-Shami, K.; Tirosh, B.; Bar-Haim, E.; Carmon, L.; Vadai, E.; Fridkin, M.; Feldman, M.; Eisenbach, L. MHC class I-restricted epitope spreading in the context of tumor rejection following vaccination with a single immunodominant CTL epitope. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 1999, 29, 3295–301, doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199910)29:10<3295::AID-IMMU3295>3.0.CO;2-N.
- Markiewicz, M.A.; Fallarino, F.; Ashikari, A.; Gajewski, T.F. Epitope spreading upon P815 tumor rejection triggered by vaccination with the single class I MHCrestricted peptide P1A. *Int. Immunol.* 2001, *13*, 625–32.
- 82. Twyman-Saint Victor, C.; Rech, A.J.; Maity, A.; Rengan, R.; Pauken, K.E.; Stelekati, E.; Benci, J.L.; Xu, B.; Dada, H.; Odorizzi, P.M.; et al. Radiation and dual

checkpoint blockade activate non-redundant immune mechanisms in cancer. *Nature* **2015**, *520*, 373–377, doi:10.1038/nature14292.

- Schmid, P.; Adams, S.; Rugo, H.S.; Schneeweiss, A.; Barrios, C.H.; Iwata, H.; Dieras, V.; Hegg, R.; Im, S.A.; Shaw Wright, G.; et al. Atezolizumab and nab-paclitaxel in advanced triple-negative breast cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2018, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1809615.
- Stanta, G.; Bonin, S. Overview on clinical relevance of intra-tumor heterogeneity. *Front. Med.* 2018.
- Park, B.W.; Kim, J.K.; Heo, C.; Park, K.J. Reliability of CT radiomic features reflecting tumour heterogeneity according to image quality and image processing parameters. *Sci. Rep.* 2020, *10*, doi:10.1038/s41598-020-60868-9.
- Eloyan, A.; Yue, M.S.; Khachatryan, D. Tumor heterogeneity estimation for radiomics in cancer. *Stat. Med.* 2020, *39*, 4704–4723, doi:10.1002/sim.8749.

Chapter 3 : Combination of low-dose chemotherapy and oncolytic virotherapy sensitize MC38 tumors to immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy in a cDC1-dependant manner.

Preface

This is an author-produced version of an article submitted for peer review in the *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. Authors: Nader El-Sayes, Alyssa Vito, Omar Salem, Sam Workenhe, Yonghong Wan, Karen Mossman.

NES conceived and designed the project, acquired, and analyzed data, and wrote the manuscript. AV and OS acquired data. SW supervised the study and acquired data. YW supervised the study and reviewed the manuscript. KM supervised the study and revised the manuscript.

This manuscript explores the efficacy of combination therapies in murine models of mismatch repair deficient colorectal cancer (dMMR CRC). We demonstrate that the combination of low dose mitomycin C (mito) and oncolytic HSV (oHSV) can further sensitize dMMR CRC to immune checkpoint therapy. Furthermore, we show that mito + oHSV can induce the upregulation of gene signatures associated with the recruitment and activation of myeloid subsets. We found that mito + oHSV led to increased tumor infiltration of several myeloid subsets, including type 1 conventional DCs (cDC1s). Finally, we demonstrate that cDC1s are required for enabling a response to immune checkpoint therapy in this model. **Title:** Combination of low-dose chemotherapy and oncolytic virotherapy sensitize MC38 tumors to immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy in a cDC1-dependant manner.

Authors: Nader El-Sayes^{1,2}, Alyssa Vito^{1,2}, Omar Salem^{1,2}, Sam Workenhe¹, Yonghong Wan¹ and Karen Mossman¹*.

¹ Department of Medicine, McMaster Immunology Research Centre, McMaster University, Hamilton ON, Canada

² Faculty of Health Science, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

* Corresponding author. Email: mossk@mcmaster.ca

Abstract

Immune checkpoint therapy has shown great promise in cancers with high mutational burden, such as mismatch repair-deficiency colorectal carcinoma (dMMR CRC). However, most patients still fail to respond to immune checkpoint therapy. Using a mouse model of dMMR CRC, we demonstrated that tumors can be further sensitized to immune checkpoint therapy by using a combination of low-dose chemotherapy and oncolytic HSV-1. This combination induced the infiltration of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells into the tumor. Additionally, the combination induced the upregulation of gene signatures associated with the chemoattraction of myeloid subsets. When combined with immune checkpoint therapy, the combination promoted the infiltration of activated cDC1s into the tumor. Furthermore, we found our combination strategy is dependent on cDC1s, and therapeutic efficacy was abrogated in cDC1-deficient Batf3^{-/-} mice. Thus, we demonstrate that the adjuvanticity of dMMR CRCs can be improved by combining low-dose chemotherapy and oncolytic HSV-1 in a cDC1-dependant manner.

3.1 Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) accounts for roughly 10% of cancer-related deaths worldwide [1]. Even with early detection, 25-50% of patients with early-stage CRC develop metastatic disease [2]. Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) have shown tremendous promise in solid tumors with high mutational burdens, such as melanoma and lung cancer. To this end, mutational burden has been utilized as a biomarker for ICI therapy for multiple types of cancer [3,4]. CRC can be classified into two groups based on deficiencies in mismatch repair and microsatellite instability. Mismatch repair-deficient (dMMR) tumors have higher mutational burden, making them good candidates for ICI therapy. Indeed, ICI therapy has shown great promise in dMMR CRC with close to 40% of patients demonstrating an overall response to pembrolizumab [5]. While this level of response is promising, most patients with dMMR CRC do not respond to ICI therapy. Therefore, additional studies are required to identify factors in the tumor microenvironment (TME) that can enable a response to ICI therapy in dMMR CRCs.

While mutational burden and antigenicity are potential biomarkers for ICI therapy, several other factors can influence response to therapy. Namely, adjuvanticity is required to promote infiltration and activation of immune cells at the tumor site. Immunogenic cell death (ICD) can improve adjuvanticity through the release of DAMPs and other danger signals [6]. To increase adjuvanticity and sensitize tumors to ICI therapy, several combination strategies have been developed to induce ICD [7,8]. These include the combination of ICI therapy with clinically relevant chemotherapies and emerging therapies such as on-colytic virus (OV) therapy [9–11]. Our group has previously utilized combinations of

oncolytic HSV-1 (oHSV) and low-dose chemotherapies to sensitize breast adenocarcinomas to ICI therapy [12,13]. We further demonstrated that low dose mitomycin C (mito) combined with oHSV improves susceptibility of tumors to ICI therapy through induction of necroptosis [13]. While these combinations are effective in sensitizing tumors to ICI therapy, there is a fundamental lack of understanding of the required changes in the tumor microenvironment that improve adjuvanticity and drive therapeutic outcome.

In this study, we investigated the combination of mito + oHSV in MC38 tumors, a murine model of dMMR CRC with high microsatellite instability. We find that while mice harboring MC38 tumors moderately respond to ICI therapy, they do not maintain durable responses. Addition of mito + oHSV was successful in further sensitizing tumors to ICI therapy, resulting in durable responses in 55% of mice. The combination of mito + oHSV + ICI induces inflammation at the TME and promotes the recruitment of myeloid subsets. In particular, type 1 conventional DCs (cDC1s) showed high levels of tumor infiltration after treatment. Finally, we demonstrated that therapeutic efficacy driven by mito + oHSV + ICI is dependent on the presence of cDC1s. Altogether, these data show that therapeutic outcomes to ICI therapy can be further improved in dMMR CRC with the addition of combinations that improves tumor adjuvanticity. Furthermore, we demonstrate that enabling a response to ICI therapy in this model is dependent on the cDC1 subset. This is in line with other reports showing a crucial role of cDC1s in enabling a therapeutic response to ICI therapy [14,15].

3.2 Results

<u>3.2.1 Combination of low-dose mitomycin C and oncolytic HSV-1 sensitize colon adeno-</u> carcinoma tumors to ICI therapy

To assess the efficacy of ICIs (anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibodies) in a murine model of dMMR CRC, C57BL/6 mice bearing MC38 tumors were treated with 250µg of anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibodies every 3 days for a total of 8 doses while monitoring tumor growth (Fig. 3.1A). Tumor-bearing mice demonstrated a partial response to ICI therapy, with delayed tumor progression and prolonged survival (Fig. 3.1B and 3.1C). However, none of the mice demonstrated a durable response to ICI therapy. This finding is consistent with other reports that show a moderate response to ICI therapy in MC38 tumors [16-18]. To increase the immunogenicity of the MC38 tumors and sensitize the tumors further to ICI therapy, we treated mice with a combination of low dose mito and oHSV. MC38 tumor-bearing mice were treated with a therapeutic regimen consisting of mito, oHSV, and/or ICI (Fig. 3.2A). The combination of mito and oHSV showed no delay in tumor progression or survival benefit in the MC38 tumor model (Fig. S1 and 3.2B). Similarly, the combination of mito + ICI and oHSV + ICI demonstrated no improvement over ICI therapy, however the full combination of mito + oHSV + ICI resulted in initial tumor regression in 100% of mice and a durable response in ~55% of mice (Fig. 3.2B and 3.2C). To assess the presence of persistent memory against MC38 tumors, mice that developed a complete response were rechallenged with MC38 CRC or E0771 breast carcinoma cells. 100% of the mice rejected MC38 rechallenge, whereas all the mice challenged with E0771 developed tumors within 15 days (Fig. 3.2D). These data suggest that mito + oHSV therapy is not sufficient for therapeutic efficacy in MC38 tumors but can enable a durable tumor-specific response to ICI therapy.



Figure 3.1. Immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy exhibits moderate response in MC38 tumors. **(A)** Schematic representation of the ICI treatment regimen. **(B)** Tumor growth kinetics and **(C)** Kaplan-Meier survival curves from MC38 tumor-bearing mice treated with saline or ICI.



Figure 3.2. Combination of mitomycin and oHSV sensitize MC38 tumors to ICI therapy. (A) Schematic representation of the combination treatment regimen. (B) Tumor growth kinetics and (C) Kaplan-Meier survival curves from MC38 tumor-bearing mice treated with different combinations of mito, oHSV and/or ICI. (D) Mice that had a complete

response to mito + oHSV + ICI treatment were re-challenged with either MC38 or E0771 tumors and the percent of tumor-free mice was graphed as a Kaplan Meier curve.

<u>3.2.2 Mito + oHSV + ICI induces tumor infiltration of T cells and is dependent on T cells</u> for tumor control

We have previously shown that the combination of mito + oHSV can induce CD8⁺ T cell tumor infiltration in breast adenocarcinoma [13]. Given that mito + oHSV fails to control tumor growth in the absence of ICIs in MC38 tumors, we investigated the level of T cell infiltration across treatment groups. Surprisingly, we found that mito + oHSV did not improve infiltration of T cells into the tumor. However, the addition of ICIs significantly improved infiltration of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells, despite the inability of ICI alone to induce T cell infiltration (**Fig. 3.3A and 3.3B**). To further characterize the importance of T cells in mediating a therapeutic response to mito + oHSV + ICI, T cells were depleted using anti-CD8 and anti-CD4 monoclonal antibodies. Depletion of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells was confirmed by flow cytometry (**Fig. S2**). We found that depletion of either CD8⁺ or CD4⁺ T cells abrogated tumor control and survival benefit mediated by mito + oHSV + ICI therapy (**Fig. 3.3C** – **F**). This outcome is consistent with our previous findings in breast adenocarcinoma models [13].



Figure 3.3. Efficacy of mito + oHSV + ICI combination is dependent on CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells. **(A-B)** Mice bearing MC38 tumors were treated with mito, oHSV and/or ICI. Tumors were harvested 7 days after the final day of treatment and the infiltration of CD8 and

CD T cells was assessed by flow cytometry. (C-E) Tumor growth kinetics from tumorbearing mice that were treated with mito + oHSV + ICI before administration of CD8 and CD4 depletion antibodies. (F) Kaplan-Meier survival curves from anti-CD8, anti-CD4 or isotype antibody treated mice.

<u>3.2.3 Mito + oHSV combination induces transcriptome signature associated with myeloid</u> cell recruitment and activation

The combination of mito + oHSV can enable a durable response to ICI therapy in MC38 tumors, however the combination is insufficient to generate even a moderate response in the absence of ICIs. To better characterize relevant changes in the tumor microenvironment that can enable a durable response to ICI therapy, we compared changes in the transcriptomes of treated mice. To this end, RNA was harvested from tumors that were treated with mito, oHSV, and/or ICI for analysis using a Clariom S assay. Principal component analysis shows that all groups involving treatment with mito clustered together, despite a lack of therapeutic efficacy with mito monotherapy or mito + ICI combination therapy (Fig. 3.4A). Pathway enrichment analysis identified several pathways that were upregulated in mito + oHSV + ICI groups compared to PBS controls (Fig. 3.4B). Of particular interest were pathways associated with chemokine signaling, inflammatory response, type II interferon signaling, and toll-like receptor signaling. Further in-depth analysis revealed upregulation of genes associated with the recruitment, maturation, and activation of myeloid subsets (Table 1, Fig. 3.4C and 3.4D). The same gene signature was upregulated in mito + oHSV groups relative to PBS controls (Table 1, Fig. S3). Furthermore, several of these signaling pathways and genes were upregulated in mito + oHSV +

ICI groups compared to ICI alone (**Table 1, Fig. 3.4E and 3.4F**). In particular, mito + oHSV + ICI induced an upregulation of genes involved in DC recruitment, activation and antigen-presentation compared to ICI alone. These data suggest that the combination of mito + oHSV induce tumor infiltration and activation of DCs and other myeloid subsets, and that this phenomenon might be involved in sensitizing MC38 tumors to ICI therapy.



Figure 3.4. mito + oHSV + ICI induces RNA transcriptomes associated with recruitment and activation of myeloid subsets. Mice harboring MC38 tumors were treated with different combinations of mito, oHSV and/or ICI. RNA was harvested from the

tumors one day after the final treatment and sent for analysis by Clariom S assay. (A) 3-D cluster plot showing the RNA expression correlations between the different groups. (B) Pathway enrichment analysis showing the top ten signaling pathways differentially expressed between mito + oHSV + ICI compared to PBS control. (C) Volcano plot and (D) heat map showing genes differentially expressed between mito (M) + oHSV (O) + ICI (I) compared to PBS control. (E) Pathway enrichment analysis showing the top ten signaling pathways differentially expressed between mito + oHSV + ICI compared to PBS control. (F) heat map showing genes differentially expressed between mito + oHSV + ICI compared to ICI. (F) heat map showing genes differentially expressed between mito + oHSV + ICI compared to ICI.

Table 3.1. Differentially expressed genes associated with myeloid subset recruitment and activation. M = mito, O = oHSV, I = ICI.

Gene Symbol	M + O + I vs PBS	M + O vs PBS	M + O + I Vs I	Function
Lcn2	14.18	11.69	5.62	Expressed by DCs and contributes to CD8 T cell priming [19].
Cxcl2	11.77	23.53	4.99	Expressed by activated DCs [20]. Involved in chemoattraction of neutrophils [21].
Ccl3	9.78	16.41	3.09	Enhances recruitment of cDC1s and T cells to the tumor. Enhances priming and proliferation of antitumor T cells [22].
Nos2	7.73	4.83	1.76	Expressed by activated DCs [23]. Expressed by M1 macrophages [24].
Ser- pinb2	7.55	3.04	3.22	Expressed by conventional DCs and mac- rophages [25].
S100a9	6.76	5.87	3.73	Expressed by DCs, neutrophils, and mac- rophages [26]. Promotes inflammation through TLR4 and RAGE signaling [27].
S100a8	6.62	7.54	2.81	Expressed by DCs, neutrophils, and mac- rophages. Promotes inflammation through TLR4 and RAGE signaling.

Irg1	6.6	3.57	-1.57	Marker of myeloid cells [28].
Ly6c2	5.81	5.08	1.45	Marker of myeloid cells [29].
Slfn4	5.8	7.46	4.18	Involved in differentiation of myeloid cells [30].
Sell	5.24	5.23	2.58	Regulator of leukocyte adhesion [31].
Ly6c1	4.26	2.66	1.31	Marker of myeloid cells [29].
Illa	4.21	4.15	1.79	Involved in DC activation and facilitates T cell priming [32].
Clec4d	3.85	3.54	1.19	Expressed by neutrophils and monocytes [33].
Tarm1	3.69	1.91	-1.36	Expressed by DCs, neutrophils, and macrophages. Enhances secretion of proinflammatory cytokines [34].
Upp1	2.99	2.08	-1.32	Associated with antigen-presenting mye- loid cells [35].
Il1b	2.96	2.24	1.69	Involved in DC activation and facilitates T cell priming [32].
Cxcl1	2.92	1.84	1.77	Involved in neutrophil chemoattraction [36].
Ccl7	2.74	1.88	2.32	Involved in chemoattraction of immune cells [37].
Ccrl2	2.63	2.53	-1.06	Expressed by neutrophils [38].
Ccl5	2.47	3.11	1.42	Involved in chemoattraction of DCs [39].

Cxcl10	2.41	2.18	-1.47	Expressed by cDC1s and induces recruit- ment of T cells [40].
Cxcl5	2.01	1.38	1.07	Involved in neutrophil chemoattraction [41].

3.2.4 Mito + oHSV induces tumor infiltration of cDC1 subsets and is dependent on Batf3

To characterize myeloid subsets in the tumor, we treated tumor-bearing mice with combinations of mito, oHSV and/or ICI before harvesting tumors on day 4 of treatment. Tumor infiltrates were then characterized by multicolor flow cytometry. We found that several subsets of myeloid cells infiltrated the tumor after treatment with mito + oHSV (**Fig. 3.5A**). Interestingly, treatment with mito induced infiltration of monocytes (CD11b⁺ Ly6C^{hi} Ly6G⁻), while treatment with oHSV induced infiltration of neutrophils (CD11b⁺ Ly6C^{hi} Ly6G⁻) and DCs (Ly6C⁻ CD11c⁺ MHCII⁺). In all three cases, however, the full combination of mito + oHSV + ICI induced the largest number of tumor infiltrates.

Given the role of DCs in antigen presentation, we further characterized the DC subsets infiltrating the tumor. Priming of antitumor T cells is dependent on cross presentation of tumor antigens by type 1 conventional DCs (cDC1s) [15,42,43]. Interestingly, treatment with mito induced infiltration of cDC1s (CD8 α^+ DCs) into the tumor, which was further increased with the addition of oHSV (**Fig. 3.5B and 3.5C**). However, treatment with mito + oHSV + ICI induced the greatest level of cDC1 infiltration into the tumor. Additionally, treatment with mito + oHSV + ICI induced the highest level of activated cDC1 infiltration characterized by their expression of CD40 (**Fig. 3.5D**). In contrast, type 2 conventional DC (cDC2) infiltration was improved with ICI therapy, but not with the full combination of mito + oHSV + ICI (**Fig. S4**). Infiltration of monocyte-derived DCs (moDCs) is also improved in all groups treated with mito or ICI (**Fig. S4**), however the role of moDCs in cancer immunotherapy is still under debate [44,45]. To establish the relevance of cDC1 tumor infiltration in enabling a therapeutic response to ICI therapy, we used Batf3^{-/-} mice which are deficient for cDC1s [46]. We found that treatment of tumor-bearing Batf3^{-/-} mice with mito + oHSV + ICI was ineffective in controlling tumor growth or prolonging survival (**Fig. 3.5E and 3.5F**). Altogether these data suggest that the recruitment and activation of cDC1s is required for mito + oHSV + ICI-mediated tumor control.



Figure 3.5. mito + oHSV + ICI promotes tumor infiltration of cDC1s. (**A**) Mice bearing MC38 tumors were treated with different combinations of mito, oHSV and/or ICI. Tumors were harvested 4 days after start of treatment and the frequency of infiltrating immune cells was analyzed by flow cytometry. DCs (CD11c⁺ MHCII⁺), neutrophils (CD11b⁺ Ly6C^{mid} Ly6G⁺) and monocytes (CD11b⁺ Ly6C^{hi} Ly6G⁻) were graphed. (**B**) Representative flow plots of CD8⁺ DCs (cDC1s). (**C**) graphs of tumor-infiltrating cDC1s and (**D**) CD40⁺ cDC1s (**E**) BATF3^{-/-} mice harboring MC38 tumors were treated with PBS or mito + oHSV + ICI. Tumor volumes and (**F**) Kaplan-Meier survival curves were graphed.

3.3 Discussion

In this study, we demonstrate that response to ICI therapy can be improved by utilizing a combination of mito + oHSV in a murine model of dMMR CRC. In the absence of ICIs, mito + oHSV fails to control growth or prologue survival of tumor-bearing mice. Although we have previously demonstrated improved infiltration of T cells in murine models of breast adenocarcinoma after treatment with mito + oHSV [13], this combination was ineffective in improving T cell infiltration in CRC tumors in the absence of ICI therapy. This outcome is likely a result of the immunosuppressive nature of MC38 tumors, which have been reported to maintain high levels of PD-L1 expression that contributes to immune evasion [47]. However, addition of ICIs resulted in a significant increase in T cell infiltrates. These data suggest that the combination of mito + oHSV can further improve response to ICI therapy. Indeed, several clinical trials are underway in dMMR CRCs combining chemotherapy with ICIs [2].

Despite having no therapeutic efficacy in MC38 tumors, mito + oHSV induced the upregulation of genes associated with recruitment of myeloid subsets. Furthermore, the combination induced infiltration of DCs, neutrophils and monocytes into the tumor. This observation is in line with our previous work in which we found chemokine signatures associated with myeloid cells in breast adenocarcinoma after treatment with mito + oHSV [13]. Of particular interest was the improved infiltration of cDC1s into MC38 tumors, which are required for priming endogenous tumor-specific T cells and enabling response to ICI therapy [46]. We found that response to mito + oHSV + ICI was abrogated in Batf3⁻ ¹⁻ deficient for cDC1s. Indeed, other reports have shown that strategies to promote infiltration and activation of cDC1s can sensitize tumors to immunotherapy. For example, one study led by Salmon et. al. demonstrated that the combination of FLT3L and poly I:C can improve the expansion and activation of cDC1s, leading to improved priming of antitumor T cells and a better response to ICI therapy [14]. Similarly, FLT3L and poly-ICLC enhanced cDC1-mediated cross priming and synergized with anti-CD137 and anti-PD-1 therapy in MC38 tumors [15]. While mito + oHSV induced infiltration of cDC1s in the absence of ICI therapy, the addition of ICIs resulted in consistently elevated infiltration of activated cDC1s. Interestingly, one report has demonstrated that CD40 expression on DCs is inhibited in MC38 tumors [48]. Furthermore, PD-1 expression on DCs was shown to dampen their activation [49]. These findings suggest that the addition of ICIs can improve the activation of cDC1s, while mito + oHSV improves cDC1 infiltration into the tumor. Indeed, the full combination of mito + oHSV + ICI is the only group that demonstrated significantly improved infiltration of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells. While CD4⁺ T cells are MHC-II restricted,

cDC1-mediated priming of CD4⁺ T cells is required for optimal antitumor activity [42]. These reports are in line with our results showing that depletion of CD4⁺ T cells abrogates tumor control by mito + oHSV + ICI. Future studies should assess the ability of mito + oHSV to improve MHC-I and MHC-II-mediated antigen presentation by cDC1s.

While this study focused on the infiltration of cDC1s, mito + oHSV induced the infiltration of several other myeloid subsets, including neutrophils. The role of tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs) in immunotherapy has been highly controversial. N1 TANs can exert antitumor activity through direct and indirect cytotoxicity, while N2 TANs are widely associated with immunosuppression and metastasis. It is currently unclear whether the induction of TAN infiltration by mito + oHSV + ICI is beneficial, detrimental, or irrelevant for therapeutic efficacy. We also found that ICI therapy can induce the infiltration of cDC2s into the tumor, which is decreased by the addition of mito + oHSV. Future work should assess the potential of mito + oHSV to promote the differentiation of pre-DCs into cDC1s rather than cDC2s.

ICI therapy has demonstrated most success in solid tumors with high mutational burden, such as melanoma, lung cancer, and dMMR CRC [3–5]. However, the majority of patients still fail to respond to ICI therapy, highlighting the need for improvement. Recent preclinical reports suggest that increasing tumor adjuvanticity through ICD-inducing therapies can enable better responses to ICI therapy [6,7]. We show that the combination of low-dose mitomycin C and oncolytic HSV-1 can enable response to ICI therapy in a cDC1-dependant manner in dMMR CRC. We believe that combination therapies that can induce

ICD have the potential for improving tumor adjuvanticity, which can improve therapeutic outcomes in cancers with sufficient antigenicity.

3.4 Material and Methods

Cell Lines

MC38 cells (ATCC) were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's media (DMEM) supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS, ATCC 30-2020) 2 mmol/l L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Gibco).

Virus propagation

HSV-1 Δ 810 (oHSV) is an oncolytic attenuated variant of the HSV-1 with a deletion in the ICP0 region. The virus was propagated, purified, and quantified on U2OS cells as described previously [50].

In vivo experiments

Mice were maintained at the McMaster University Central Animal Facility and all the procedures were performed in full compliance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care and approved by the Animal Research Ethics Board of McMaster University. MC38 tumors: 2 x 10^5 cells were implanted subcutaneously into the left flank of 6–8-week-old female C57/Bl6 mice (Charles River Laboratories, Wilmington, MA). On the first day of treatment 0.1 mg of Mitomycin C (Sigma-Aldrich), 250µg of α PD-1 and α CTLA-4 (InVivoMab) antibodies were administered by i.t. and i.p. injections respectively. For the following 3 days, 2 x 10^7 pfu of oHSV was administered by i.t. injection (total of 3 doses). Experimental groups receiving α PD-1/CTLA-4 followed a dosing schedule of 250µg treatments every 3 days for a total of 8 doses. Tumor volumes were monitored and measured every 2-3 days until they reached their endpoint volume (1000 mm³).

Immune analysis and flow cytometry

Tumors were harvested on days 4 and 7 of treatment before being processed. The tumors were diced into fine pieces then subject to digestion using Liberase (Sigma-Aldrich) as described in the manufacturer's protocol. The digested tumors were then passed through a 100µm cell strainer. Red blood cells were lysed with ACK buffer, and the remaining cells were transferred to a round-bottom 96-well plate. The cell suspensions were stained with fixable viability stain 510 (BD Biosciences) for 30 min at room temperature then treated with anti-CD16/CD32 (Fc block; BD Biosciences) for 15 min at 4 degrees. Cell surface staining was done for 30 min at 4 degrees. Intracellular staining was done using cytofix/cytoperm Fixation/Permeabilization kit (BD Biosciences). Data acquisition was done on the LSRFortessa (BD), and data were analyzed using FlowJo.

Clariom S Assay

Tumors were harvested one day after the final treatment and homogenized in trizol. RNA was extracted using the RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. RNA was reverse transcribed, and cDNA was purified via magnetic beads and fragmented using UDG. Fragmented cDNA was then hybridized to the Affymetrix Clariom S mouse arrays (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and the stained arrays were scanned to generate intensity data. Raw data was analyzed using the Thermo Fisher Transcriptome Analysis Console software.

Statistical Analysis

Results are presented as means \pm standard deviation. Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) tests were used to analyze the statistical significance between treatment groups for Kaplan–Meier survival graphs. Ordinary one-way ANOVA was used to determine the statistical significance between means of treated groups according to the normality of their distributions. In all cases the null hypothesis was rejected when p values < 0.05. All statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 9.





Figure S1. Combination of mito and oHSV fails to control MC38 tumors. **(A)** Tumor growth kinetics and **(B)** Kaplan-Meier survival curves from mice bearing MC38 tumors treated with different combinations of mito and oHSV monotherapy and combination therapy.



Figure S2. Depletion of T cells with monoclonal antibodies. Anti-CD8 or anti-CD4 monoclonal antibodies were administered to tumor-bearing mice by i.p. Number of CD8 T cells, CD4 T cells, B cells and NK cells in circulation were assessed by flow cytometry.



Figure S3. mito + oHSV induces RNA transcriptomes associated with recruitment and activation of myeloid subsets. Mice harboring MC38 tumors were treated with different combinations of mito, oHSV and/or ICI. RNA was harvested from the tumors one day after the final treatment and sent for analysis by Clariom S assay. The heat map shows genes differentially expressed between mito + oHSV compared to PBS control.



Figure S4. Tumor infiltration of cDC2s and moDCs. Mice bearing MC38 tumors were treated with different combinations of mito, oHSV and/or ICI. Tumors were harvested 4 days after start of treatment and the frequency of infiltrating immune cells was analyzed by flow cytometry. cDC2s (CD11c⁺ MHCII⁺ CD11b⁺ Ly6C⁻) and moDCs (CD11c⁺ MHCII⁺ CD11b⁺ Ly6C⁺) were graphed.



Figure S5. T cell gating strategy. Mice bearing MC38 tumors were treated with different combinations of mito, oHSV and/or ICI. Tumors were harvested 7 days after start of treatment and the frequency of infiltrating immune cells was analyzed by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on viable CD45⁺.



Figure S6. Myeloid gating strategy. Mice bearing MC38 tumors were treated with different combinations of mito, oHSV and/or ICI. Tumors were harvested 4 days after start of

treatment and the frequency of infiltrating immune cells was analyzed by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on viable $CD45^+$. (A) Neutrophils and monocytes. (B) DCs.

References

1. Dekker, E.; Tanis, P.J.; Vleugels, J.L.A.; Kasi, P.M.; Wallace, M.B. Colorectal cancer. *The Lancet* **2019**, *394*, 1467–1480, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32319-0.

2. Ganesh, K.; Stadler, Z.K.; Cercek, A.; Mendelsohn, R.B.; Shia, J.; Segal, N.H.; Diaz, L.A. Immunotherapy in colorectal cancer: rationale, challenges and potential. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology 2019 16:6* **2019**, *16*, 361–375, doi:10.1038/s41575-019-0126-x.

3. TA, C.; M, Y.; E, J.; C, S.; SA, Q.; A, S.; S, P. Development of tumor mutation burden as an immunotherapy biomarker: utility for the oncology clinic. *Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology* **2019**, *30*, 44–56, doi:10.1093/ANNONC/MDY495.

4. RM, S.; CH, L.; AN, S.; MD, H.; R, S.; YY, J.; DA, B.; A, Z.; EJ, J.; A, O.; et al. Tumor mutational load predicts survival after immunotherapy across multiple cancer types. *Nature genetics* **2019**, *51*, 202–206, doi:10.1038/S41588-018-0312-8.

5. MJ, O.; MS, E.; MA, M. Where We Stand With Immunotherapy in Colorectal Cancer: Deficient Mismatch Repair, Proficient Mismatch Repair, and Toxicity Management. *American Society of Clinical Oncology educational book. American Society of Clinical Oncology. Annual Meeting* **2018**, *38*, 239–247, doi:10.1200/EDBK 200821. 6. Kroemer, G.; Galluzzi, L.; Kepp, O.; Zitvogel, L. Immunogenic Cell Death in Cancer Therapy. *Annual Review of Immunology* **2013**, *31*, 51–72, doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100008.

 Bezu, L.; Gomes-de-Silva, L.C.; Dewitte, H.; Breckpot, K.; Fucikova, J.; Spisek,
 R.; Galluzzi, L.; Kepp, O.; Kroemer, G. Combinatorial strategies for the induction of immunogenic cell death. *Front Immunol* 2015, *6*, 187, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00187.

8. A, V.; S, R.; N, M.; N, E.-S.; K, M.; J, V. Combined Radionuclide Therapy and Immunotherapy for Treatment of Triple Negative Breast Cancer. *International journal of molecular sciences* **2021**, *22*, doi:10.3390/IJMS22094843.

9. Bourgeois-Daigneault, M.-C.; Roy, D.G.; Aitken, A.S.; el Sayes, N.; Martin, N.T.; Varette, O.; Falls, T.; St-Germain, L.E.; Pelin, A.; Lichty, B.D.; et al. Neoadjuvant oncolytic virotherapy before surgery sensitizes triple-negative breast cancer to immune checkpoint therapy. *Science Translational Medicine* **2018**, *10*, eaao1641, doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aao1641.

10. Workenhe, S.T.; Pol, J.G.; Lichty, B.D.; Cummings, D.T.; Mossman, K.L. Combining oncolytic HSV-1 with immunogenic cell death-inducing drug mitoxantrone breaks cancer immune tolerance and improves therapeutic efficacy. *Cancer Immunol Res* **2013**, *1*, 309–319, doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0059-T.

11. Bourgeois-Daigneault, M.-C.; St-Germain, L.E.; Roy, D.G.; Pelin, A.; Aitken, A.S.; Arulanandam, R.; Falls, T.; Garcia, V.; Diallo, J.-S.; Bell, J.C. Combination of Paclitaxel and MG1 oncolytic virus as a successful strategy for breast cancer treatment. *Breast cancer research : BCR* **2016**, *18*, 83, doi:10.1186/s13058-016-0744-y.
12. A, V.; O, S.; N, E.-S.; IP, M.; AL, P.; K, M.; D, H.; AA, A.; Y, W.; ST, W.; et al. Immune checkpoint blockade in triple negative breast cancer influenced by B cells through myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Communications biology* **2021**, *4*, doi:10.1038/S42003-021-02375-9.

13. ST, W.; A, N.; D, B.; J, W.; DN, H.; KL, M.; Y, W.; A, O.; JL, B.; JA, N.; et al. De novo necroptosis creates an inflammatory environment mediating tumor susceptibility to immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Communications biology* **2020**, *3*, doi:10.1038/S42003-020-01362-W.

14. Salmon, H.; Idoyaga, J.; Rahman, A.; Leboeuf, M.; Remark, R.; Jordan, S.; Casanova-Acebes, M.; Khudoynazarova, M.; Agudo, J.; Tung, N.; et al. Expansion and Activation of CD103+ Dendritic Cell Progenitors at the Tumor Site Enhances Tumor Responses to Therapeutic PD-L1 and BRAF Inhibition. *Immunity* **2016**, *44*, 924–938, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.03.012.

Sánchez-Paulete, A.R.; Cueto, F.J.; Martínez-López, M.; Labiano, S.; Morales-Kastresana, A.; Rodríguez-Ruiz, M.E.; Jure-Kunkel, M.; Azpilikueta, A.; Aznar, M.A.; Quetglas, J.I.; et al. Cancer immunotherapy with immunomodulatory anti-CD137 and anti–PD-1 monoclonal antibodies requires BATF3-dependent dendritic cells. *Cancer Discovery* 2016, *6*, 71–79, doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0510.

16. Lewis, K.E.; Selby, M.J.; Masters, G.; Valle, J.; Dito, G.; Curtis, W.R.; Garcia, R.; Mink, K.A.; Waggie, K.S.; Holdren, M.S.; et al. Interleukin-21 combined with PD-1 or CTLA-4 blockade enhances antitumor immunity in mouse tumor models. *OncoImmunology* **2017**, *7*, e1377873, doi:10.1080/2162402X.2017.1377873.

17. Selby, M.J.; Engelhardt, J.J.; Johnston, R.J.; Lu, L.S.; Han, M.; Thudium, K.; Yao, D.; Quigley, M.; Valle, J.; Wang, C.; et al. Preclinical development of ipilimumab and nivolumab combination immunotherapy: Mouse tumor models, In vitro functional studies, and cynomolgus macaque toxicology. *PLoS ONE* **2016**, *11*, e0161779, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0161779.

18. Taylor, M.A.; Hughes, A.M.; Walton, J.; Coenen-Stass, A.M.L.; Magiera, L.; Mooney, L.; Bell, S.; Staniszewska, A.D.; Sandin, L.C.; Barry, S.T.; et al. Longitudinal immune characterization of syngeneic tumor models to enable model selection for immune oncology drug discovery. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer* **2019**, *7*, 328, doi:10.1186/s40425-019-0794-7.

19. Floderer, M.; Prchal-Murphy, M.; Vizzardelli, C. Dendritic cell-secreted lipocalin2 induces CD8+ T-cell apoptosis, contributes to T-cell priming and leads to a TH1 pheno-type. *PloS one* **2014**, *9*, doi:10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0101881.

20. Lee, J.Y.; Kim, H.; Cha, M.Y.; Park, H.G.; Kim, Y.J.; Kim, I.Y.; Kim, J.M. Clostridium difficile toxin A promotes dendritic cell maturation and chemokine CXCL2 expression through p38, IKK, and the NF-kappaB signaling pathway. *Journal of molecular medicine (Berlin, Germany)* **2009**, *87*, 169–180, doi:10.1007/S00109-008-0415-2.

21. Gershkovitz, M.; Fainsod-Levi, T.; Zelter, T.; Sionov, R. v.; Granot, Z. TRPM2 modulates neutrophil attraction to murine tumor cells by regulating CXCL2 expression. *Cancer immunology, immunotherapy : CII* **2019**, *68*, 33–43, doi:10.1007/S00262-018-2249-2.

22. Allen, F.; Rauhe, P.; Askew, D.; Tong, A.A.; Nthale, J.; Eid, S.; Myers, J.T.; Tong, C.; Huang, A.Y. CCL3 Enhances Antitumor Immune Priming in the Lymph Node via IFNγ with Dependency on Natural Killer Cells. *Frontiers in immunology* **2017**, *8*, doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2017.01390.

Hole, C.R.; Wager, C.M.L.; Castro-Lopez, N.; Campuzano, A.; Cai, H.; Wozniak,
K.L.; Wang, Y.; Wormley, F.L. Induction of memory-like dendritic cell responses in vivo. *Nature communications* 2019, *10*, doi:10.1038/S41467-019-10486-5.

24. Macatonia, S.E.; Hsleh, C. song; Murphy, K.M.; O'garra, A. Dendritic cells and macrophages are required for Th1 development of CD4+ T cells from alpha beta TCR transgenic mice: IL-12 substitution for macrophages to stimulate IFN-gamma production is IFN-gamma-dependent. *International immunology* **1993**, *5*, 1119–1128, doi:10.1093/INTIMM/5.9.1119.

25. Schroder, W.A.; Le, T.T.T.; Major, L.; Street, S.; Gardner, J.; Lambley, E.; Markey, K.; MacDonald, K.P.; Fish, R.J.; Thomas, R.; et al. A physiological function of inflammation-associated SerpinB2 is regulation of adaptive immunity. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* **2010**, *184*, 2663–2670, doi:10.4049/JIMMUNOL.0902187.

26. Averill, M.M.; Barnhart, S.; Becker, L.; Li, X.; Heinecke, J.W.; Leboeuf, R.C.; Hamerman, J.A.; Sorg, C.; Kerkhoff, C.; Bornfeldt, K.E. S100A9 differentially modifies phenotypic states of neutrophils, macrophages, and dendritic cells: implications for ather-osclerosis and adipose tissue inflammation. *Circulation* **2011**, *123*, 1216–1226, doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.985523.

27. Vogl, T.; Tenbrock, K.; Ludwig, S.; Leukert, N.; Ehrhardt, C.; van Zoelen, M.A.D.; Nacken, W.; Foell, D.; van der Poll, T.; Sorg, C.; et al. Mrp8 and Mrp14 are endogenous activators of Toll-like receptor 4, promoting lethal, endotoxin-induced shock. *Nature medicine* **2007**, *13*, 1042–1049, doi:10.1038/NM1638.

28. Nair, S.; Huynh, J.P.; Lampropoulou, V.; Loginicheva, E.; Esaulova, E.; Gounder, A.P.; Boon, A.C.M.; Schwarzkopf, E.A.; Bradstreet, T.R.; Edelson, B.T.; et al. Irg1 expression in myeloid cells prevents immunopathology during M. tuberculosis infection. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **2018**, *215*, 1035–1045, doi:10.1084/JEM.20180118.

29. Upadhyay, G. Emerging Role of Lymphocyte Antigen-6 Family of Genes in Cancer and Immune Cells. *Frontiers in immunology* **2019**, *10*, 819, doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2019.00819.

30. Puck, A.; Aigner, R.; Modak, M.; Cejka, P.; Blaas, D.; Stöckl, J. Expression and regulation of Schlafen (SLFN) family members in primary human monocytes, monocytederived dendritic cells and T cells. *Results in immunology* **2015**, *5*, 23–32, doi:10.1016/J.RINIM.2015.10.001.

31. Ivetic, A.; Green, H.L.H.; Hart, S.J. L-selectin: A Major Regulator of Leukocyte Adhesion, Migration and Signaling. *Frontiers in immunology* **2019**, *10*, doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2019.01068.

32. van den Eeckhout, B.; Tavernier, J.; Gerlo, S. Interleukin-1 as Innate Mediator of
T Cell Immunity. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2020, *11*, 621931,
doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2020.621931.

33. Graham, L.M.; Gupta, V.; Schafer, G.; Reid, D.M.; Kimberg, M.; Dennehy, K.M.; Hornsell, W.G.; Guler, R.; Campanero-Rhodes, M.A.; Palma, A.S.; et al. The C-type lectin receptor CLECSF8 (CLEC4D) is expressed by myeloid cells and triggers cellular activation through Syk kinase. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **2012**, *287*, 25964–25974, doi:10.1074/JBC.M112.384164.

34. Radjabova, V.; Mastroeni, P.; Skjødt, K.; Zaccone, P.; de Bono, B.; Goodall, J.C.; Chilvers, E.R.; Juss, J.K.; Jones, D.C.; Trowsdale, J.; et al. TARM1 Is a Novel Leukocyte Receptor Complex-Encoded ITAM Receptor That Costimulates Proinflammatory Cyto-kine Secretion by Macrophages and Neutrophils. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* **2015**, *195*, 3149–3159, doi:10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1401847.

35. Wang, J.; Xu, S.; Lv, W.; Shi, F.; Mei, S.; Shan, A.; Xu, J.; Yang, Y. Uridine phosphorylase 1 is a novel immune-related target and predicts worse survival in brain glioma. *Cancer medicine* **2020**, *9*, 5940–5947, doi:10.1002/CAM4.3251.

36. Moser, B.; Clark-Lewis, I.; Zwahlen, R.; Baggiolini, M. Neutrophil-activating properties of the melanoma growth-stimulatory activity. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **1990**, *171*, 1797–1802, doi:10.1084/JEM.171.5.1797.

37. Ali, S.; Robertson, H.; Wain, J.H.; Isaacs, J.D.; Malik, G.; Kirby, J.A. A non-glycosaminoglycan-binding variant of CC chemokine ligand 7 (monocyte chemoattractant protein-3) antagonizes chemokine-mediated inflammation. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* **2005**, *175*, 1257–1266, doi:10.4049/JIMMUNOL.175.2.1257.

38. del Prete, A.; Martínez-Muñoz, L.; Mazzon, C.; Toffali, L.; Sozio, F.; Za, L.; Bosisio, D.; Gazzurelli, L.; Salvi, V.; Tiberio, L.; et al. The atypical receptor CCRL2 is

required for CXCR2-dependent neutrophil recruitment and tissue damage. *Blood* 2017, *130*, 1223–1234, doi:10.1182/BLOOD-2017-04-777680.

39. V, C.; P, R.; S, I.; A, R.; D, S.; C, G.; PY, S.; L, S. CCL5-enhanced human immature dendritic cell migration through the basement membrane in vitro depends on matrix metalloproteinase-9. *Journal of leukocyte biology* **2006**, *79*, 767–778, doi:10.1189/JLB.0804464.

40. Pfirschke, C.; Siwicki, M.; Liao, H.W.; Pittet, M.J. Tumor Microenvironment: No Effector T Cells without Dendritic Cells. *Cancer cell* **2017**, *31*, 614–615, doi:10.1016/J.CCELL.2017.04.007.

41. Corbett, M.S.; Schmitt, I.; Riess, O.; Walz, A. Characterization of the gene for human neutrophil-activating peptide 78 (ENA-78). *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **1994**, *205*, 612–7, doi:10.1006/bbrc.1994.2709.

42. Ferris, S.T.; Durai, V.; Wu, R.; Theisen, D.J.; Ward, J.P.; Bern, M.D.; Davidson, J.T.; Bagadia, P.; Liu, T.; Briseño, C.G.; et al. cDC1 prime and are licensed by CD4+ T cells to induce anti-tumour immunity. *Nature* **2020**, 1–6, doi:10.1038/s41586-020-2611-3.

43. Böttcher, J.P.; Reis e Sousa, C. The Role of Type 1 Conventional Dendritic Cells in Cancer Immunity. *Trends in Cancer* **2018**, *4*, 784–792, doi:10.1016/j.trecan.2018.09.001.

44. Wu, X.; Briseño, C.G.; Durai, V.; Albring, J.C.; Haldar, M.; Bagadia, P.; Kim, K.W.; Randolph, G.J.; Murphy, T.L.; Murphy, K.M. Mafb lineage tracing to distinguish macrophages from other immune lineages reveals dual identity of Langerhans cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **2016**, *213*, 2553–2565, doi:10.1084/JEM.20160600.

45. Guilliams, M.; Ginhoux, F.; Jakubzick, C.; Naik, S.H.; Onai, N.; Schraml, B.U.; Segura, E.; Tussiwand, R.; Yona, S. Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: a unified nomenclature based on ontogeny. *Nature reviews. Immunology* **2014**, *14*, 571–578, doi:10.1038/NRI3712.

46. Hildner, K.; Edelson, B.T.; Purtha, W.E.; Diamond, M.; Matsushita, H.; Kohyama,
M.; Calderon, B.; Schraml, B.; Unanue, E.R.; Diamond, M.S.; et al. Batf3 Deficiency Reveals a Critical Role for CD8α+ Dendritic Cells in Cytotoxic T Cell Immunity. *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*) 2008, *322*, 1097, doi:10.1126/SCIENCE.1164206.

47. Juneja, V.R.; McGuire, K.A.; Manguso, R.T.; LaFleur, M.W.; Collins, N.; Nicholas Haining, W.; Freeman, G.J.; Sharpe, A.H. PD-L1 on tumor cells is sufficient for immune evasion in immunogenic tumors and inhibits CD8 T cell cytotoxicity. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* **2017**, *214*, 895, doi:10.1084/JEM.20160801.

48. Shurin, M.R.; Yurkovetsky, Z.R.; Tourkova, I.L.; Balkir, L.; Shurin, G. v. Inhibition of CD40 expression and CD40-mediated dendritic cell function by tumor-derived IL-10. *International journal of cancer* **2002**, *101*, 61–68, doi:10.1002/IJC.10576.

49. Yao, S.; Wang, S.; Zhu, Y.; Luo, L.; Zhu, G.; Flies, S.; Xu, H.; Ruff, W.; Broadwater, M.; Choi, I.H.; et al. PD-1 on dendritic cells impedes innate immunity against bacterial infection. *Blood* **2009**, *113*, 5811–5818, doi:10.1182/BLOOD-2009-02-203141.

50. ST, W.; G, S.; JG, P.; BD, L.; WP, H.; KL, M. Immunogenic HSV-mediated oncolysis shapes the antitumor immune response and contributes to therapeutic efficacy. *Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy* **2014**, *22*, 123–131, doi:10.1038/MT.2013.238.

Chapter 4 : IFNAR blockade synergizes with oncolytic virotherapy to prevent virus-mediated PD-L1 expression and promote antitumor T cell activity.

Preface

This is an author-produced version of an article submitted for peer review in *Molecular Therapy - Oncolytics*. Authors: Nader El-Sayes, Scott Walsh, Alyssa Vito, Amir Reihani, Kjetil Ask, Yonghong Wan, Karen Mossman.

NES conceived and designed the project, acquired, and analyzed data, and wrote the manuscript. SW designed the project and acquired and analyzed data. AV acquired data. AR acquired data. KA reviewed the manuscript. YW supervised the study and reviewed the manuscript. KM supervised the study and revised the manuscript.

This manuscript explores the role of type I IFN (IFN-I) signaling on antitumor immunity. We used a non-immunogenic murine melanoma model, B16F10, to study the effects of oncolytic VSV (oVSV)-induced IFN-I signaling. We found that oVSV induced tumor expression of PD-L1 in an IFN-I-dependent manner. Furthermore, oVSV induced expression of PD-L1 on circulating T cells, B cells and monocytes, which was abrogated using anti-IFNAR-1 monoclonal antibody. While IFN-I is necessary for priming tumorspecific CD8⁺ T cells [135], we found that combining oVSV with anti-IFNAR-1 enhanced antitumor CD8⁺ T cell effector functions. Additionally, IFNAR blockade improved therapeutic response to oVSV therapy in a B16F10-gp33 tumor model. **Title:** IFNAR blockade synergizes with oncolytic virotherapy to prevent virus-mediated PD-L1 expression and promote antitumor T cell activity.

Authors: Nader El-Sayes^{1,2}, Scott Walsh¹, Alyssa Vito^{1,2}, Amir Reihani³, Kjetil Ask³, Yonghong Wan¹, Karen Mossman^{1*}.

¹ Department of Medicine, McMaster Immunology Research Centre, McMaster University, Hamilton ON, Canada

² Faculty of Health Science, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

³ Firestone Institute for Respiratory Health, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

* Corresponding author. Email: <u>mossk@mcmaster.ca</u>



Graphical Abstract

Abstract

Oncolytic virotherapies have shown excellent promise in a variety of cancers by initiating endogenous antitumor immunity. However, the effects of oncolytic virus-mediated type I interferon (IFN-I) production on antitumor immunity remains unclear. Recent reports have highlighted immunosuppressive functions of IFN-I in the context of checkpoint inhibitor and cell-based therapies. In this study, we demonstrate that oncolytic virusinduced IFN-I promotes the expression of PD-L1 in tumor cells and leukocytes. Inhibition of IFN-I signaling using a monoclonal IFNAR antibody partially abrogated IFN-I-induced PD-L1 expression and promoted tumor-specific T cell effector functions when combined with oncolytic virotherapy. Furthermore, IFNAR blockade improved therapeutic response to oncolytic virotherapy in a manner comparable to PD-L1 blockade. Our study highlights a critical immunosuppressive role of IFN-I on antitumor immunity and employs a combination strategy that improves the response to oncolytic virotherapy.

4.1 Introduction

Oncolytic viruses (OVs) are a growing class of biotherapeutics that have demonstrated remarkable potential in the treatment of solid tumors. OVs are multimodal agents that induce cancer cell death through a variety of mechanisms. While the most direct mechanism of OV-mediated cytotoxicity is oncolysis of cancer cells, OVs can also generate a robust antitumor immune response by inducing localized inflammation in the tumor microenvironment (TME). OVs have been shown to sensitize otherwise immune "cold" tumors to immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI) therapy, a strategy that has seen some success in both pre-clinical and clinical studies ^{1–3}. Furthermore, OVs are attractive candidates for

use as vectors for tumor associated antigens (TAAs) and chemoattractants due to their selective replication at the tumor site, with active replication causing many changes in the TME. Most notably, the presence of a virus will highly upregulate the production of type I interferons (IFN-I). The role of IFN-I in cancer immunotherapy has become highly controversial, as they have been shown to have both pro-tumor and antitumor properties⁴. IFN-I can enhance immunogenicity of the tumor by upregulating the surface expression of major histocompatibility complex-I (MHC-I) and TAAs ⁵⁻⁷. However, IFN-I signaling can also potentiate resistance through upregulation of T cell inhibitory receptors and their respective ligands, including programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) and galectin-9⁸⁻¹². There is also accumulating evidence that IFN-I can potentiate resistance to ICI therapy via PD-L1-independent mechanisms, and that blocking IFN-I signaling can improve the function of exhausted T cell subsets ^{13,14}. Furthermore, IFN-I potentiates autoimmune side effects of antigen-targeted adoptive cell therapy, and modulation of IFN-I signaling ameliorates side effects without compromising antitumor efficacy¹⁵. Finally, the antiviral functions of IFN-I can be detrimental to OV therapy by preventing infection of tumor cells and subsequent expression of encoded tumor antigens. Several groups have seen improved outcomes in pre-clinical models by using small molecule inhibitors of type I IFN signaling combined with OV therapy $^{16-18}$.

In this study, we show that OVs can induce upregulation of PD-L1 in tumors in an IFN-I-dependent manner. Differences in PD-L1 upregulation induced by two OVs are directly correlated with the level of IFN-I induction by the respective virus. Additionally, IFN- α/β receptor (IFNAR) knockout cells demonstrate vastly reduced OV-mediated

expression of PD-L1, which was also observed *in vivo*. Finally, IFNAR blockade prevented OV-mediated upregulation of PD-L1 in circulating leukocytes, and vastly improved antitumor CD8⁺ T cell activity resulting in improved therapeutic efficacy. Our strategy of combining OVs with IFNAR blockade can prevent the onset of IFN-I-mediated immunosuppression in the TME.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Virus-mediated PD-L1 upregulation corresponds with IFN-I production

To begin characterizing the role of OVs in regulating the expression of PD-L1, we decided to compare two commonly used OVs. B16F10 cells were infected with VSV Δ 51-GFP (VSV) or Vaccinia Virus-YFP (VacV) at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 1. Relative expression of PD-L1 mRNA was assessed via RT-PCR 24 hours post infection. GFP or YFP expression was used to confirm initiation of replication (Figure S4.1). While both OVs induce PD-L1 mRNA expression, VSV induces PD-L1 expression at a much higher magnitude (Figure 4.1A). VSV also upregulated PD-L1 in MC38 cells (Figure S4.2), which express higher basal levels of PD-L1 and are responsive to PD-L1 blockade therapy ¹⁹. To see how PD-L1 data compare with other virus-induced genes, we assessed the mRNA expression of the interferon-stimulated gene IFIT1. Similar to PD-L1, IFIT1 mRNA was highly expressed in cells infected with VSV (Figure 4.1B). As IFIT1 expression can be independent of IFN-I signaling ²⁰, we assessed virus-induced expression of IFN-I. Here we also found that VSV induces much higher expression of IFN α and IFN β mRNA (Figure 4.1C and 4.1D) and protein (Figure 4.1E and 4.1F) compared to VacV.

While IFN γ is a known and potent inducer of PD-L1 expression in the TME ^{21–23}, several emerging studies suggest that IFN-I also regulates PD-L1 expression in the tumor ^{10–12}. Since we see a correlation between virus-induced PD-L1 expression and IFN-I production, we tested the effects of IFN-I on PD-L1 expression in B16F10 and MC38 cells. Treatment with either IFN α or IFN β induced expression of PD-L1 mRNA in both cell lines (Figure 4.2A and 4.2B). Furthermore, IFN α/β receptor (IFNAR) knockout cells showed no increase in PD-L1 expression when treated with either IFN α or IFN β (Figure 4.2A and 4.2B). These data match the IFN-induced expression of IFIT1 (Figure S4.3A and S4.3B). Finally, these results were validated at the protein level by measuring the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of PD-L1 surface expression via flow cytometry (Figure 4.2C – 4.2F).



Figure 4.1. Virus-induced expression of PD-L1 correlates with type I IFN production. B16F10 cells were infected with VSV Δ 51-GFP (VSV) or vaccinia virus-YFP (VacV) at an MOI of 1. RNA was harvested 24 hours post infection and RT-PCR was used to assess

mRNA expression of (A) PD-L1, (B) IFIT1, (C) IFN α and (D) IFN β . Supernatants were also collected and used to measure the concentration of (E) IFN α and (F) IFN β secreted into the supernatant.



Figure 4.2. Type I IFN induces PD-L1 upregulation in murine cancer cell lines. MC38/MC38 IFNAR knockout cells and B16F10/B16F10 IFNAR knockout cells were treated with 100 U/mL of IFN α or IFN β . **(A-B)** RNA was harvested and used to assess mRNA expression of PD-L1 via RT-PCR. **(C-D)** Cells were stained with anti-PD-L1-BV711 antibody and MFI was measured via flow cytometry. **(E-F)** Representative histograms of PD-L1-BV711 fluorescence intensity.

4.2.2 Virus-induced PD-L1 cell surface expression is dependent on IFN-I signaling

While type I IFNs induce PD-L1 expression through IFNAR, several reports have also demonstrated that PD-L1 can be induced via IFN-independent inflammatory pathways that generally converge on IRF1, a transcription factor involved in PD-L1 regulation ^{24–27}. We thus used IFNAR knockout cells to determine the dependence of VSV-induced PD-L1 upregulation on IFN-I signaling. While both MC38 and B16F10 IFNAR knockout cells showed an upregulation of PD-L1 when infected with VSV, the expression of PD-L1 mRNA in IFNAR knockout cells was significantly lower (Figure 4.3A and 4.3B). Despite a small increase in PD-L1 expression at the mRNA level, flow cytometry analysis of B16F10 cells failed to detect an increase in PD-L1 surface expression in VSV-infected IFNAR ko cells, while parental B16F10 cells demonstrated a significant increase in PD-L1 surface expression when infected with VSV (Figure 4.3C and 4.3D). GFP expression analysis confirmed similar initiation of infection in parental and knock-out cells (Figure S4.4A – S4.4C). Although data were consistent at the protein level in B16F10 cells, monitoring surface expression of PD-L1 on MC38 cells was difficult due to the cytotoxic nature of VSV infection (Figure S4.4D). As a result, we used Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid

(Poly I:C) as a replacement of viral infection to initiate antiviral signaling while maintaining cell viability. Indeed, poly I:C transfection also induced an upregulation of PD-L1 at both the mRNA and protein levels on MC38 and B16F10 cells. While there was small increase in PD-L1 mRNA expression in IFNAR knockout cells stimulated with poly I:C, there was no significant change in surface expression of PD-L1 (Figure 4.3E - 4.3J). Altogether these data strongly suggest that the virus-induced expression of PD-L1 is largely dependent on IFN-I signaling.



Figure 4.3. Virus-induced PD-L1 expression is dependent on type I IFN signaling. Wild type and knock out MC38 and B16F10 cells were infected with VSV Δ 51-GFP (VSV) at an MOI of 1. (**A-B**) RNA was harvested and used to assess mRNA expression of PD-L1 via RT-PCR. (**C**) Representative histogram and (**D**) MFIs of PD-L1 surface expression on B16F10 and B16 IFNAR ko were measured via flow cytometry. (**E**) MC38/MC38 IFNAR knockout cells and (**F**) B16F10/B16F10 IFNAR knockout cells were transfected with 1µg of poly I:C. RNA was harvested and used to assess mRNA expression of PD-L1 via RT-PCR. (**G-H**) Representative histograms and (**I-J**) MFIs of PD-L1 surface expression were measured via flow cytometry.

<u>4.2.3 Oncolytic VSV-induced PD-L1 upregulation in murine tumors is partially dependent</u> on type I IFN signaling

While our data strongly suggest that virus-induced PD-L1 expression is dependent on IFN-I signaling *in vitro*, the TME *in vivo* contains a plethora of other factors that may regulate the expression of PD-L1. This includes the presence of other cytokines and chemokines that can regulate PD-L1 expression ^{25,26}. To this end, we assessed the effect of VSV on PD-L1 expression *in vivo*, along with characterizing the role of IFN-I signaling. MC38 or B16F10 tumors were implanted subcutaneously and intradermally, respectively, into C57BI/6 mice. One-week later tumors were treated with anti-IFNAR or isotype control antibody followed by intravenous administration of VSV. Tumors were harvested and PD-L1 surface expression was assess via immunohistochemistry 24 hours after treatment. In both MC38 and B16F10 tumors, treatment with VSV induced much higher PD-L1 expression relative to untreated mice. Pre-treatment with anti-IFNAR antibody decreased, but did not eliminate, virus-induced PD-L1 expression. Next, we validated these data by comparing virus-induced PD-L1 expression in MC38 IFNAR knockout tumors. MC38 and MC38 IFNAR knockout cells were implanted subcutaneously, and mice were treated with VSV intravenously one week later. Consistent with anti-IFNAR antibody treatment, the loss of IFNAR in MC38 tumors reduced but did not eliminate PD-L1 expression following VSV treatment (Figure 4.4B). These data suggest that early virus-induced expression of PD-L1 in the TME is partially dependent on IFN-I signaling.





MC38

В.

MC38 IFNAR ko

ţе

Figure 4.4. IFNAR blockade reduces virus-induced PD-L1 expression in the tumor. **(A)** MC38 and B16F10 cells were implanted into C57Bl/6 mice subcutaneously and intradermally, respectively. Mice were treated with 1mg anti-IFNAR antibody by i.p. followed by i.v. injection of 2 x 10^8 pfu of VSV Δ 51 (VSV) 2 hours later. **(B)** MC38 and MC38 IFNAR knockout cells were implanted into C57Bl/6 mice subcutaneously. Mice were treated with VSV by i.v. injection. 24 hours after VSV administration, tumors were harvested and stained for PD-L1 expression by immunohistochemistry.

4.2.4 Oncolytic VSV induces PD-L1 upregulation in circulating leukocytes

Expression of PD-L1 on T cells, B cells, macrophages and other leukocytes can enhance immunosuppression and promote tumor tolerance ^{28–30}. In this regard, we investigated whether PD-L1 expression on circulating leukocytes is upregulated following OV treatment, and if early expression of PD-L1 is dependent on IFN-I signaling. We used tumors and virus expressing gp33, an immunodominant lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus antigen, as a surrogate antigen. Mice harboring B16F10-gp33 tumors were treated with anti-IFNAR antibody followed by intravenous delivery of VSVΔ51-gp33 (VSV-gp33). Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated and PD-L1 surface expression was assessed via flow cytometry 24 hours later. We found that there was a substantial increase in the percent of PD-L1 positive T cells and B cells after treatment with VSVgp33. Moreover, pre-treatment with IFNAR blockade partially abrogated virus-mediated upregulation of PD-L1 on these cells (Figure 4.5A and 4.5B). Interestingly, this trend was not entirely consistent among different cell types. While monocytes and macrophages also demonstrated VSV-mediated PD-L1 expression, IFNAR blockade only mildly prevented virus-mediated expression (Figure 4.5C and 4.5D). The percent of PD-L1 positive neutrophils was substantially increased following VSV-gp33 treatment, however unlike the other immune cell types, neutrophils demonstrated a further increase in %PD-L1 positive cells after IFNAR blockade (Figure 4.5E). Finally, circulating natural killer (NK) cells demonstrated a mild reduction in %PD-L1 positive cells following treatment with VSV-gp33 (Figure 4.5F). Collectively, these data suggest that the level of dependence of VSV-induced PD-L1 expression on IFN-I signaling varies between cell types. Virus-mediated upregulation of PD-L1 on T and B lymphocytes is moderately dependent on IFN-I signaling, while similar PD-L1 upregulation on monocytes and macrophages seems to be largely independent of IFN-I signaling, or even dampened by IFN-I signaling.



Figure 4.5. Blocking IFNAR signaling alters virus-mediated PD-L1 expression on circulating leukocytes. 10^5 B16F10-gp33 cells were implanted intradermally in C57Bl/6 mice. Mice were treated with 1mg anti-IFNAR by i.p. followed by i.v. injection of 2 x 10^8 pfu of VSV Δ 51-gp33 2 hours later. Expression of PD-L1 on circulating mono-nuclear cells was assessed 24 hours after VSV treatment via flow cytometry. **(A)** Representative flow plots of PD-L1 expression on circulating T cells (top) and B cells (bottom). **(B)** Precent of

circulating T cells (top) and B cells (bottom) expressing PD-L1. (C-F) Percent of circulating monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, and NK cells expressing PD-L1.

4.2.5 IFNAR blockade potentiates activation of antitumor CD8⁺ T cells and prevents upregulation of exhaustion markers

IFN-I signaling is required for priming antitumor CD8⁺ T cells and can promote effector functions in CD8⁺ T cells ^{31,32}. Therefore, we decided to investigate the effect of IFNAR blockade on the activity of antitumor CD8⁺ T cells and determine if IFNAR blockade dampens the generation of effector CD8⁺ T cells. We used tumors and virus expressing gp33 as a surrogate antigen to assess the priming and magnitude of antitumor T cell responses. C57BL/6 mice harboring B16-gp33 tumors were treated with anti-IFNAR or anti-PD-L1 antibodies followed by vaccination with VSV-gp33. PBMCs were isolated 7 days later and stimulated with gp33 peptide. The magnitude of the gp33-specific T cell response was measured by assessing IFN- γ production by intracellular cytokine staining. As expected, vaccination with VSV-gp33 increased the capacity of gp33-specific CD8⁺ T cells to produce IFN- γ and was improved further by the addition of anti-PD-L1 therapy. Interestingly, IFNAR blockade was substantially more effective than PD-L1 blockade at improving IFN-y production when combined with VSV-gp33 (Figure 4.6A and 4.6B). Next, we decided to further characterize the T cells by assessing the expression of CD44 and CD62L, which are surface markers used to differentiate between naïve (CD44⁻, CD62L⁺), central memory (CM; CD44⁺, CD62L⁺), effector memory (EM; CD44⁺, CD62L⁻) and double negative (DN; CD44⁻, CD62L⁻) cells (Figure 4.6C). We found that vaccination with VSV-gp33 resulted in a higher fraction of EM CD8⁺ T cells (T_{EM} cells) in circulation.

Addition of either PD-L1 or IFNAR blockade further increased the percentage of T_{EM} cells (Figure 4.6C and 4.6D). This trend was consistent when assessing the absolute number of T_{EM} cells in circulation, with PD-L1 and IFNAR blockade substantially increasing the number of T_{EM} cells when combined with VSV-gp33 (Figure 4.6E). Finally, we assessed the level of T cell exhaustion characterized by the overexpression of Programmed Death-1 (PD-1) and T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3 (TIM-3). These markers can be upregulated following T cell effector functions and chronic antigen stimulation, leading to exhaustion and dysfunctional T cell activity ³³. While vaccination with VSV-gp33 marginally increased the absolute number of PD-1⁺ and TIM-3⁺ CD8⁺ T cells in circulation, the addition of PD-L1 blockade significantly increased the number of CD8⁺ T cells expressing exhaustion markers (Figure 4.6F - 4.6H). Impressively, the combination of IFNAR blockade with VSV-gp33 resulted in a negligible increase in PD-1⁺ and TIM-3⁺ T cells compared to VSV-gp33 monotherapy. Taken together, these data demonstrate that IFNAR blockade can promote tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cell activation and T_{EM} cell proliferation in a manner similar to that of PD-L1 blockade, while maintaining lower expression of exhaustion markers such as PD-1 and TIM-3.



Figure 4.6. IFNAR blockade promotes tumor-specific CD8 T cell activation and the generation of T_{EM} cells while maintaining lower expression of exhaustion markers. 10^5 B16F10-gp33 cells were implanted intradermally in C57Bl/6 mice. Mice were treated with

1mg anti-IFNAR or 250μg anti-PD-L1 antibodies by i.p. followed by i.v. injection of 2 x 10^8 pfu of VSVΔ51-gp33 2 hours later. PBMCs were isolated 7 days post treatment and re-stimulated with gp33 peptide and IFNγ production was assessed by ICS. (A) Representative contour plots showing the percent of CD8 T cells that are IFNγ⁺. (B) Percent of IFNγ⁺ CD8 T cells were graphed, lines represent the means. PBMCs were isolated 7 days post treatment and expression of T cell markers was assessed by flow cytometry. (C) Representative contour plots showing the percentage of Naïve, central memory (CM), effector memory (EM), and double negative (DN) CD8 T cells. (D) Quantification of the T cell populations for each group. (E) Box plot showing the absolute number of EM CD8 T cells. Box plots showing absolute numbers of (F) PD-1⁺ and (G) TIM-3⁺ CD8 T cells. (H) Representative contour plots showing percentage of PD-1⁺ and TIM-3⁺ CD8 T cells.

4.2.6 IFNAR blockade synergizes with oncolytic VSV to improve therapeutic outcomes in murine melanoma model

Our data show that IFNAR blockade can limit early virus-induced expression of PD-L1 in the tumor and promote tumor-specific T cell activity. To further establish the relevance of these observations in the context of therapeutic efficacy, we assessed the therapeutic potential of IFNAR blockade when combined with VSV-gp33 in tumor-bearing mice. To this end, we used B16F10 tumors due to their documented resistance to ICI therapy ³⁴. C57BL/6 mice were implanted intradermally with B16F10-gp33 cells and treated with anti-IFNAR and/or anti-PD-L1 antibodies 10 days later. After 2 hours, the mice were then treated with VSV-gp33. Tumor volumes were monitored and anti-PD-L1 treatments were administered every 3 days according to a previously established therapeutic regimen

(Figure 4.7A). VSV-gp33 monotherapy significantly delayed tumor progression relative to the control, however the combination of VSV-gp33 and anti-PD-L1 resulted in a significant delay in tumor progression and prolonged survival (Figure 4.7 B-D). Of interest, the combination of VSV-gp33 and a single dose of anti-IFNAR antibody was comparable to VSV-gp33 + continual anti-PD-L1 administration (Figure 4.7 B-D). Finally, the addition of anti-PD-L1 to VSV-gp33 + anti-IFNAR treatment did not improve therapeutic outcomes further (Figure 4.7 B–D). These data suggest that IFNAR blockade has comparable therapeutic efficacy to PD-L1 blockade in combination with VSV-gp33.



Figure 4.7. IFNAR blockade synergizes with oncolytic VSV to improve therapeutic outcomes in tumor-bearing mice. **(A)** Schematic representation of the treatment regimen used. 10^5 B16F10-gp33 cells were implanted intradermally in C57Bl/6 mice. Mice were treated with 1mg anti-IFNAR and/or 250µg of anti-PD-L1 (checkpoint) antibody by i.p. followed by i.v. injection of 2 x 10^8 pfu of VSV Δ 51-gp33 2 hours later. Tumor volumes were

monitored every 2-3 days until endpoint (1000 mm³). (**B**) tumor volumes graphed for each mouse over time. (**C**) Average tumor volumes over time. (**D**) Kaplan-Meier survival curves.

4.3 Discussion

Oncolytic viruses (OVs) have gained traction as a potent cancer immunotherapy in the past decade. The presence of an actively replicating virus in the TME can cause substantial upregulation of IFN-I production; however, the role of IFN-I signaling in immunotherapy has become a topic of controversy. In this study, we show that IFNAR blockade is an effective therapeutic strategy when combined with oncolytic VSV. Efficacy of this combination in tumor-bearing mice is comparable to that of PD-L1 blockade and oncolytic VSV. Furthermore, addition of PD-L1 blockade does not improve therapeutic efficacy any further. This observation suggests that the efficacy of IFNAR blockade could be dependent on inhibition of PD-L1 upregulation. Furthermore, we use IFNAR knockout cells in vitro to show that OV-mediated upregulation of PD-L1 is highly dependent on IFN-I signaling. Interestingly, this observation is consistent in vivo, where a variety of other factors can be involved in the expression of PD-L1. Namely, IFNy is a key player for cancer immunotherapy, and is known as a potent inducer of PD-L1^{21,22}. In the context of OV therapy, however, IFN α/β is induced as early as 5 hours after OV treatment ¹⁵, while IFN γ is detected in circulation a few days post-infection. Our data suggest that early induction of PD-L1 expression in the TME following OV therapy is at least partially dependent on IFN-I signaling. Our results match similar findings which show that sustained IFN-I and IFN-II confer resistance to immunotherapy and induce expression of inhibitory ligands³⁵.

However, they demonstrate that IFN-mediated resistance is only partially dependent on PD-L1 upregulation, and that upregulation of other inhibitory ligands including galectin 9, HVEM and MHCII contribute to IFN-mediated resistance ³⁵. This observation means that IFNAR blockade could potentially function as a multimodal inhibitor of several immune checkpoints.

Expression of PD-L1 in the TME is not restricted to cancer cells. Indeed, studies have demonstrated that PD-L1 knockout tumor models can still benefit from anti-PD-L1 therapy ^{36,37}. Furthermore, expression of PD-L1 on immune cells can also suppress antitumor immune responses. Indeed, one study by Diskin and colleagues demonstrated that PD-L1 expression on T cells can promote tumor tolerance and suppression of effector T cells ³⁰. Expression of PD-L1 on antigen-presenting cells can also attenuate tumor antigen presentation and priming CD8 T cells ^{37–39}. In this study we show that OV-mediated PD-L1 expression on T cells, B cells and monocytes is partially dependent on IFN-I signaling. We also demonstrated that IFNAR blockade can promote the generation of T_{EM} cells and enhance IFNy production from tumor-specific T cells in manner similar to PD-L1 blockade. This finding suggests that blocking IFN-I signaling promotes priming of tumor-specific T cells, however the relevance of inhibiting PD-L1 expression on other immune cells has yet to be determined. Interestingly, the dependance of PD-L1 expression on IFN-I signaling varies by cell type. While OV-mediated PD-L1 expression on T cells, B cells and monocytes is partially dependent on IFN-I signaling, PD-L1 upregulation on macrophages is IFN-I-independent. Furthermore, IFNAR blockade caused an upregulation of PD-L1 on circulating neutrophils, suggesting that IFN-I signaling negatively regulates PD-L1

expression on neutrophils. While we demonstrate that IFNAR blockade can enhance antitumor T cell activity, it has been well established that IFN-I signaling is important for promoting effector functions in CD8 T cells ^{31,32}. Interestingly, existing reports have demonstrated that specifically prolonged IFN-I signaling is detrimental to antitumor immunity ³⁵. Another study shows that IFN-I can still confer therapeutic benefit when combined with PD-L1 blockade to counteract the IFN-mediated upregulation of PD-L1 ⁴⁰. Future studies should continue to focus on the kinetics of IFN-I signaling in the TME to establish the effects of acute vs sustained signaling on resistance to immunotherapy.

Finally, IFNAR blockade as a therapeutic strategy has unique implications for OV therapy. Several OVs induce expression of PD-L1 in the tumor, and so OVs are often combined with anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapy to improve therapeutic outcomes ^{41–44}. Our study demonstrates that IFNAR blockade can prevent the onset of IFN-mediated PD-L1 expression and synergize with oncolytic VSV in a similar manner to PD-L1 blockade. Unlike anti-PD-L1 therapy, however, IFNAR blockade has the added benefit of potentially enhancing OV replication in the TME. Indeed, several groups have shown that inhibition of IFN-I signaling can enhance OV replication and promote therapeutic efficacy in several OV platforms ^{17,18,45}. Furthermore, OVs can function as effective vectors for transgenes, including pro-inflammatory chemokines and tumor antigens that can further boost the generation of a robust antitumor response. Promoting OV replication by inhibiting IFN-I signaling will, in turn, increase the production of encoded transgenes. Therefore, our development of an IFNAR blockade strategy has broad clinical implications for the future of OV therapy.

4.4 Materials and Methods

Cell Lines

MC38 cells (ATCC) were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's media (DMEM) supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS, ATCC 30-2020) 2 mmol/l Lglutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin (Gibco). B16F10 (ATCC) and B16-gp33 cells (B16F10 cells stably transfected with a minigene corresponding to the gp33 peptide) were maintained in minimum essential medium with Earle's salts (MEM-Earle's) supplemented with 1x MEM vitamin solution (ThermoFisher Scientific, 11120052), 10% FBS, 2 mmol/l L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin. MC38 and B16F10 IFNAR knockouts were obtained from the lab of Dr. John Bell (OHRI, Ottawa, ON) and cultured under the same conditions as their respective wild-type cell lines.

Virus propagation

VSV Δ 51 is an oncolytic attenuated variant of the VSV Indiana strain. VSV was propagated, purified and quantified on Vero cells as described previously [48]. Briefly, virus stocks were purified from cell culture supernatants by filtration through a 0.22 µm Steritop filter (Millipore) and centrifugation at 30,000 × g before resuspension in PBS. The VacV used in this study is the wild-type Copenhagen strain and was produced in HeLa cells and quantified in U2OS cells. For VacV purification, virus was collected by repeated freeze-thaw cycles. Further purification was done by centrifugation at 20,700 × g through a 36% sucrose cushion before resuspension in 1 mM Tris, pH 9.

In vivo experiments

Mice were maintained at the McMaster University Central Animal Facility and all the procedures were performed in full compliance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care and approved by the Animal Research Ethics Board of McMaster University. MC38 tumors: 2 x 10⁵ cells were implanted subcutaneously into the left flank of 6–8-week-old female C57/B16 mice (Charles River Laboratories, Wilmington, MA). B16F10 tumors: 1 x 10^5 cells were implanted intradermally into C57Bl6 mice. Mice were treated when 7 days post B16F10 tumor challenge or 10 das post MC38 tumor challenge. 1mg of aIFNAR (InVivoMab, clone MAR1-5A3) and/or 250µg of aPD-L1 (InVivoMab, clone 10F.9G2) antibodies were administered by i.p. injection. Experimental groups receiving α PD-L1 followed a dosing schedule of 250µg treatments every 3 days for a total of 8 doses. 2 hours after α PD-L1 and/or α IFNAR treatment, 2 x 10⁸ pfu of VSV Δ 51 was administered via tail vein injection. ~150 µl of blood was collected via retro-orbital bleed 1- and 7-days following treatment for immune analysis (described in another section). Tumor volumes were monitored and measured every 2-3 days until they reached their endpoint volume (1000 mm^3).

Immune analysis and flow cytometry

Following blood collection, red blood cells were lysed with ACK buffer and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were transferred to a round-bottom 96-well plate. For *in vitro* cell lines, confluent cells were treated with TrypLE Express Enzyme (ThermoFischer Scientific), resuspended in PBS then transferred to a round-bottom 96well plate. The cell suspensions were stained with fixable viability stain 510 (BD Biosciences) for 30 min at room temperature then treated with anti-CD16/CD32 (Fc block; BD Biosciences) for 15 min at 4 degrees. Cell surface staining was done for 30 min at 4 degrees. Intracellular staining was done using cytofix/cytoperm Fixation/Permeabilization kit (BD Biosciences). For analysis of gp33-specific T cells, PBMCs were treated with 1μ g/ml of gp33 peptide and incubated for 1 hour at 37 degrees, 5% CO₂ followed by treatment with a protein transfer inhibitor (GolgiPlug, BD Biosciences) and incubated for another 3.5 hours. The cells were then stained as described above. Data acquisition was done on the LSRFortessa (BD) and data were analyzed using FlowJo.

RT-PCR

RNA extraction was performed using RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. 500 ng of purified RNA was reverse transcribed using iScript gDNA Clear cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad). Real-time PCR reactions were performed with Ssofast EvaGreen kit (Bio-Rad) and data were acquired on a 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems). Relative mRNA expression was normalized to GAPDH and fold induction was calculated relative to the untreated/uninfected controls using the Pfaffl method [49]. Primer sequences are as follows:

PD-L1 F: CAGCAACTTCAGGGGGGAGAG

PD-L1 R: TTTGCGGTATGGGGGCATTGA

IFIT1 F: GCC TAT CGC CAA GAT TTA GAT GA

IFIT1 R: TTC TGG ATT TAA CCG GAC AGC

IFN-α F: CGGAATTCTCTCCTGCCTGAAGGAC

IFN-α R: AAGGGTACCACAGTGATCCTGTGGAA

IFN-β F: AGC TCC AAG AAA GGA CGA ACA
IFN-\beta R: GCC CTG TAG GTG AGG TTG AT GAPDH F: AATGGATTTGGACGCATTGGT GAPDH R: TTTGCACTGGTACGTGTTGAT

Immunohistochemistry

Tumors were harvested and flash frozen in liquid nitrogen. Frozen tissue sections were cut at 5 μ m onto coated slides. Sections were air dried overnight and then fixed in 10% NBF for 5 min before being treated with 1% H₂O₂ in dH₂O for 15min at room temperature. Slides were then wash in dH₂O to remove excess H₂O₂. Slides were rinsed in Bond Wash (Leica) and placed on the Leica Bond Automated stainer. The slides were stained with Rat primary PDL-1 (EBio 13-5982-52) 1:500 in Animal Free Diluent (Vector Labs SP-5035). The BOND Polymer Refine Red Detection kit (Leica) was used according to the manufacturer's protocol. The slides were then digitized according to a previously described protocol [50].

ELISA

Supernatants from cells were collected 8-, 16- and 24-hours post-infection and treated with a protease inhibitor cocktail (ThermoFisher Scientific) and centrifugated for 10 min at 4 degrees. Supernatants were transferred to a new tube and either frozen at -80 degrees or used immediately for ELISA. Verikine mouse IFN beta ELISA kit (PBL Assay Science) and Verikine mouse IFN alpha ELISA kit (PBL Assay Science) were used for data acquisition according to the manufacturer's protocol. Levels of secreted cytokines (pg/mL) were interpolated from experimental standard curves.

Statistical Analysis

Results are presented as means \pm standard deviation. Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) tests were used to analyze the statistical significance between treatment groups for Kaplan– Meier survival graphs. Ordinary one-way ANOVA was used to determine the statistical significance between means of treated groups according to the normality of their distributions. In all cases the null hypothesis was rejected when *p* values < 0.05. All statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 9.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded by the Terry Fox Research Institute (project #1073). Nader El-Sayes was the recipient of the Ontario Graduate Scholarship. The authors would like to acknowledge the histology facility at McMaster University for processing samples for histology.

Author contributions

Conceptualization, N.E., S.W., K.M.; Methodology, N.E., S.W., K.A., Y.W., K.M.; Investigation, N.E., S.W., A.V., A.R.; Writing, N.E.; Review/editing, N.E., S.W., Y.W., K.M.; Funding acquisition, K.M.; Resources, Y.W., K.M.; Supervision, K.M., S.W., Y.W.

4.5 Supplementary Figures



Figure S4.1. GFP and YFP expression following VSV Δ 51 and VacV infection. B16F10 cells were infected with VSV-GFP (VSV) or VacV-YFP (VacV) at MOI 1 for 24 hours then imaged using a fluorescence microscope.



Figure S4.2. VSV-induced PD-L1 upregulation in MC38 cells. MC38 cells were infected with VSVΔ51 for 2, 4, 6 and 8 hours before RNA was harvested and used to assess PD-L1 mRNA expression via RT-PCR.



Figure S4.3. Type I IFN induces IFIT1 upregulation. **(A)** MC38 and **(B)** B16F10 parental and IFNAR knockout cells and were treated with 100 U/mL of IFN α or IFN β . RNA was harvested and used to assess mRNA expression of IFIT1 via RT-PCR.



Figure S4.4. Validation of VSV initiation of replication. (A) MC38 and B16F10 parental and IFNAR knockout cells were infected with VSV Δ 51-GFP at MOI 1 for 8, 16 and 24 hours then imaged using a fluorescence microscope. B16F10 parental and IFNAR

knockout cells were infected with VSV Δ 51-GFP at MOI 1 for 24 hours then GFP fluorescence was measured by flow cytometry. **(B)** Representative histogram and **(C)** MFIs of GFP expression in B16F10 parental and IFNAR ko cells 24 hours post infection. **(D)** MC38 parental/IFNAR ko cells were infected with VSV Δ 51-GFP at MOI 1 for 24 hours then viability was measured by flow cytometry.



Figure S4.5. Gating strategy used to characterize different leukocytes from PBMCs to as-

sess PD-L1 surface expression (corresponds to data from Figure 5).



Figure S4.6. Gating strategy used to characterize T cells from PBMCs (corresponds to data from Figure 6).

166 | P a g e

References

- Bourgeois-Daigneault, M.-C., Roy, D.G., Aitken, A.S., El Sayes, N., Martin, N.T., Varette, O., Falls, T., St-Germain, L.E., Pelin, A., Lichty, B.D., et al. (2018). Neoadjuvant oncolytic virotherapy before surgery sensitizes triple-negative breast cancer to immune checkpoint therapy. Science Translational Medicine *10*, eaao1641.
- Workenhe, S.T., Nguyen, A., Bakhshinyan, D., Wei, J., Hare, D.N., MacNeill, K.L., Wan, Y., Oberst, A., Bramson, J.L., Nasir, J.A., et al. (2020). De novo necroptosis creates an inflammatory environment mediating tumor susceptibility to immune checkpoint inhibitors. Communications Biology 3.
- Sun, L., Funchain, P., Song, J.M., Rayman, P., Tannenbaum, C., Ko, J., Mcnamara, M., Marcela Diaz-Montero, C., and Gastman, B. (2018). Talimogene Laherparepvec combined with anti-PD-1 based immunotherapy for unresectable stage III-IV melanoma: A case series. Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer 6.
- 4. Musella, M., Manic, G., De Maria, R., Vitale, I., and Sistigu, A. (2017). Type-I-interferons in infection and cancer: Unanticipated dynamics with therapeutic implications. OncoImmunology *6*.
- Sivinski, C.L., Lindner, D.J., Borden, E.C., and Tempero, M.A. (1995). Modulation of tumor-associated antigen expression on human pancreatic and prostate carcinoma cells in vitro by α- and γ-interferons. Journal of Immunotherapy 18, 156–165.
- Blaauboer, A., Sideras, K., van Eijck, C.H.J., and Hofland, L.J. (2021). Type I interferons in pancreatic cancer and development of new therapeutic approaches. Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology 159, 103204.

- Y, L., H, T., J, G., X, Q., Z, Y., Z, R., Z, S., Y, B., L, X., H, X., et al. (2018). Targeting IFNα to tumor by anti-PD-L1 creates feedforward antitumor responses to overcome checkpoint blockade resistance. Nature communications 9.
- Van Den Hoogen, L.L., Van Roon, J.A.G., Mertens, J.S., Wienke, J., Lopes, A.P., De Jager, W., Rossato, M., Pandit, A., Wichers, C.G.K., Van Wijk, F., et al. (2018). Galectin-9 is an easy to measure biomarker for the interferon signature in systemic lupus erythematosus and antiphospholipid syndrome. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases 77, 1810–1814.
- Yang, R., Sun, L., Li, C.F., Wang, Y.H., Yao, J., Li, H., Yan, M., Chang, W.C., Hsu, J.M., Cha, J.H., et al. (2021). Galectin-9 interacts with PD-1 and TIM-3 to regulate T cell death and is a target for cancer immunotherapy. Nature Communications *12*, 1–17.
- Xiao, W., Klement, J.D., Lu, C., Ibrahim, M.L., and Liu, K. (2018). IFNAR1 Controls Autocrine Type I IFN Regulation of PD-L1 Expression in Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. The Journal of Immunology 201, 264–277.
- Morimoto, Y., Kishida, T., Kotani, S. ichiro, Takayama, K., and Mazda, O. (2018). Interferon-β signal may up-regulate PD-L1 expression through IRF9-dependent and independent pathways in lung cancer cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 507, 330–336.
- Bazhin, A. V., von Ahn, K., Fritz, J., Werner, J., and Karakhanova, S. (2018). Interferon-α Up-Regulates the Expression of PD-L1 Molecules on Immune Cells Through STAT3 and p38 Signaling. Frontiers in immunology 9, 2129.

- Jacquelot, N., Yamazaki, T., Roberti, M.P., Duong, C.P.M., Andrews, M.C., Verlingue, L., Ferrere, G., Becharef, S., Vétizou, M., Daillère, R., et al. (2019). Sustained Type I interferon signaling as a mechanism of resistance to PD-1 blockade. Cell Research 29, 846–861.
- 14. Benci, J.L., Xu, B., Qiu, Y., Maity, A., Wherry, E.J., Minn Correspondence, A.J., Wu, T.J., Dada, H., Twyman-Saint Victor, C., Cucolo, L., et al. (2016). Tumor Interferon Signaling Regulates a Multigenic Resistance Program to Immune Checkpoint Blockade Article Tumor Interferon Signaling Regulates a Multigenic Resistance Program to Immune Checkpoint Blockade. Cell *167*.
- SR, W., D, B., L, C., A, N., CJ, S., C, L., D, S., JL, B., JC, B., and Y, W. (2019).
 Type I IFN blockade uncouples immunotherapy-induced antitumor immunity and autoimmune toxicity. The Journal of clinical investigation *129*, 518–530.
- Ebrahimi, S., Ghorbani, E., Khazaei, M., Avan, A., Ryzhikov, M., Azadmanesh, K., and Hassanian, S.M. (2017). Interferon-Mediated Tumor Resistance to Oncolytic Virotherapy. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry *118*, 1994–1999.
- Selman, M., Ou, P., Rousso, C., Bergeron, A., Krishnan, R., Pikor, L., Chen, A., Keller, B.A., Ilkow, C., Bell, J.C., et al. (2018). Dimethyl fumarate potentiates oncolytic virotherapy through NF-B inhibition. Science Translational Medicine 10.
- Dornan, M.H., Krishnan, R., Macklin, A.M., Selman, M., el Sayes, N., Son, H.H., Davis, C., Chen, A., Keillor, K., Le, P.J., et al. (2016). First-in-class small molecule potentiators of cancer virotherapy. Scientific Reports *6*, 26786.

- Kleinovink, J.W., Marijt, K.A., Schoonderwoerd, M.J.A., Hall, T. van, Ossendorp,
 F., and Fransen, M.F. (2017). PD-L1 expression on malignant cells is no prerequisite
 for checkpoint therapy. Oncoimmunology 6.
- RS, N., SE, C., and KL, M. (2006). Identification of a novel pathway essential for the immediate-early, interferon-independent antiviral response to enveloped virions. Journal of virology 80, 226–235.
- ML, C., JLE, H., L, M., J, C., RS, D.S., P, L., A, C. de B., FMM, P., A, O. de B., A, C., et al. (2018). PDL1 is expressed in the islets of people with type 1 diabetes and is up-regulated by interferons-α and-γ via IRF1 induction. EBioMedicine *36*, 367–375.
- J, Q., C, W., B, W., J, Y., Y, W., F, L., J, X., C, Z., R, L., and Y, C. (2018). The IFNγ/PD-L1 axis between T cells and tumor microenvironment: hints for glioma anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapy. Journal of neuroinflammation 15.
- Farrukh, H., El-Sayes, N., and Mossman, K. (2021). Mechanisms of PD-L1 regulation in malignant and virus-infected cells. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 22.
- P, L., and JP, A. (2003). PD-L1 and PD-L2 are differentially regulated by Th1 and Th2 cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100, 5336–5341.
- SJ, L., BC, J., SW, L., YI, Y., SI, S., YM, P., S, O., JG, S., S, Y., L, C., et al. (2006). Interferon regulatory factor-1 is prerequisite to the constitutive expression and IFNgamma-induced upregulation of B7-H1 (CD274). FEBS letters 580, 755–762.

- X, W., L, Y., F, H., Q, Z., S, L., L, M., and Z, Y. (2017). Inflammatory cytokines IL-17 and TNF-α up-regulate PD-L1 expression in human prostate and colon cancer cells. Immunology letters *184*, 7–14.
- JB, L., JB, L., YD, L., JD, D., W, C., D, V., DE, O., S, F., L, A., K, K., et al. (2019).
 Glioblastoma-Derived IL6 Induces Immunosuppressive Peripheral Myeloid Cell
 PD-L1 and Promotes Tumor Growth. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 25, 3643–3657.
- 28. Zhang, W., Liu, Y., Yan, Z., Yang, H., Sun, W., Yao, Y., Chen, Y., and Jiang, R. (2020). IL-6 promotes PD-L1 expression in monocytes and macrophages by decreasing protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type O expression in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer 8, e000285.
- Yan, H., Viswanadhapalli, S., Chupp, D., Fernandez, M., Wu, S., Wang, J., Moroney, J., Taylor, J., John, I., Rivera, C., et al. (2019). B cells produce IL-27 to upregulate PD-L1 expression and promote breast cancer development. The Journal of Immunology 202.
- B, D., S, A., MF, C., G, S., M, L., B, A., C, B., E, L., B, S., RD, S., et al. (2020). PD-L1 engagement on T cells promotes self-tolerance and suppression of neighboring macrophages and effector T cells in cancer. Nature immunology 21, 442–454.
- 31. Fuertes, M.B., Kacha, A.K., Kline, J., Woo, S.-R., Kranz, D.M., Murphy, K.M., and Gajewski, T.F. (2011). Host type I IFN signals are required for antitumor CD8+ T cell responses through CD8α+ dendritic cells. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 208, 2005.

- Huber, J.P., and Farrar, J.D. (2011). Regulation of effector and memory T-cell functions by type I interferon. Immunology *132*, 466.
- Pauken, K.E., and Wherry, E.J. (2015). Overcoming T cell exhaustion in infection and cancer. Trends Immunol 36, 265–276.
- Woods, D.M., Sodré, A.L., Villagra, A., Sarnaik, A., Sotomayor, E.M., and Weber,
 J. (2015). HDAC Inhibition Upregulates PD-1 Ligands in Melanoma and Augments
 Immunotherapy with PD-1 Blockade. Cancer Immunology Research 3, 1375–1385.
- Benci, J.L., Xu, B., Qiu, Y., Wu, T.J., Dada, H., Twyman-Saint Victor, C., Cucolo, L., Lee, D.S.M., Pauken, K.E., Huang, A.C., et al. (2016). Tumor Interferon Signaling Regulates a Multigenic Resistance Program to Immune Checkpoint Blockade. Cell 167, 1540-1554.e12.
- 36. J, L., J, C., A, N., S, L., B, H., K, T., L, S., H, K., P, C., J, M., et al. (2017). Tumour and host cell PD-L1 is required to mediate suppression of anti-tumour immunity in mice. Nature communications 8.
- T, N., JP, W., MM, G., CD, A., SH, L., J, H., MJ, S., RF, G., ER, M., AJ, K., et al. (2017). Temporally Distinct PD-L1 Expression by Tumor and Host Cells Contributes to Immune Escape. Cancer immunology research *5*, 106–117.
- Y, Z., DL, H., Y, S., J, J., J, H., and E, H. (2018). Antigen-Presenting Cell-Intrinsic PD-1 Neutralizes PD-L1 in cis to Attenuate PD-1 Signaling in T Cells. Cell reports 24, 379-390.e6.
- Peng, Q., Qiu, X., Zhang, Z., Zhang, S., Zhang, Y., Liang, Y., Guo, J., Peng, H., Chen, M., Fu, Y.-X., et al. (2020). PD-L1 on dendritic cells attenuates T cell

activation and regulates response to immune checkpoint blockade. Nature Communications 2020 11:1 11, 1–8.

- 40. Y, L., H, T., J, G., X, Q., Z, Y., Z, R., Z, S., Y, B., L, X., H, X., et al. (2018). Targeting IFNα to tumor by anti-PD-L1 creates feedforward antitumor responses to overcome checkpoint blockade resistance. Nature communications 9.
- 41. Chen, C.-Y., Hutzen, B., Wedekind, M.F., and Cripe, T.P. (2018). Oncolytic virus and PD-1/PD-L1 blockade combination therapy. Oncolytic Virotherapy *7*, 65.
- D, Z., JM, R., S, S., A, O., Y, Y., WM, B., J, W., M, G., T, M., and JD, W. (2018).
 PD-L1 in tumor microenvironment mediates resistance to oncolytic immunotherapy.
 The Journal of clinical investigation *128*, 1413–1428.
- Z, L., R, R., P, K., ZS, G., and DL, B. (2017). Rational combination of oncolytic vaccinia virus and PD-L1 blockade works synergistically to enhance therapeutic efficacy. Nature communications 8.
- 44. Bourgeois-Daigneault, M.-C., Roy, D.G., Aitken, A.S., el Sayes, N., Martin, N.T., Varette, O., Falls, T., St-Germain, L.E., Pelin, A., Lichty, B.D., et al. (2018). Neoadjuvant oncolytic virotherapy before surgery sensitizes triple-negative breast cancer to immune checkpoint therapy. Science Translational Medicine 10, eaao1641.
- 45. MacTavish, H., Diallo, J.S., Huang, B., Stanford, M., le Boeuf, F., de Silva, N., Cox,
 J., Simmons, J.G., Guimond, T., Falls, T., et al. (2010). Enhancement of vaccinia virus based oncolysis with histone deacetylase inhibitors. PLoS One *5*, e14462.
- Stojdl, D.F., Lichty, B.D., tenOever, B.R., Paterson, J.M., Power, A.T., Knowles, S.,
 Marius, R., Reynard, J., Poliquin, L., Atkins, H., et al. (2003). VSV strains with

defects in their ability to shutdown innate immunity are potent systemic anti-cancer agents. Cancer Cell *4*, 263–275.

- 47. Pfaffl, M.W. (2001). A new mathematical model for relative quantification in realtime RT-PCR. Nucleic acids research *29*, e45.
- 48. O, M., S, N., M, V., AI, H., SD, R., S, A., MD, I., MRJ, K., and K, A. (2021). Mouse
 Models of Lung Fibrosis. Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.) 2299, 291–321.

Chapter 5 : Conclusion and Future Directions

5.1 Combination of low-dose chemotherapy and oncolytic virotherapy sensitizes MC38 tumors to immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy in a cDC1-dependant manner.

Immune checkpoint inhibitors have demonstrated tremendous promise in the clinic. In particular, solid tumors with high mutational burdens demonstrate the greatest response to ICI therapy. High mutational burden contributes to the antigenicity of tumors, as frequent mutations increase the chances of acquiring neoantigens that can break immune tolerance. For this reason, mutational burden is used as a predictive biomarker for ICI therapy [1,2]. While some patients demonstrate unprecedented long-term remission, most patients fail to respond to ICI therapy [3]. Therefore, it is imperative that we develop a better understanding of factors in the TME that influence response to ICI therapy. While antigenicity is important, initiation of an immune response against pathogens or cancers also requires sufficient adjuvanticity, characterized by the release of DAMPs and inflammatory cytokines and the activation of myeloid cells [4]. Pre-clinical research suggests that enhancing adjuvanticity by inducing ICD can enable a therapeutic response to ICI therapy [5].

Several types of cancer therapy can induce ICD. Conventional chemotherapy has been shown to induce ICD and initiate an antitumor immune response in a variety of cancers [6]. For example, Hodge and colleagues demonstrated that docetaxel induced ICD and enhanced tumor killing by cytotoxic T cells [7]. Induction of ICD promotes the activation of myeloid cells that initiate inflammation through the secretion of cytokines and chemokines [4]. Indeed, ICD can induce the maturation, activation, chemoattraction, and antigen presenting capacity of cDC1s [8].

Our lab has previously utilized combinations of chemotherapy and oncolytic HSV to induce ICD and sensitize breast adenocarcinoma to ICI therapy [9,10]. In **Chapter 3** we show that the combination of mito + oHSV can sensitize dMMR CRC to immune checkpoint therapy. We found that the combination enhances adjuvanticity in the tumor based on the increased tumor infiltration of myeloid subsets, including cDC1s. This highlights the role of adjuvanticity in enabling a response to ICI therapy and validates existing literature on the requirement of cDC1s for the initiation of antitumor immunity.

5.2 IFNAR blockade synergizes with oncolytic virotherapy to prevent virus-mediated PD-L1 expression and promote antitumor T cell activity.

The role of IFN-I signaling in cancer immunotherapy has been controversial in recent years. IFN-I is required for the activation of myeloid cells and an important component for antigen presentation by dendritic cells [11,12]. Furthermore, IFN-I signaling leads to the upregulation of MHC-I on tumor cells [13]. However, IFN-I signaling can also induce the upregulation of immunosuppressive ligands such as PD-L1 and galectin 9 on tumor cells and immune cells [14–17]. Liang and colleagues utilized this knowledge to develop a strategy in which they exploit the benefits of IFN-I signaling while simultaneously overcoming IFN-I-induced immunosuppression by arming anti-PD-L1 antibodies with IFNα [18]. However, other reports demonstrate that IFN-I-driven resistance can be independent of PD-L1 expression [19]. Even in the context of OVs, there has been debate on the benefits and drawbacks of IFN-I signaling. Perhaps counterintuitively, IFN-I can synergize with OVs to enhance antitumor immunity [20]. To this end, some OVs were designed to express IFN β , which enhanced the efficacy and safety of the OV platform [21,22]. On the other hand, temporary inhibition of IFN-I signaling using small molecule inhibitors was also shown to enhance the antitumor activity of OVs [23,24].

In **Chapter 4** we demonstrate that OV-induced expression of IFN-I potentiates resistance to OV therapy. In particular, OVs induced the expression of PD-L1 on tumor cells and immune cells in an IFN-I-dependent manner. We demonstrate that IFNAR blockade with monoclonal antibodies synergizes with OV therapy to enhance tumor-specific T cell effector functions and improve on OV-mediated tumor control. IFNAR blockade is a strategy that is particularly effective in the context of OV therapy due to its potential to enhance transgene expression while simultaneously preventing IFN-I-induced expression of immunosuppressive ligands.

5.3 Study limitations

In **Chapter 3** we demonstrate that mito + oHSV + ICI induces the infiltration of several myeloid subsets including cDC1s. We also show that the presence of cDC1s is required for therapeutic efficacy. However, we have yet to identify the role of cDC1s in driving a response to ICI therapy in this model. Furthermore, we have yet to understand how mito + oHSV + ICI impacts the biological functions of cDC1s, including their antigenpresenting capacity.

Another limitation to this study is the limited number of CRC models used. The MC38 tumor model recapitulates the microsatellite instability of mismatch repair-deficient colon adenocarcinoma [25]. However, we have yet to determine if our findings are consistent among other dMMR CRC models, and if we would observe differences in CRC models with stable microsatellites and lower mutational burden. Furthermore, we use a transplantable tumor model which fails to recapitulate the immunoediting process involved in spontaneous tumor formation. To this end, other CRC murine models can be used to supplement this study. These models include carcinogen-induced tumors and conditional (in)activation of tumor suppressor genes and oncogenes [26]. Additionally, high mortality rates in CRC patients are directly associated with the occurrence of liver metastasis. Our model of ectopic tumor transplantation does not recapitulate the metastatic potential of CRC. To address this, we could make use of orthotopic models that result in rapid formation of metastasis in the liver, lymph node and spleens [26]. This can be achieved by subserosal injection of tumor cells, or by surgical orthotopic implantation of tumor fragments [26].

In **Chapter 4** we demonstrate that OVs can induce upregulation of PD-L1 in an IFN-I-dependent manner. We also demonstrate that blocking IFNAR signaling synergizes with OV therapy in a murine melanoma model. One limitation to the study is the lack of mechanistic insight into this synergy. While the data suggest that the synergy occurs as a result of inhibiting IFN-induced expression of PD-L1, we have yet to show this definitively. This can be achieved by testing the combination of IFNAR blockade and VSV-gp33 in PD-L1 knockout tumors and/or mice.

Unlike the study performed in chapter 3, this study is performed in an orthotopic model of murine melanoma. While B16 tumors can form lung metastasis [27], we have not utilized the metastatic potential of this model. Another limitation to this study is the over-expression of gp33 in the tumors. While gp33 acts as an effective surrogate antigen for assessing tumor-specific immunity, the antigen is highly immunogenic and renders tumors susceptible to treatment. Indeed, initial tumor regression was observed in all our treatment groups, which makes it difficult to assess the synergy of therapeutic combinations.

5.4 Future directions

In **Chapter 3** I provided insight into the requirement of cDC1s for enabling a response to ICI therapy in a model of murine CRC. However, we have yet to elucidate the effects of mito + oHSV on the maturation and activation of cDC1s. In previous models, we established that mito + oHSV sensitizes tumors to ICI therapy in a necroptosis-dependent manner [28], however we have yet to characterize the role of necroptosis in potentiating cDC1 infiltration and activation. Furthermore, mito + oHSV highly induced infiltration of neutrophiles into the tumor, however we haven't characterized their phenotype or their involvement in antitumor immunity. Future studies should focus on the following three points: 1) Characterizing the role of mito + oHSV in the maturation, activation, and antigen-presenting capacity of cDC1s; 2) Investigating the phenotype and role of tumor-infiltrating neutrophils; 3) Investigating the role of necroptosis in driving the infiltration and activation of cDC1s.

Maturation and activation of cDC1s can be characterized by assessing the expression of surface markers by multi-color flow cytometry. Assessment of antigen-presentation can be done using MC38 cells expressing a surrogate antigen, such as gp33. After treatment with combinations of mito/oHSV and/or ICI, CFSE-stained p14 T cells can be adoptively transferred into the mice. Draining lymph nodes can then be processed to assess proliferation of p14 T cells as an indication of antigen presentation. Differentiation of neutrophil subsets can be done via transcriptomic analysis [29]. Necrostatin-1, an inhibitor of necroptosis, can be used to determine the requirement of necroptosis for enhancing the tumor infiltration of myeloid subsets including cDC1s. It can also be used to determine the involvement of necroptosis in promoting tumor antigen presentation in the MC38 tumor model.

Chapter 4 was focused on assessing the potential immunosuppressive properties of IFN-I in the context of OV therapy. Future studies should focus on 1) establishing the dependence of IFN-I immunosuppression on the expression of PD-L1; 2) comparing acute vs sustained IFN-I signaling in regard to resistance to immunotherapy and OV therapy. We can begin assessment of the first point by assessing the efficacy of IFNAR blockade and OV therapy in knockout tumor/mouse models. The second point can be investigated by comparing acute and sustained IFN-I signaling *in vitro* and *in vivo* to assess expression of immunosuppressive ligands and resistance to immunotherapy and OV therapy.

In the broader context of the field, the work presented in this dissertation alongside recent published findings emphasizes the role of adjuvanticity in enabling a response to immunotherapy. Future research should continue to unravel mechanisms that enable the initiation and maintenance of a robust antitumor immune response. As a result of tumor heterogeneity, the TME will vary between patients and even within an individual patient. To this end, the development of accurate biomarkers based on knowledge of the TME could aid in choosing therapeutic combinations with the highest chance of success. While mutational burden is an effective biomarker of antigenicity, biomarkers of adjuvanticity should also be incorporated to predict favorable outcomes.

5.5. Concluding remarks

The Mossman lab studied oncolytic HSV as a cancer therapy for many years. Mechanistic studies comparing oncolytic HSVs led to the discovery that immunogenic oncolysis, not replicative potential, shapes the therapeutic response to OVs [30]. Using this knowledge, the Mossman lab has specialized in the development of combinations of chemotherapy and OVs to induce ICD and initiate antitumor immunity. To build upon the existing research in the Mossman lab, I aimed to characterize immune-tumor interactions that were modulated by oncolytic viruses. I hypothesized that OVs can enable response to ICI therapy by improving tumor immunogenicity though the induction of stimulatory cytokines and chemokines. Indeed, the combination of chemotherapy and oncolytic HSV induced the expression of chemokines associated with the recruitment and activation of myeloid subsets required of initiation of antitumor immunity. However, we also show that OV-induced expression of IFN-I can potentiate resistance to therapy.

Altogether this work demonstrates that OV platforms can further sensitize antigenic tumors to ICI therapy. Furthermore, it highlights a potential role of OVs in inducing favorable inflammation that results in the tumor infiltration of myeloid subsets required for initiating antitumor immunity. This work also shows that IFNAR blockade can synergize with OV therapy to enhance the effector functions of tumor-specific T cells and control tumor progression. It also sheds light on the immunosuppressive functions of IFN-I upregulation following OV infection.

References

- TA, C.; M, Y.; E, J.; C, S.; SA, Q.; A, S.; S, P. Development of tumor mutation burden as an immunotherapy biomarker: utility for the oncology clinic. *Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology* 2019, *30*, 44–56, doi:10.1093/AN-NONC/MDY495.
- RM, S.; CH, L.; AN, S.; MD, H.; R, S.; YY, J.; DA, B.; A, Z.; EJ, J.; A, O.; et al. Tumor mutational load predicts survival after immunotherapy across multiple cancer types. *Nature genetics* 2019, *51*, 202–206, doi:10.1038/S41588-018-0312-8.
- 3. Robert, C. A decade of immune-checkpoint inhibitors in cancer therapy. *Nature Communications 2020 11:1* **2020**, *11*, 1–3, doi:10.1038/s41467-020-17670-y.
- Galluzzi, L.; Buqué, A.; Kepp, O.; Zitvogel, L.; Kroemer, G. Immunogenic cell death in cancer and infectious disease. *Nature Reviews Immunology 2016 17:2* 2016, *17*, 97–111, doi:10.1038/nri.2016.107.
- Kroemer, G.; Galluzzi, L.; Kepp, O.; Zitvogel, L. Immunogenic Cell Death in Cancer Therapy. *Annual Review of Immunology* 2013, 31, 51–72, doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100008.
- Galluzzi, L.; Buqué, A.; Kepp, O.; Zitvogel, L.; Kroemer, G. Immunological Effects of Conventional Chemotherapy and Targeted Anticancer Agents. *Cancer Cell* 2015, *28*, 690– 714, doi:10.1016/J.CCELL.2015.10.012.

- Hodge, J.W.; Garnett, C.T.; Farsaci, B.; Palena, C.; Tsang, K.Y.; Ferrone, S.; Gameiro, S.R. Chemotherapy-induced immunogenic modulation of tumor cells enhances killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes and is distinct from immunogenic cell death. *International journal of cancer* 2013, *133*, 624–636, doi:10.1002/IJC.28070.
- Lamberti, M.J.; Nigro, A.; Mentucci, F.M.; Vittar, N.B.R.; Casolaro, V.; Col, J.D. Dendritic Cells and Immunogenic Cancer Cell Death: A Combination for Improving Antitumor Immunity. *Pharmaceutics* 2020, *12*, doi:10.3390/PHARMACEUTICS12030256.
- A, V.; S, R.; N, M.; N, E.-S.; K, M.; J, V. Combined Radionuclide Therapy and Immunotherapy for Treatment of Triple Negative Breast Cancer. *International journal of molecular sciences* 2021, 22, doi:10.3390/IJMS22094843.
- ST, W.; A, N.; D, B.; J, W.; DN, H.; KL, M.; Y, W.; A, O.; JL, B.; JA, N.; et al. De novo necroptosis creates an inflammatory environment mediating tumor susceptibility to immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Communications biology* 2020, *3*, doi:10.1038/S42003-020-01362-W.
- Fuertes, M.B.; Kacha, A.K.; Kline, J.; Woo, S.-R.; Kranz, D.M.; Murphy, K.M.; Gajewski,
 T.F. Host type I IFN signals are required for antitumor CD8+ T cell responses through
 CD8α+ dendritic cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 2011, 208, 2005,
 doi:10.1084/JEM.20101159.
- Huber, J.P.; Farrar, J.D. Regulation of effector and memory T-cell functions by type I interferon. *Immunology* 2011, *132*, 466, doi:10.1111/J.1365-2567.2011.03412.X.
- Sivinski, C.L.; Lindner, D.J.; Borden, E.C.; Tempero, M.A. Modulation of tumor-associated antigen expression on human pancreatic and prostate carcinoma cells in vitro by α-

and γ-interferons. *Journal of Immunotherapy* **1995**, *18*, 156–165, doi:10.1097/00002371-199510000-00003.

- Morimoto, Y.; Kishida, T.; Kotani, S. ichiro; Takayama, K.; Mazda, O. Interferon-β signal may up-regulate PD-L1 expression through IRF9-dependent and independent pathways in lung cancer cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2018, 507, 330–336, doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.11.035.
- Xiao, W.; Klement, J.D.; Lu, C.; Ibrahim, M.L.; Liu, K. IFNAR1 Controls Autocrine Type I IFN Regulation of PD-L1 Expression in Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. *The Journal* of Immunology 2018, 201, 264–277, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1800129.
- Bazhin, A. v.; von Ahn, K.; Fritz, J.; Werner, J.; Karakhanova, S. Interferon-α Up-Regulates the Expression of PD-L1 Molecules on Immune Cells Through STAT3 and p38 Signaling. *Frontiers in immunology* 2018, *9*, 2129, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.02129.
- 17. Farrukh, H.; El-Sayes, N.; Mossman, K. Mechanisms of PD-L1 regulation in malignant and virus-infected cells. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 2021, *22*.
- 18. Y, L.; H, T.; J, G.; X, Q.; Z, Y.; Z, R.; Z, S.; Y, B.; L, X.; H, X.; et al. Targeting IFNα to tumor by anti-PD-L1 creates feedforward antitumor responses to overcome checkpoint blockade resistance. *Nature communications* **2018**, *9*, doi:10.1038/S41467-018-06890-Y.
- Benci, J.L.; Xu, B.; Qiu, Y.; Wu, T.J.; Dada, H.; Twyman-Saint Victor, C.; Cucolo, L.; Lee, D.S.M.; Pauken, K.E.; Huang, A.C.; et al. Tumor Interferon Signaling Regulates a Multigenic Resistance Program to Immune Checkpoint Blockade. *Cell* 2016, *167*, 1540-1554.e12, doi:10.1016/J.CELL.2016.11.022.

- AO, S.; J, H.; CJ, L.; R, S.; M, Y.; J, D. Combination of interferon-expressing oncolytic adenovirus with chemotherapy and radiation is highly synergistic in hamster model of pancreatic cancer. *Oncotarget* 2018, *9*, 18041–18052, doi:10.18632/ONCOTARGET.24710.
- CL, W.; V, S.; ZG, F.; P, W.; RM, D.; J, T.; T, K.; M, F.; G, B.; SM, A.; et al. Expression of IFN-beta enhances both efficacy and safety of oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus for therapy of mesothelioma. *Cancer research* 2009, *69*, 7713–7720, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1013.
- MR, P.; BA, J.; Y, J.; J, D.; S, T.; K, X.; H, W.; JE, P.; AS, D.; AK, K.; et al. Vesicular stomatitis virus expressing interferon-β is oncolytic and promotes antitumor immune responses in a syngeneic murine model of non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncotarget* 2015, *6*, 33165–33177, doi:10.18632/ONCOTARGET.5320.
- Selman, M.; Ou, P.; Rousso, C.; Bergeron, A.; Krishnan, R.; Pikor, L.; Chen, A.; Keller, B.A.; Ilkow, C.; Bell, J.C.; et al. Dimethyl fumarate potentiates oncolytic virotherapy through NF-B inhibition. *Science Translational Medicine* 2018, *10*, doi:10.1126/scitrans-lmed.aao1613.
- Dornan, M.H.; Krishnan, R.; Macklin, A.M.; Selman, M.; el Sayes, N.; Son, H.H.; Davis, C.; Chen, A.; Keillor, K.; Le, P.J.; et al. First-in-class small molecule potentiators of cancer virotherapy. *Scientific Reports* 2016, *6*, 26786.
- 25. Efremova, M.; Rieder, D.; Klepsch, V.; Charoentong, P.; Finotello, F.; Hackl, H.; Hermann-Kleiter, N.; Löwer, M.; Baier, G.; Krogsdam, A.; et al. Targeting immune checkpoints potentiates immunoediting and changes the dynamics of tumor evolution. *Nature Communications* 2018, 9, doi:10.1038/S41467-017-02424-0.

- 26. Heijstek, M.W.; Kranenburg, O.; Rinkes, I.H.M.B. Mouse Models of Colorectal Cancer and Liver Metastases. *Digestive Surgery* **2005**, *22*, 16–25, doi:10.1159/000085342.
- Kuzu, O.F.; Nguyen, F.D.; Noory, M.A.; Sharma, A. Current State of Animal (Mouse) Modeling in Melanoma Research. *Cancer Growth and Metastasis* 2015, *8*, 81, doi:10.4137/CGM.S21214.
- Workenhe, S.T.; Nguyen, A.; Bakhshinyan, D.; Wei, J.; Hare, D.N.; MacNeill, K.L.; Wan, Y.; Oberst, A.; Bramson, J.L.; Nasir, J.A.; et al. De novo necroptosis creates an inflammatory environment mediating tumor susceptibility to immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Communications Biology* 2020, *3*, doi:10.1038/s42003-020-01362-w.
- Fridlender, Z.G.; Sun, J.; Mishalian, I.; Singhal, S.; Cheng, G.; Kapoor, V.; Horng, W.; Fridlender, G.; Bayuh, R.; Worthen, G.S.; et al. Transcriptomic Analysis Comparing Tumor-Associated Neutrophils with Granulocytic Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells and Normal Neutrophils. *PLOS ONE* 2012, 7, e31524, doi:10.1371/JOUR-NAL.PONE.0031524.
- Workenhe, S.T.; Simmons, G.; Pol, J.G.; Lichty, B.D.; Halford, W.P.; Mossman, K.L. Immunogenic HSV-mediated Oncolysis Shapes the Antitumor Immune Response and Contributes to Therapeutic Efficacy. *Molecular Therapy* 2014, 22, 123–131, doi:10.1038/mt.2013.238.